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PART |

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as tBerhpany,” (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersapthe “Operating Partnership,” (3) the Company’
common stock as “Common Stock,” (4) the Company&fgred stock as “Preferred Stock,” (5) the OpegaPartnership’s common partnership interests as
“Common Units,” (6) the Operating Partnership’sfpreed partnership interests as “Preferred Unitaf &) in-service properties (excluding apartmenits) to
which the Company has title and 100.0% ownerslgiptsi as the “Wholly Owned Properties.”

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administeaed self-managed equity real estate investmaesit ¢fREIT”) that began operations through a
predecessor in 1978. We are one of the largest mvamal operators of suburban office, industrial eatdil properties in the southeastern and midwestaited
States. At December 31, 2005, we:

. wholly owned 378 in-service office, industrial aredail properties, encompassing approximately 2¢lBon rentable square feet, and 96
apartment units

. owned an interest (50.0% or less) in 69 in-servifiee and industrial properties, encompassing exiprately 7.2 million rentable square feet,
and 418 apartment units. One of these in-serviopepties is consolidated at December 31, 2005 as fatly described in Notes 1 and 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemer

. wholly owned 898 acres of undeveloped land, appnately 500 acres of which are considered core hg&dand which are suitable to develop
approximately 7.1 million rentable square feetffite, industrial and retail spac

. were developing or re-developing six wholly ownedperties of approximately 543,000 square feetwheae under construction or were
completed but had not achieved 95% stabilized caocyy

. were developing through 50.0% owned joint vente@san office property of approximately 75,000 sguaet that was completed in 2005 but
had not achieved 95% stabilized occupancy, andr{lgpartment property comprising 332 units;

. owned a 50.0% interest in a joint venture thategadoping a 156 unit apartment property (this jeiemture interest is consolidated — see Notes
1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

The Company conducts substantially all of its atiéig through, and substantially all of its inteeeis the properties are held directly or indirgdty, the
Operating Partnership. The Company is the solergépartner of the Operating Partnership. At Decengd, 2005, the Company owned 100.0% of the Rl
Units and 90.8% of the Common Units in the Opegarartnership. Limited partners (including certafificers and directors of the Company) own the rieimg
Common Units. Each Common Unit is redeemable bynthder for the cash value of one share of ComniookSor, at the Company’s option, one share of
Common Stock. Preferred Units in the Operatingrieaship were issued to the Company in connectidin the Company’s Preferred Stock offerings that
occurred in 1997 and 1998.

The Company was incorporated in Maryland in 199% Dperating Partnership was formed in North Caaailh 1994. Our executive offices are located at
3100 Smoketree Court, Suite 600, Raleigh, Northolia 27604 and our telephone number is (919) 87244We maintain offices in each of our primary
markets.

Our business is the acquisition, development ardatipn of rental real estate properties. We opestice, industrial and retail properties and apant
units. There are no material inter-segment trarmastSee Note 17 to the Consolidated Financidgk8tents for a summary of the rental income, netaijrey
income and assets for each reportable segment.
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In addition to this Annual Report, we file or fushiquarterly and current reports, proxy statemandsother information with the SEC. All documerhtatt
we file or furnish with the SEC are made availaddesoon as reasonably practicable free of chargeiocorporate website, which is http://www.highwlea@om.
The information on this website is not and shouwtlbe considered part of this Annual Report amtbisincorporated by reference in this documents T¥gbsite
is only intended to be an inactive textual refeeentou may also read and copy any document thdilever furnish at the public reference facilitiesthe SEC &
100 F. Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.G420Please call the SEC at (800) 732-0330 fohé&urinformation about the public reference fa@hti
These documents also may be accessed through @is 8Ectronic data gathering, analysis and reslisystem (“‘EDGAR”") via electronic means, includitg
SEC’s home page on the Internet (http://www.sed.govaddition, since some of our securities asteli on the New York Stock Exchange, you can ranailes
information about us at the offices of the New Y&tiock Exchange at 20 Broad Street, New York, NexkYL0005.

Customers
The following table sets forth information concemithe 20 largest customers of our Wholly OwnecpPrites as of December 31, 2005:

Percent of Total Weighted Average
Rental Annualized Annualized Remaining Lease

Customer Square Fee Rental Revenue (1 Rental Revenue (1 Term in Years

(in thousands)

Federal Governmel 1,526,04! $ 22,51¢ 5.65% 8.4
AT&T (2) 537,52¢ 10,28( 2.5¢ 3.1
PricewaterhouseCoope 297,79 7,60¢ 1.91 4.3
State of Georgi. 356,17! 6,88- 1.7z 3.8
T-Mobile USA 205,85! 4,67¢ 1.17 8.1
US Airways(3) 293,00° 3,971 1.0C 2.C
IBM 188,76: 3,76¢ 0.9t 0.3
Volvo 278,94( 3,752 0.94 3.t
Lockton Companie 145,65: 3,701 0.9¢ 9.2
Northern Telecon 246,00( 3,651 0.92 2.2
SCI Services, Inc 162,78 3,45(C 0.87 11.€
BB&T 227,75 3,127 0.7¢ 6.2
CHS Professional Servici 170,52 3,08( 0.77 1.1
Metropolitan Life Insuranc 174,94 2,65¢ 0.67 6.8
MCI (4) 127,91¢ 2,481 0.6z 1.4
Jacol's Engineering Group, In 164,41 2,26¢ 0.57 10.4
Lifepoint Corporate Service 120,11: 2,22¢ 0.5¢€ 5.€
ICON Clinical Researc 99,16: 2,152 0.54 6.4
Vanderbilt University 108,62: 2,09( 0.52 9.8
The Martin Agency 118,51¢ 2,01¢ 0.51 11.z
Total (5) 5,550,511 $ 96,36¢ 24.1% 5.8

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is rental revenusgvant plus additional rent based on the levepefating expenses) for the month of December 2005
multiplied by 12.

(2) On March 5, 2006, AT&T and BellSouth Corporatennounced their plans to merge. At December @5 2BellSouth Corporation leased 54,123 square
feet from us with $1.0 million in annualized rentatenue

(3) On September 12, 2004, US Airways, Inc. andtee entities filed voluntary petitions for reorgaaion under Chapter 11. US Airways’ plan of
reorganization under Chapter 11 was confirmed byuB Bankruptcy Court on September 16, 2005, andidf&ays completed a merger with America
West Airlines on September 27, 2005. US Airwaysiaesd two leases (both of which expire on DecembefB07), and one lease was amended to expire
one year early on December 31, 2C

(4) Verizon Communications Inc. acquired MCI, Inc. amdary 6, 200€

(5) Excludes one property recorded on our ConsitiBalance Sheet that was sold but accountedsfarfimancing under SFAS No. 66. See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemer
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Operating Strategy

Efficient, Customer Service-Oriented Organization. We provide a complete line of real estate sesvioeour customers and third parties. We believe
that our in-house development, acquisition, cossn management, leasing and property managersevitss allow us to respond to the many demandsiof
existing and potential customer base. We providecastomers with cost-effective services such dsl4o-suit construction and space modificatiorglirding
tenant improvements and expansions. In additianbteadth of our capabilities and resources previgewith market information not generally avaiabive
believe that the operating efficiencies achievedugh our fully integrated organization also prevalcompetitive advantage in setting our lease @atd pricing
other services.

Capital Recycling Program.Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitadiin markets where we believe our extensieal&nowledge gives us a
competitive advantage over other real estate dpeedcand operators. Through our capital recyclimgmmm, we generally seek to:

. selectively dispose of non-core properties in otderse the net proceeds to improve our balanaet slyereducing outstanding debt and
Preferred Stock balances, for new investmentst@rgiurposes

. engage in the development of office and induspiajects in our existing geographic markets, pritman suburban i-fill business parks; an

. acquire selective suburban office and industriapprties in our existing geographic markets atgzricelow replacement cost that offer

attractive returns

Our capital recycling activities benefit from oachl market presence and knowledge. Our divisifinet have significant real estate experiencédirt
respective markets. Based on this experience, Vievbehat we are in a better position to evalwagital recycling opportunities than many of oumgetitors.
In addition, our relationships with our customens #ghose tenants at properties for which we conthiict-party fee-based services may lead to devetoyp
projects when these tenants seek new space.

The following table summarizes the changes in sgjt@otage in our in-service Wholly Owned Propertiasng each of the three years ended
December 31, 2005:

2005 2004 2003
(rentable square feet in thousands)

Office, Industrial and Retail Properties:

Dispositions (4,640 (1,269 (3,29¢)
Contributions to Joint Venture — (1,270 (1) (29))
Developments Placed-Service 713 141 191
Redevelopment/Othe (139) (22) (221)
Acquisitions — 1,357%(1) 1,42¢
Net Change of Ir-Service Wholly Owned Properties (4,067 (1,056 (2,190

(1) Includes 1,270,000 square feet of propertie@riando, Florida acquired from MG-HIW, LLC in Mdr@004 and contributed to HIW-KC Orlando, LLC in
June 2004

Conservative and Flexible Balance SheetWe are committed to maintaining a conservative feexible balance sheet that allows us to capgitatin
favorable development and acquisition opportungigshey arise. Accordingly, we expect to meetlong-term liquidity requirements through a combioatof
any one or more of:

¢ cash flow from operating activitie

e borrowings under our new $350.0 million unsecuelving credit facility;
e theissuance of unsecured de

e theissuance of secured de



Table of Contents

¢ the issuance of equity securities by both the Comgend the Operating Partnerst

¢ the selective disposition of n-core land and other assets; i

¢ private equity capital raised from unrelated jaiahture partners that may involve the sale or dmution of our Wholly Owned Properties,
development projects or development land to joerttures formed with such partne

Geographic Diversification. We do not believe that our operations are sigaifily dependent upon any particular geographidketaf oday, including
our various joint ventures, our portfolio consigtanarily of office and industrial properties thghout the Southeast and retail and office propeiiansas
City, Missouri, including one significant mixed adéltand office property, and office properties iedDMoines, lowa (included in a joint venture).

Competition

Our properties compete for tenants with similamperies located in our markets primarily on theida$location, rent, services provided and thagtes
and condition of the facilities. We also competéhvather REITSs, financial institutions, pensiondignpartnerships, individual investors and othersnv
attempting to acquire, develop and operate pragerti

Employees
As of December 31, 2005, the Company employed 4%dops.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our equity and debt securitieolags various risks. All investors should carefudiynsider the following risk factors in conjunctiasith
the other information contained in this Annual Re@fore trading in our securities. If any of thesks actually occur, our business, operatingltgsprospects
and financial condition could be harmed.

Our performance is subject to risks associated witheal estate investment We are a real estate company that derives masirahcome from the
ownership and operation of our properties. Theeeaanumber of factors that may adversely affectrtbeme that our properties generate, including the
following:

e Economic Downturns. Downturns in the national economy, particulariythe Southeast, generally will negatively impaet iemand and rental ra
for our properties

¢ Oversupply of Space. An oversupply of space in our markets would tgpliccause rental rates and occupancies to decting&ing it more difficult
for us to lease space at attractive rental ri

¢« Competitive Properties. If our properties are not as attractive to tesdim terms of rents, services, condition or lamalias other properties that are
competitive with ours, we could lose tenants tathproperties or receive lower rental ra

* Renovation Costs. In order to maintain the quality of our propestend successfully compete against other propeviieperiodically have to spend
money to maintain, repair and renovate our prope.

e Customer Risk. Our performance depends on our ability to colteat from our customers. Our financial conditiaulcl be adversely affected by
financial difficulties experienced by a major custr, or by a number of smaller customers, includiagkruptcies, insolvencies or general downturns
in business
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¢ Reletting Costs. As leases expire, we try to either relet the egadhe existing customer or attract a new custdmeccupy the space. In either case,
we likely will incur significant costs in the progs including potentially substantial tenant immnment expense or lease incentives. In addition, if
market rents have declined since the time the explease was executed, the terms of any new kgsed likely will not be as favorable to us as the
terms of the expiring lease, thereby reducing éméal revenue earned from that spi

¢ Regulatory Costs. There are a number of government regulationfydig zoning, tax and accessibility laws that g@plthe ownership and
operation of real estate properties. Complianch extisting and newly adopted regulations may rexu$ to incur significant costs on our propert

¢ Rising Operating Costs. Costs of operating our properties, such as gatestaxes, utilities, insurance, maintenanceocdiner costs, can rise faster
than our ability to increase rental income. Whike do receive some additional rent from our tentresis based on recovering a portion of the
operating expenses, generally increased operatipgnses will negatively impact our net operatingpime from the properties. Our revenues and
expense recoveries are subject to longer termdemst may not be quickly increased sufficient tover an increase in operating costs and expe

«  Fixed Nature of Costs. Most of the costs associated with owning and ey our properties are not necessarily reduceghvadircumstances such
market factors and competition cause a reductigaritel revenues from the property. Increases ¢h §ned operating expenses, such as increased
real estate taxes or insurance costs, would regluceet income

«  Environmental Problems. Federal, state and local laws and regulatioraing to the protection of the environment may fexja current or previot
owner or operator of real property to investigatd elean up hazardous or toxic substances or petroproduct releases at the property. The clean up
can be costly. The presence of or failure to clgacontamination may adversely affect our abilityséll or lease a property or to borrow funds usi
property as collatera

e Competition . A number of other major real estate investorfwignificant capital compete with us. These coibmatinclude publicly-traded
REITs, private REITSs, private real estate investord private institutional investment funi

Future acquisitions and development properties mafail to perform in accordance with our expectationsand may require development and
renovation costs exceeding our estimatek the normal course of business, we typically eat# potential acquisitions, enter into non-bindétters of intent,
and may, at any time, enter into contracts to aecadditional properties. However, changing madeetditions, including competition from others, mdigninish
our opportunities for making attractive acquisiso®nce made, our investments may fail to perferacicordance with our expectations. In additioa, th
renovation and improvement costs we incur in briggan acquired property up to market standardsareged our estimates. We may not have the financial
resources to make suitable acquisitions or renonaton favorable terms or at all.

In addition to acquisitions, we periodically coresidieveloping and constructing properties. Risksaated with development and construction acésiti
include:

¢ the unavailability of favorable financin

e construction costs exceeding original estime

e construction and lea-up delays resulting in increased debt service esgpand construction costs; ¢

« insufficient occupancy rates and rents at a newipmleted property causing a property to be ungbliét

7
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If new developments are financed through conswadthans, there is a risk that, upon completionasfstruction, permanent financing for newly develd
properties will not be available or will be availalonly on disadvantageous terms. DevelopmentitieB\are also subject to risks relating to oubiligy to
obtain, or delays in obtaining, all necessary zgniand-use, building, occupancy and other requi@eernmental and utility company authorizations.

llliquidity of real estate investments and the taxeffect of dispositions could significantly impede ar ability to sell assets or to respond to favoralgl
or adverse changes in the performance of our propées. Because real estate investments are relativelyit our ability to promptly sell one or more
properties in our portfolio in response to changiegnomic, financial and investment conditionsristed. In addition, approximately $1.2 billion ofir real
assets (undepreciated book value) are encumbergd2idymillion in mortgage loans as of December2BD5 under which we could incur significant prepayi
penalties if such loans were paid off in connectigih the sale of the underlying real estate as&eish loans, even if assumed by a buyer rathertibing paid
off, could reduce the sale proceeds if we decidesktl such assets.

We intend to continue to sell some of our propesritiethe future. However, we cannot predict whethemwill be able to sell any property for the prare
on the terms set by us, or whether any price agrdtrms offered by a prospective purchaser woelddzeptable to us. We also cannot predict theHesfgime
needed to find a willing purchaser and to closestile of a property.

Certain of our properties have low tax bases redetth their fair value, and accordingly, the sdlsuch assets would generate significant taxahlesga
unless we sold such properties in a tax-free exgdhamnder Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue @odaother tax-free or tax-deferred transactiom.gfo
exchange to qualify for tax-deferred treatment ur@kction 1031, the net proceeds from the saleppbperty must be held by an escrow agent untiliegp
toward the purchase of real estate qualifying fingleferral. Given the competition for propertieseting our investment criteria, there could belayin
reinvesting such proceeds. Any delay in using éievestment proceeds to acquire additional incorodyzing assets would reduce our income from ojorsit

In addition, the sale of certain properties acglirethe J.C. Nichols Company merger in July 19@8il\l require us to pay corporate-level tax under
Section 1374 of the Internal Revenue Code on tlifeibwgain relating to such properties unless wkisuch properties in a tdree exchange under Section 1
of the Internal Revenue Code or another tax-fre@odeferred transaction. This tax will no longeply after we have owned the assets for 10 yearooe. As
a result, we may be limited or restricted in outiito sell any of these properties even if mag@gnt determines that such a sale would othervese the best
interests of our stockholders. Although we havewmwent plans to dispose of any properties in amaathat would require us to pay corporate-leveluiader
Section 1374, we would consider doing so if our aggament determines that a sale of a property wmeiid our best interests based on consideratian of
number of factors, including the price being oftefer the property, the operating performance efghoperty, the tax consequences of the sale dued fzictors
and circumstances surrounding the proposed sale.

Because holders of our Common Units, including soma our officers and directors, may suffer adverseéax consequences upon the sale of some of
our properties, it is possible that we may sometingemake decisions that are not in your best interestHolders of Common Units may suffer adverse tax
consequences upon our sale of certain propertieseTore, holders of Common Units, including certfi our officers and directors, may have different
objectives than our stockholders regarding the gppate pricing and timing of a property’s saleth®lugh we are the sole general partner of the @ipgra
Partnership and have the exclusive authority tioetledf our individual Wholly Owned Properties fioers and directors who hold Common Units may deek
influence us not to sell certain properties evesuith sale might be financially advantageous tokstolders or influence us to enter into tax deféerchanges
with the proceeds of such sales when such a reimesas might not otherwise be in our best interests.

The success of our joint venture activity dependspon our ability to work effectively with financially sound partners.Instead of owning properties
directly, we have in some cases invested, and matjrie to invest, as a partner or a co-venturér ame or more third parties. Under certain circtamees, this
type of investment may involve risks not otherwpsesent, including the possibility that a partnec@-venturer might become bankrupt or that a jgewem co-
venturer might have business interests or goatmsistent with ours. Also, such a partner or cotwem may take action contrary to our instructionsequests
or contrary to provisions in our joint venture agreents that could harm us, including jeopardizinggualification as a REIT.

8
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Our insurance coverage on our properties may be irdequate.We carry comprehensive insurance on all of our @riigs, including insurance for
liability, fire and flood. Insurance companies, fewer, limit coverage against certain types of Isssach as losses due to terrorist acts, namedsteimds and
toxic mold. Thus, we may not have insurance cowgragsufficient insurance coverage, against aetigies of losses and/or there may be decreagks Imits
of insurance available. Should an uninsured lossloss in excess of our insured limits occur, weld lose all or a portion of the capital we haveeisted in a
property or properties, as well as the anticipéigre revenue from the property or propertieanly of our properties were to experience a caftalsicdoss, it
could disrupt our operations, delay revenue andltréslarge expenses to repair or rebuild the prop Such events could adversely affect our ghititpay
dividends to our stockholders. Our existing properid casualty insurance policies are scheduledpoe on June 30, 2006. We are currently in tlegss of
renewing our existing property and casualty inscegpolicies through June 30, 2007.

Our use of debt to finance our operations could hava material adverse effect on our cash flow and dity to make distributions. We are subject to
risks normally associated with debt financing, sashihe insufficiency of cash flow to meet requipegment obligations, difficulty in complying wifinancial
ratios and other covenants and the inability tohesfce existing indebtedness. Increases in inteaiess on our variable rate debt would increasenarest
expense. If we fail to comply with the financiatios and other covenants under our revolving crieditity, we would likely not be able to borrowyafurther
amounts under the revolving credit facility, whimbuld adversely affect our ability to fund our ogiésns, and our lenders could accelerate outstgraiit.

Further, as of the date of this filing, the OpergtiPartnership has not yet satisfied its requiredraeder the indenture governing the outstandingsi file
timely SEC reports. Under the indenture, the notag be accelerated if the trustee or 25% of thdédrslprovide written notice of a default and suefadit
remains uncured after 60 days. If the Operatingnéeship failed to file its delinquent SEC repgotr to expiration of the 6@ay cure period after receipt of ¢
such default notice, the lender under our revolareglit facility would also have the ability to abterate amounts outstanding under the revolvinditfacility.
To date, neither the trustee nor any note-holdsrseat us any such default notice. The Operating&ahip is in compliance with all other covenanmtsler the
indenture and is current on all payments requinedeunder.

If our debt cannot be paid, refinanced or exteratadaturity or on any such acceleration, in additmour failure to repay our debt, we may not ble ¢
pay dividends to stockholders at expected level atl. Furthermore, if any refinancing is donénigther interest rates, the increased interestresgpeould
adversely affect our cash flow and ability to payidends to stockholders. Any such refinancing daalso impose tighter financial ratios and otherec@nts the
restrict our ability to take actions that couldarthise be in our stockholders’ best interest, axfunding new development activity, making oppuistic
acquisitions, repurchasing our securities or padlistributions. If we do not meet our mortgage ficiag obligations, any properties securing suclelitedness
could be foreclosed on, which would have a mateudzierse effect on our cash flow and ability to edlstributions.

We may be subject to taxation as a regular corporadn if we fail to maintain our REIT status . Our failure to qualify as a REIT would have saso
adverse consequences to our stockholders. Marheattuirements for taxation as a REIT are higbdthhical and complex and depend upon various factua
matters and circumstances that may not be totathyirwour control. For example, to qualify as a REht least 95.0% of our gross income must conm fro
certain sources that are itemized in the REIT &avsl We are also required to distribute to stodkéia at least 90.0% of our REIT taxable incomelughog
capital gains. The fact that we hold our assetsuiin the Operating Partnership and its subsidifuitiser complicates the application of the REI§uiements.
Even a technical or inadvertent mistake could jediga our REIT status. Furthermore, Congress aadRI$ might change the tax laws and regulationstlaed
courts might issue new rulings that make it mof@adilt, or impossible, for us to remain qualified a REIT. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we wdude subject
to federal income tax at regular corporate ratéso Aunless the IRS granted us relief under cegtgtutory provisions, we would remain disqualifeeda REIT
for four years following the year we first faileal qualify. If we failed to qualify as a REIT, we wld have to pay significant income taxes and wotkidrefore,
have less cash available for investments or todpagiends to stockholders. This would likely havsignificant adverse effect on the value of ouusiies. In
addition, we would no longer be required to payidénds to stockholders if we lost our REIT status.

9
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Because provisions contained in Maryland law, ourltarter and our bylaws may have an anti-takeover efct, investors may be prevented from
receiving a “control premium” for their shares. Provisions contained in our charter and bylaws els & Maryland general corporation law may hawve an
takeover effects that delay, defer or prevent adakr attempt, and thereby prevent stockholders fexeiving a “control premium” for their sharesrF
example, these provisions may defer or preventeieoffers for our Common Stock or purchases ofddigcks of our Common Stock, thus limiting the
opportunities for our stockholders to receive anpuen for their Common Stock over then-prevailingrkea prices. These provisions include the following

Ownership limit . Our charter prohibits direct, indirect or constive ownership by any person or entity of morentB8% of our outstanding capital
stock. Any attempt to own or transfer shares ofaapital stock in excess of the ownership limithwitt the consent of our Board of Directors will be
void.

Preferred Stock. Our charter authorizes our Board of Directorissaie Preferred Stock in one or more classes aestablish the preferences and
rights of any class of Preferred Stock issued. &laesions can be taken without stockholder apprdva issuance of Preferred Stock could have the
effect of delaying or preventing someone from tgkiontrol of us, even if a change in control wereur stockholde’ best interest

Staggered board. Our Board of Directors is divided into three sles. As a result, each director generally servea foreeyear term. This staggeril
of our Board may discourage offers for us or makaequisition of us more difficult, even when aquisition is in the best interest of our
stockholders

Maryland control share acquisition statute. Maryland’s control share acquisition statute &spto us, which means that persons, entitieslaterd
groups that acquire more than 20% of our commocksttay not be able to vote such excess shares gadain circumstances if such shares were
acquired in one or more transactions not approyeat keast tw-thirds of our outstanding Common Stock held byrdésiested stockholder

Maryland unsolicited takeover statute.Under Maryland law, our Board of Directors couldptivarious anttakeover provisions without the cons
of stockholders. The adoption of such measuregiatistourage offers for us or make an acquisitiomsamore difficult, even when an acquisition is
in the best interest of our stockholde

Anti -takeover protections of Operating Partnership agrement. Upon a change in control of the Company, thetéchpartnership agreement of
Operating Partnership requires certain acquiremsamtain an UPREIT structure with terms at leasiaaorable to the limited partners as are curye
in place. For instance, the acquirer would be meglio preserve the limited partner’s right to amne to hold tax-deferred partnership interests tha
are redeemable for capital stock of the acquiremé&change of control transactions involving thenpany could require the approval of two-thirds
of the limited partners of the Operating Partngrgbther than the Company). These provisions maseraachange of control transaction involving
Company more complicated and therefore might Ithetpossibility of such a transaction occurringgreif such a transaction would be in the best
interest of the Compa’s stockholders

Dilutive effect of stockholder rights plan. We have in effect a stockholder rights plan, \hgcurrently scheduled to expire on October 720
pursuant to which our existing stockholders wowdéthe ability to acquire additional Common Statk significant discount in the event a person
or group attempts to acquire us on terms of whighBoard of Directors does not approve. These sight designed to deter a hostile takeover by
increasing the takeover cost. As a result, suditsigould discourage offers for us or make an adtipm of us more difficult, even when an
acquisition is in the best interest of our stockleos. The rights plan should not interfere with argrger or other business combination the Board of
Directors approves since we may generally termitteelan at any time at nominal cc
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SEC investigation.As previously disclosed, the SEC’s Division of Brfment has issued a confidential formal ordenwéstigation in connection with
the Company’s previous restatement of its finan@allts. Even though we are cooperating fully caenot assure you that the SEC’s Division of Erdorent
will not take any action that would adversely affes.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Wholly Owned Properties

As of December 31, 2005, we owned 100.0% inteias238 in-service office, industrial and retail pesties, encompassing approximately 29.8 million
rentable square feet, and 96 apartment units. dlf@nfing table sets forth information about our Vilh@wned Properties at December 31, 2005:

Rentable Percentage of Annualized Rental Revenue (1)

Market Square Feet Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Total
Raleigh(2) 4,232,001 87.5% 15.€% 0.1% — 15.7%
Atlanta 6,806,00! 87.4 11.7 3.7 — 15.4
Kansas City 2,314,00(3) 92.2 4.2 — 9.6% 13.¢
Nashville 2,874,001 94.C 12.¢ — — 12.¢
Tampa 2,989,001 87.¢ 12.4 — — 12.4
Piedmont Triac(4) 5,589,00! 93.1 6.¢ 3.7 — 10.€
Richmond 1,955,00! 94.4 8.3 — — 8.3
Memphis 1,197,00! 88.¢ 4.2 — — 4.
Greenville 1,105,001 73.C 3.3 0.1 — 34
Orlando 218,00( 100.C 1.2 — — 1.2
Columbia 426,00( 59.C 1.C — — 1.C
Other 100,00( 56.2 0.3 — e 0.3
Total (5) 29,805,00 89.1% 82.8% 7.6% 9.€% 100.0%

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is rental revenusgpant plus additional rent based on the levepefating expenses) for the month of December 2005
multiplied by 12.

(2) Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, Cary antbbumetropolitan are

(3) Excludes basement space in the Country Club Plasepy of 430,000 square fe

(4) Piedmont Triad market encompasses the Greensbdré/arstor-Salem metropolitan are

(5) Excludes one property recorded on our Cons@itiBalance Sheet that was sold but accountedsfarfimancing under SFAS No. 66. See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemer
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The following table sets forth information about ®holly Owned Properties and our development priigeas of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31, 200! December 31, 200
Percent Percent
Rentable Leased/ Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec Square Feet Pre-Leasec
In-Service:
Office (1) 21,412,000 87.5% 24,628,00 82.71%
Industrial 6,977,001 92.4 7,829,001 90.2
Retail (2) 1,416,001 97.t 1,409,00i 97.2
Total or Weighted Average 29,805,00! 89.1% 33,866,00 85.(%
Development:
Completec—Not Stabilized (3)
Industrial — — 353,00( 100.(%
Retail 9,60( 87.(% — —
Total or Weighted Average 9,60( 87.(% 353,00( 100.(%
In Process (4)
Office (1) 533,00( 37.2% 358,00( 100.(%
Retail — — 9,60( 44.C
Total or Weighted Average 533,00( 37.2% 367,60( 98.5%
Total:
Office (1) 21,945,00! 24,986,00
Industrial 6,977,00! 8,182,001
Retail (2) 1,425,601 1,418,60!
Total or Weighted Average (4) (5, 30,347,601 34,586,60

(1) Substantially all of our office properties are ltezhin suburban market

(2) Excludes basement space in the Country Club Plaxzepty of 430,000 square fe

(3) Not stabilized is defined as less than 95.0% o@xlipr less than a year from completi

(4) Excludes a 156-unit multi-family residentiavééopment that is 50.0% owned and which is conatdid (see Notes 1 and 2 to the Consolidated Fialanci
Statements). This development commenced in latd.:

(5) Excludes properties recorded on our ConsoldiBance Sheet that were sold but accounted fiinascings under SFAS No. 66. See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statemer

Development Land

We wholly owned 898 acres of development land d&3emfember 31, 2005. We estimate that we can dewgippximately 7.1 million square feet of
office, industrial and retail space on the appratiely 500 acres that we consider core long terrdihgs$ for our future development needs. Our devakmt
land is zoned and available for office, industaatetail development, and nearly all of the lamd htility infrastructure in place. We believe tbat
commercially zoned and unencumbered land in exjdiirsiness parks gives us a development advant@g@ther commercial real estate development
companies in many of our markets. Any future depelent, however, is dependent on the demand farepfiindustrial or retail space in the area, thelalvidity
of favorable financing and other factors, and reuesnce can be given that any construction wik fallace on the development land. In addition, ifstouction i
undertaken on the development land, we will beestttip the risks associated with construction #esy including the risks that occupancy rates @emds at a
newly completed property may not be sufficient takenthe property profitable, construction costs megeed original estimates and construction argble@
may not be completed on schedule, resulting iremsed debt service expense and construction exphiesmay also develop properties other than office,
industrial and retail on certain parcels with uated joint venture partners. We consider approxigat00 acres of our development land at Decembe2@05
to be non-core assets because this land is nossegefor our foreseeable future development naddsare actively working to dispose of such norecor
development land through sales to other partie®piributions to joint ventures.
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Other Properties

As of December 31, 2005, we owned an interest ¢6@0less) in 69 in-service office and industriedgerties. We also hold a 20.0% interest in a joint
venture that owns an office property located in Parklorida; this joint venture is consolidated assult of our continuing involvement with the peofy. These
properties encompass approximately 7.2 millionablet square feet and 418 apartment units. Thewolptable sets forth information about the stabii in-
service joint venture properties at December 30520

Percentage of Annualized Rental Revenue (1)

Rentable
Market Square Fee Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Multi -Family Total
Des Moines 2,315,00(2) 93.1%(3)  30.1% 4.2% 1.0% 3.1% 38.5%
Orlando 1,685,001 92.4 26.C — — — 26.C
Atlanta 835,00( 93.1 11.1 — — — 11.1
Kansas City 713,00( 83.t 8.€ — — — 8.€
Richmond 413,00( 100.( 5.C — — — 5.C
Piedmont Triac(4) 364,00( 100.( 3.8 — — — 3.8
Raleigh(5) 455,00!( 99.¢ 3.6 — — — 3.6
Tampa(6) 205,00( 100.( 2.C — — — 2.C
Charlotte 148,00( 100.( 0.8 — — — 0.8
Other 110,00( 100.¢ 0.5 — — — 0.5
Total 7,243,001 93.6% 91.6% 4.3% 1.C% 3.1% 100.(%

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is rental revenusgbant plus additional rent based on the levepefating expenses) for the month of December 2005
multiplied by 12.

(2) Excludes Des Moin¢ apartment units

(3) Excludes Des Moin¢ apartment occupancy percentage of 92.

(4) Piedmont Triad market encompasses the Greensbdré/arstor-Salem metropolitan are

(5) Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, Cary antbbumetropolitan are

(6) We own a 20.0% interest in this joint venture, vhi consolidated (see Notes 1 and 3 to the Cateelil Financial Statement

In addition to the properties described above fé&3eaember 31, 2005, three joint ventures in whiehhold 50.0% interests were developing two
apartment properties totaling 488 apartment umitstead developed a 75,000 square foot office mglaihich was completed but had not yet achieveullstad
occupancy. The following table sets forth inforroatabout these properties at December 31, 2005tt®usands):

Actual or
Rentable  Anticipated Investment Estimated Estimated
% Square Total at Completion Stabilization
Property Ownership Market Feet Investment  12/31/200¢  Pre-leasinc Date Date
Sonome 50.(% Des Moine 75,000 $ 9,36/ $ 8,621 65% 2Q0¢ 2Q0¢
The Vinings at University Cent(1) 50.(% Charlotte 156 unit: 11,30( 9,32¢ — 1QO0¢€(2) 3Q0¢
Weston Lakesid 50.(% Raleigh 332 unit 33,20( 6,79t — 1Q07%(2) 1Q0¢

Total or Weighted Average 75,000 $ 53,86« $24,74( 65%(3)

(1) The Vinings at University Center is currently a@®®.owned joint venture that is consolidated (setbl@ and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statesju
(2) Estimated Completion Date is the date the lastisr@kpected to be delivere
(3) Preleasing percentage does not include r-family properties
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Lease Expirations

The following tables set forth scheduled lease ratioins for existing leases at our Wholly Ownedgerties (excluding apartment units) as of
December 31, 2005. The table includes the effdcisp early renewals exercised by tenants as oé®éer 31, 2005.

Office Properties (1):

Rentable Percentage of
Square Feet Leased
Subject to Square Footagt
Expiring Represented by
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases
2006(3) 2,938,84! 15.7%
2007 1,672,36: 8.¢
2008 2,986,97 16.C
2009 2,613,04 14.C
2010 2,327,24. 12.4
2011 1,893,15! 10.1
2012 1,170,683 .2
2013 566,23: 3.C
2014 451,00¢ 2.4
2015 585,96 3.1
Thereaftel 1,513,550 8.1
18,719,02 100.(%
Industrial Properties:
Rentable Percentage of
Square Fee Leased
Subject to Square Footagt
Expiring Represented by
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases
2006(4) 1,772,911 27.6%
2007 875,15: 13.€
2008 995,30¢ 15.4
2009 710,46! 11.C
2010 541 ,55! 8.4
2011 322,82¢ 5.C
2012 225,53¢ 3.t
2013 146,78« 2.3
2014 206,73: 3.2
2015 137,88: 2.1
Thereaftel 511,33( 7.8
6,446,48! 100.(%

Average Percent of
Annual Annualized
Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenut
Rental Revenut Per Square Represented b
Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Leases (2) Expirations Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
$ 53,08¢ $ 18.0¢ 16.(%
30,80¢ 18.4: 9.4
49,60¢ 16.61 15.C
47,62t 18.2: 14.5
44,14 18.97 13.4
33,50¢ 17.7(C 10.z
21,59¢ 18.4¢ 6.€
10,09° 17.8: 3.1
9,42¢ 20.9( 2.8
11,55¢ 19.7: 3.5
17,92: 11.8¢ 5.4
$ 329,36 $ 17.5i 100.(%
Average Percent of
Annual Annualized
Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenut
Rental Revenut Per Square Represented b
Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Leases (2) Expirations Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
$ 7,33¢ $ 4.14 23.%
5,197 5.94 16.€
4,90: 4.9¢ 16.C
4,23t 5.9¢ 13.€
1,98 3.67 6.5
1,24¢ 3.87 4.1
1,13: 5.0z 3.7
75C 5.11 24
1,04: 5.0 34
67< 4.8¢ 2.2
2,20¢ 4.31 7.2
$ 30,70¢ $ 4.7¢ 100.(%

(1) Excludes one property recorded on our ConsolidB&dnce Sheet that was sold but accounted forfiaarecing under SFAS No. 6
(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is rental revenusgbant plus additional rent based on the levepefating expenses) for the month of December 2005

multiplied by 12.

(3) Includes 170,000 square feet of leases that aeernantl-to-month basis or 0.6% of total annualized rental mexe
(4) Includes 127,000 square feet of leases that asemantl-to-month basis or 0.1% of total annualized rental menee
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Retail Properties:

Rentable Percentage of
Square Fee Leased
Subject to Square Footagt
Expiring Represented by
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases
2006(2) 119,86¢ 8.6%
2007 75,61 54
2008 129,44: 9.2
2009 177,918 12.€
2010 105,37( 7.€
2011 57,97« 4.2
2012 132,03¢ 9.5
2013 109,67 7.
2014 80,15¢ 5.8
2015 134,85¢ 9.7
Thereaftel 266,38¢ 19.2
1,389,29 100.(%
Total (3):
Rentable Percentage of
Square Feet Leased
Subject to Square Footagt
Expiring Represented by
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases
2006(4) 4,831,63: 18.1%
2007 2,623,13. 9.¢
2008 4,111,72. 15.5
2009 3,501,420 13.2
2010 2,974,16! 11.2
2011 2,273,96. 8.€
2012 1,528,20: 5.8
2013 822,69: 3.1
2014 737,89¢ 2.8
2015 858,70: 3.2
Thereaftel 2,291,27. 8.€
26,554,80 100.(%

Average Percent of
Annual Annualized
Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenut
Rental Revenut Per Square Represented b
Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Leases (1) Expirations Leases (1)
($ in thousands)
$ 2,591 $ 21.6: 6.8%
2,13( 28.17 5.€
3,744 28.92 9.8
4,87¢ 27.4C 12.7
3,57¢ 33.9¢ 9.2
1,80t 31.1: 4.7
3,90¢ 29.57 10.z
2,85¢ 26.0z 7.4
1,452 18.13 3.8
4,26¢ 31.6¢ 11.1
7,15¢ 26.8¢ 18.€
$ 38,35: $ 27.61 100.(%
Average Percent of
Annual Annualized
Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenut
Rental Revenut Per Square Represented b
Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Leases (1) Expirations Leases (1)
($ in thousands)
$ 63,01! $ 13.0¢ 15.&%
38,13: 14.5¢ 9.7
58,25¢ 14.1% 14.€
56,73¢ 16.2( 14.zZ
49,70: 16.71 12.t
36,56( 16.0¢ 9.2
26,63( 17.2¢ 6.7
13,70: 16.6¢ 34
11,92: 16.1¢€ 3.C
16,49¢ 19.21 4.1
27,28( 11.91 6.8
$ 398,42¢ $ 14.9¢ 100.(%

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is rental revenusgvant plus additional rent based on the levepefating expenses) for the month of December 2005

multiplied by 12.

(2) Includes 4,000 square feet of leases that arenoordt-to-month basis or less than 0.1% of total annualieedat revenue

(3) Excludes one property recorded on our ConsolidB&dnce Sheet that was sold but accounted forfiaarcing under SFAS No. 6
(4) Includes 301,000 square feet of leases that aeernantl-to-month basis or 0.7% of total annualized rental mexe
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time a party to a variety @fdeproceedings, claims and assessments arisihg iordinary course of our business. We regula$es
the liabilities and contingencies in connectionhwiese matters based on the latest informatioited@ For those matters where it is probable tahave
incurred or will incur a loss and the loss or ran§oss can be reasonably estimated, reservageoeded in the Consolidated Financial Statemémtsther
instances, because of the uncertainties relatbdttothe probable outcome and amount or rangessf lbreasonable estimate of liability, if any,restrbe made.

Based on the current expected outcome of any satters, none of these proceedings, claims or asgeeds is expected to have a material adverse effectir
business, financial condition and results of openst

Notwithstanding the above, as previously disclosieel SECS Division of Enforcement has issued a confideritizhal order of investigation in connecti

with the Company’s previous restatement of itsrzial results. Even though we are cooperating fully cannot assure you that the SEC'’s Division of
Enforcement will not take any action that would exbely affect us.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth information with pext to our executive officers:

Name

Edward J. Fritscl

Michael E. Harris

Terry L. Steven:

Gene H. Anderso

Michael F. Beale

Age
47

56

57

60

52

Position and Background

Director, President and Chief Executive Offic

Mr. Fritsch became our chief executive officer atydl, 2004 and our president in December 2003rRui that, Mr.
Fritsch was our chief operating officer from Jaryub®98 to July 2004 and was a vice president aakty from June
1994 to January 1998. Mr. Fritsch joined our predsor in 1982 and was a partner of that entitiieatime of our initial
public offering in June 1994. Mr. Fritsch servestioa University of North Carolina’s Board of Visif) the Board of
Trustees of St. Timott's Episcopal School and the Board of Directors efXIMCA of the Triangle

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offi

Mr. Harris became chief operating officer in JuB0Z. Prior to that, Mr. Harris was a senior vicegident and was
responsible for our operations in Tennessee, Migsidansas and Charlotte. Mr. Harris was execwiice president of
Crocker Realty Trust prior to its merger with usl@96. Before joining Crocker Realty Trust, Mr. Hauserved as senior
vice president, general counsel and chief finarafi@er of Towermarc Corporation, a privately owlreal estate
development firm. Mr. Harris is a member of the &dwy Board of Directors of SouthTrust Bank of Mdmgand Allen &
Hoshall, Inc.

Vice President and Chief Financial Offic

Prior to joining us in December 2003, Mr. Steverss wxecutive vice president, chief financial offiaad trustee for
Crown American Realty Trust, a public company. Befwining Crown American Realty Trust, Mr. Stevevas director
of financial systems development at AlliedSignat.) a large multi-national manufacturer. Mr. Stevvas also an audit
partner with Price Waterhouse for approximatelyeseyears. Mr. Stevens currently serves as truskeérman of the Aud
Committee and member of the Finance Committeerst Piotomac Realty Trust, a public compe

Director, Senior Vice President and Regional Mane

Mr. Anderson has been a senior vice president siaceombination with Anderson Properties, Inc-e@bruary 1997. Mr.
Anderson manages our Atlanta operations and ovemeeTriad operations. Mr. Anderson served asigees of
Anderson Properties, Inc. from 1978 to February7198. Anderson was past president of the Georgépter of the
National Association of Industrial and Office Prapes and is a national board member of the Natidsaociation of
Industrial and Office Propertie

Senior Vice President and Regional Mana

Mr. Beale manages our Orlando and oversees our apgrations. Prior to joining us in 2000, Mr. Resérved as vice
president of Koger Equity, Inc., where he was respie for Koger's acquisitions and developmenteulghout the
Southeast. Mr. Beale is currently the presiderthefCentral Florida Chapter of the National Asstiaiaof Industrial and
Office Properties and also serves on various cotaastfor the Mid-Florida Economic Development Cossign. Mr.
Beale is a Certified Commercial Investment MemiGzEiM).
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Name

Mack D. Pridgen IlI

W. Brian Reame

>
)

42

Age
56

Position and Background

Vice President, General Counsel and Secre

Prior to joining us in 1997, Mr. Pridgen was a partwith Smith Helms Mulliss & Moore, L.L.P. and@rto that a partne
with Arthur Andersen & Co. Mr. Pridgen is an atteyrand a certified public accounta

Senior Vice President and Regional Mana

Mr. Reames became senior vice president and relgicerzager in August 2004. Mr. Reames manages osinhle and
oversees our Memphis, Greenville and Columbia djpers Prior to that, Mr. Reames was vice presidesponsible for
the Nashville division, a position he held sinc€@9Mr. Reames was a partner and owner at Eakim&Inc., a
Nashville-based office real estate firm, from 1989 untilnterger with us in 199¢
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK, RELAT ED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Common Stock is traded on the New York Stockharge (“NYSE”) under the symbol “HIW.” The follonag table sets forth the quarterly high and
low stock prices per share reported on the NYSHEHemuarters indicated and the dividends paidspare during such quarter.

2005 2004
Quarter Ended High Low Dividend High Low Dividend
March 31 $27.8: $24.27 $ 42t $27.6¢ $25.4C $ .42t
June 3( 30.5¢ 26.1¢ 42t 26.2¢ 20.8¢ A2t
September 3 31.8¢ 28.4: 42t 25.0¢ 22.61 42t
December 3: 29.91 26.72 A28 27.9¢ 24.81 A28

On April 30, 2006, the last reported stock pricéhef Common Stock on the NYSE was $31.54 per siradehe Company had 1,537 stockholders of
record.

The Company intends to continue to pay quartesdeinds to holders of shares of Common Stock arkkerdastributions to holders of Common Units.
Future dividends and distributions will be at thecdetion of the Board of Directors and will depenmdthe actual funds from operations of the Compdsay
financial condition, capital requirements, the aardividend requirements under the REIT provisiohthe Internal Revenue Code and such other faetothe
Board of Directors deems relevant. See “Managerad@iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operations — Liquidity and Capital
Resources —Stockholder Dividends.”

During 2005, Common Stock dividends totaled $1.&0ghare, $0.05 of which represented return oftabfair income tax purposes. The minimum
dividend per share of Common Stock required forGbenpany to maintain its REIT status (excluding aaycapital gains) was $0.24 per share in 2005 and
$0.00 per share in 2004.

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Companymid issue any Common Stock that was not registeneér the Securities Act of 1933 nor did it
repurchase any Common Stock or Preferred Stock.

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and StaothBse Plan under which holders of Common Stogketect to automatically reinvest their
dividends in additional shares of Common Stock miagg make optional cash payments for additionaleshaf Common Stock. The administrator of the Dinid
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan has beendtestrby the Company to purchase Common Stocleimpien market for purposes of satisfying the
Company’s obligations thereunder. However, the Camgpmay in the future elect to satisfy such oblaat by issuing additional shares of Common Stock.

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plafi fistive employees, under which participants m@tribute up to 25.0% of their pay for the
purchase of Common Stock. Generally, at the ereholi three-month offering period, each particigaatcount balance is applied to acquire newly share:
of Common Stock at a cost that is calculated d1%%f the lower of the average closing price onNIYSE on the five consecutive days preceding trst flay
of the quarter or the five days preceding thedastof the quarter. SEC rules have prohibited o fissuing shares of Common Stock pursuant to ldreymder
our Form S-8 registration statement since the lméginof 2005 because of the delay in the filingof SEC reports. As a result, no shares were issuedg
2005 under the plan. The administrator for the jalad the Company held $638,657 in cash at Dece&ihe2005 representing the participants’ defertzds will
be used in the future to acquire newly issued shfarethe participants’ accounts in accordance withterms of the plan when such shares can bedasuer
our Form S-8 registration statement.

The section under the heading entitled “Equity Cengation Plan Information” of the Proxy Statemsrihcorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data as of Decenfiie 2005 and 2004 and for each of the three yindte period ended December 31, 2005 is derived
from the Company’s audited Consolidated Financiate®nents included elsewhere herein. The seletaeddial data as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 200
and for each of the two years in the period endecehber 31, 2002 is derived from previously isdireahcial statements. The information in the follog/table
should be read in conjunction with the Company'ditaa Consolidated Financial Statements and relatéels included herein ($ in thousands, excepsipare
data):

Year Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Rental and other revenues $ 410,70 $ 404,13: $ 430,04 $ 440,83t $ 448,44
Income from continuing operations $ 31,17: $ 24637 $ 13,000 $ 37,17¢ $ 67,21¢
(Loss)/Income from continuing operations availabldor common stockholders $ (33) $ (6,21 $ (17,84H) $ 6,32¢ $ 36,73
Net income $ 6245¢ $ 41577 $ 42,64¢ $ 80,05: $ 109,79
Net income available for common stockholder $ 3094¢ $ 10,72t $ 11,790 $ 49,200 $ 79,30«
Net income per common shar~ basic:

(Loss)/Income from continuing operatia $ (00) $ (012 $ (039 $ 01z $ 0.6¢

Net income $ 05¢ % 020 % 02z % 09z $ 1.47
Net income per common shar— diluted:

(Loss)/Income from continuing operatic $ (0.0 % 012 $ (039 % 01z $ 0.6€

Net income $ 05¢ % 020 % 02z % 09z $ 1.4€
Dividends declared per common shar $ 1.7¢  $ 1.7¢  $ 186 $ 234 % 2.31

Year Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Balance Sheet Data

Total asset $2,908,97  $3,239,65! $3,513,22. $3,745,26! $3,950,91:

Total mortgages and notes paya $1,471,61  $1,572,57. $1,718,27. $1,796,16  $1,964,31

Financing obligation $ 34,15 $ 6530¢ $ 12577 $ 12266t $ 77,68

Co-venture obligatiot $ — $ — $ — $ 4351 $ 40,48:
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and arialysconjunction with the accompanying Consolidafénancial Statements and related notes cont:
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

D I1SCLOSURE R EGARDING F ORWARD -L OOKING S TATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Annual Report maytain forward-looking statements. Such statemiectade, in particular, statements about our plans,
strategies and prospects under this section aner uhe heading “Business.” You can identify forwdwodking statements by our use of forward-looking
terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “antipate,” “estimate,” “continue” or other similar was. Although we believe that our plans, intentiand
expectations reflected in or suggested by suchdmivooking statements are reasonable, we cansoteagou that our plans, intentions or expectatwitide
achieved. When considering such forward-lookingesteents, you should keep in mind the following imgnt factors that could cause our actual resalthiffer
materially from those contained in any forward-loakstatement:

. speculative development activity by our competitarsur existing markets could result in an exocessupply of office, industrial and retail
properties relative to tenant dema

. the financial condition of our tenants could detsate;

. we may not be able to complete development, adgrisreinvestment, disposition or joint venturejpcts as quickly or on as favorable terms
as anticipatec

. we may not be able to lease or release space yuickin as favorable terms as old lea:

. increases in interest rates would increase oursiafice costs

. we may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaen obtain capital on favorable terms to fundworking capital needs and growth
initiatives or to repay or refinance outstandingtdgpon maturity

. we could lose key executive officers; &

. our southeastern and midwestern markets may auffexpected declines in economic grov

This list of risks and uncertainties, however,s$ intended to be exhaustive. You should also vetiee other cautionary statements we make in “Bagsin
— Risk Factors” set forth elsewhere in this AnnuapBrt.

Given these uncertainties, you should not placaiemdliance on forward-looking statements. We utaterno obligation to publicly release the resafts
any revisions to these forward-looking statemelmés$ thay be made to reflect any future events eunistances or to reflect the occurrence of ungatied
events.

O VERVIEW

We are a fully integrated, self-administered arfirs@anaged equity REIT that provides leasing, ma&nagnt, development, construction and other
customer-related services for our properties anthiod parties. As of December 31, 2005, we owoelad an interest in 447 in-service office, indastand
retail properties, encompassing approximately &Wllon square feet and 514 apartment units anditwservice office and retail development properties trac
not yet reached 95% stabilized occupancy aggregagproximately 85,000 square feet. As of that,datealso owned development land and other pragserti
under development as described under ITEMBUSINESS above. We are based in Raleigh, North I@arcand our properties and development landaoatéc
in Florida, Georgia, lowa, Kansas, Maryland, MissaNorth Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee amgiMa.
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Results of Operations

Approximately 83% of our rental and other reverru€005 was derived from our office properties. Assult, while we own and operate a limited number
of industrial, retail and apartment properties, operating results depend heavily on successfedlging our office properties. Furthermore, singg@axdmately
60% of our office properties are located in Flori@&orgia and North Carolina, economic growth msthstates is and will continue to be an important
determinative factor in predicting our future ogera results. Accordingly, most of the analysis aothments below focus on our office properties.

The key components affecting our rental revenwgastrare dispositions, acquisitions, new developsnglaced in service, average occupancy and rental
rates. Average occupancy generally increases dtinres of improving economic growth, as our abitiylease space outpaces vacancies that occurthpon
expirations of existing leases, while average oaoagp generally declines during times of slower @toic growth, when new vacancies tend to outpace our
ability to lease space. Asset acquisitions, digjmrs and new developments placed in service dyréopact our rental revenues and could impactauarage
occupancy, depending upon the occupancy percenfafe properties that are acquired, sold or plasexrvice. A further indicator of the predictatyilof
future revenues is the expected lease expiratiboargortfolio. As a result, in addition to seefito increase our average occupancy by leasingmivacant
space, we also must concentrate our leasing effartenewing leases on expiring space. For moegrimdtion regarding our lease expirations, see “Ghtgs —
Lease Expirations.”

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagapancy proportionally depends upon whether renéeunew leases signed are higher or lower the
rents under the previous leases. During 2005,theage rental rate per square foot on new leagasdin our Wholly Owned Properties was 2.2% lothan
the rent under the previous leases (based onIstiaig rental rates).

Our expenses primarily consist of rental properyenses, depreciation and amortization, generabhdninistrative expenses and interest expenseaRent
property expenses are expenses associated withwmarship and operation of rental properties aotlde variable expenses, such as common area maite
and utilities, and fixed expenses, such as proparys and insurance. Some of these variable egpenay be lower when our average occupancy declirrele
fixed expenses remain constant regardless of as@egupancy. Depreciation and amortization is acash expense associated with the ownership of real
property and generally remains relatively consiséacth year, unless we buy or sell assets, sinatepeeciate our properties on a straight-line bawgés a fixed
life. General and administrative expenses, nehwiunts capitalized, consist primarily of managenaamt employee salaries and other personnel casfsmmate
overhead and long-term incentive compensationrésteexpense depends upon the amount of our bargswihe weighted average interest rates on ourasheb
the amount of interest capitalized on developmeuoiepts.

We record in “equity in earnings of unconsolidadéfiliates” our proportionate share of net incoméass, adjusted for purchase accounting effe¢tsuo
unconsolidated joint ventures.

Additionally, SFAS No. 144 requires us to recordineome received from properties sold or helds@le that qualify as discontinued operations under
SFAS No. 144 separately as “income from discontinggerations.” As a result, we separately recovémaes and expenses from these qualifying proge#ie
also required by SFAS No. 144, prior period resaittsreclassified to reflect the operations folhspiperties in discontinued operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space t@astomers and to maintain the quality of our proge to successfully compete against other pragsert
Tenant improvements are the costs required to mis&the space for the specific needs of the custobease commissions are costs incurred to fiad th
customer for the space. Lease incentives are pagigo or on behalf of tenants to induce thermteeinto leases and which do not relate to custimgithe
space for the tenant’s specific needs. Buildingrowpments are recurring capital costs not relaieldustomer to maintain the buildings. As leasgse, we
either attempt to relet the space to an existirggazner or attract a new customer to occupy theespaenerally, customer renewals require lower fepsapital
expenditures than reletting to new customers. Hawewarket conditions such as supply of availaplee on the market, as well as demand for spaive, ot
only customer rental rates but also tenant imprargrosts. Leasing capital expenditures are aneortiwer the term of the lease and building improvets are
depreciated over the appropriate useful life ofabgets acquired. Both are included in depreciaimhamortization in results of operations.

Because we are a REIT, we are required under tregdktax laws to distribute at least 90.0% of R&l T taxable income, excluding capital gains, to ou
stockholders. We generally use rents received frostomers and proceeds from sales of non-core @@welnt land to fund our operating expenses, rewirri
capital expenditures and stockholder dividendsfuha property acquisitions, development activitybailding renovations, we may sell other assetsraay
incur debt from time to time. As of December 31020we had $721.1 million of secured debt outstagdind $750.5 million of unsecured debt outstandihg
debt generally consists of mortgage debt, unsealgbtisecurities and borrowings under our revolvirgglit facility. As of May 1, 2006, we had appnmsitely
$76 million of additional borrowing availability der our revolving credit facility (excluding the L0 million expansion option) and we had approxetya$8.C
million in available cash and short-term investnsent

Our revolving credit facility and the indenture goring our outstanding long-term unsecured dehirggézs require us to satisfy various operating and
financial covenants and performance ratios. Assalteto ensure that we do not violate the provisiof these debt instruments, we may from timénte be
limited in undertaking certain activities that matherwise be in the best interest of our stockhsldguch as repurchasing capital stock, acquiritttitianal
assets, increasing the total amount of our deltaveasing stockholder dividends. We review ourentrand expected operating results, financial tmmdand
planned strategic actions on an ongoing basish®ptrpose of monitoring our continued compliandé these covenants and ratios. Any unwaived eoent
default could result in an acceleration of somalbof our debt, severely restrict our ability tewur additional debt to fund short- and long-teslcneeds or
result in higher interest expense.

In May, July, August and September 2005 and Fepr2@®6, we obtained waivers from the lenders undemprevious revolving credit facility and our
previous bank term loans related to timely repgrtmthe lenders of annual and quarterly finansfatements and to covenant violations that couse drom
future redemptions of Preferred Stock due to tketassification of the Preferred Stock from equéyatliability during the period of time from thermuncement
of the redemption until the redemption is complefiutke aforementioned modifications did not chargeeconomic terms of the loans. In connection thdse
maodifications, we incurred certain loan costs tirat capitalized and amortized over the remaininggeof the loans. In November 2005, we amende&186.0
million bank term loan to extend the maturity diateuly 17, 2006 and reduce the spread over th©Rhterest rate from 130 basis points to 100 hagsists.
Both of these loans were paid off in May 2006 inmection with our closing of a new revolving crefditility.
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To generate additional capital to fund our growtld ather strategic initiatives and to lessen theenship risks typically associated with owning 136.of
a property, we may sell some of our propertiesomtribute them to joint ventures. When we cregtarg venture with a strategic partner, we usuatintribute
one or more properties that we own and/or vacamt ta a newly formed entity in which we retain aterest of 50.0% or less. In exchange for our equal
minority interest in the joint venture, we geneyatkceive cash from the partner and retain sonad of the management income relating to the priggein the
joint venture. The joint venture itself will frequidy borrow money on its own behalf to finance #wuguisition of, and/or leverage the return upoa,gtopertie:
being acquired by the joint venture or to buildaoguire additional buildings. Such borrowings gggdally on a non-recourse or limited recourse hadie
generally are not liable for the debts of our jaiahtures, except to the extent of our equity itmesit, unless we have directly guaranteed anyaifdabt. In
most cases, we and/or our strategic partners qereel to guarantee customary exceptions to noodrse liability in non-recourse loans. See Notedlthe
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfdrimation on certain debt guarantees.

We have historically also sold additional CommoocRtor Preferred Stock or issued Common Units talfadditional growth or to reduce our debt, bu
have limited those efforts since 1998 because fgedgrated from our capital recycling program iwerg years have provided sufficient funds to satisir
liquidity needs. In addition, we have recently ufsttls from our capital recycling program to redég@ammon Units and Preferred Stock for cash.
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R ESULTS OF O PERATIONS

Comparison of 2005 to 2004

The following table sets forth information regamgliour results of operations for the years endeceBer 31, 2005 and 2004 ($ in millions). As noted
above and as more fully described in Note 1 tddbesolidated Financial Statements, as requiredd#ySINo. 144, results for the year ended Decembge? @14
were reclassified from previously reported amotateflect in discontinued operations the operatifon those properties sold or held for sale inS2a@ich
qualified for discontinued operations presentation.

Year Ended December 31 t02(2)824 %
2005 2004 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $ 4105 $ 4041 $ 6.€ 1.€%
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 146.¢ 143.2 3.7 2.€
Depreciation and amortizatic 114 113.¢ 1.1 1.C
Impairment of assets held for L 7.€ — 7.€ 100.(
General and administratiy 33.1 41.5 (8.4  (20.2)
Total operating expens 302.1 298.1 4.C .3
Interest expense
Contractua 99.: 105.t (6.2 (5.9
Amortization of deferred financing cos 34 3.7 (0.3 (8.7)
Financing obligation 5.C 9.8 (4.9 (49.9
107.5 119.1 (11.9 (9.6
Other income/expense
Interest and other incon 7.1 6.1 1.C 16.4
Settlement of bankruptcy clai — 14.4 (14.49 (100.0
Loss on debt extinguishmer (0.5) (12.9) 11.€ 96.C
6.€ 8.1 (1.5) (18.5)
Income (loss) before disposition of property, mindty interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidatd
affiliates 7.t (5.0 12.8 250.C
Gains and impairments on disposition of properét, 14.2 21.€ (7.4 (34.9
Minority interest in the Operating Partners 0.1 0.€ (0.5) (83.9)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 9.2 7.4 1.6 25.7
Income from continuing operations 31.1 24.€ 6.5 26.4
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryariterest 8.1 14.2 (6.) (43.))
Gains and impairments of discontinued operatioasphminority interes 23.2 2.8 20.4 728.€
31.: 17.C 14.Z 84.C
Net income 62.£ 41.€ 20.€ 50.C
Dividends on preferred stou (27.2) (30.9) 3.7 12.C
Excess of preferred stock redemption value oveyiray value 4.3 — (4.9 (100.0
Net income available for common stockholder $ 30¢ $ 107 $ 20z 188.%%

Rental and Other Revenues

The $6.6 million increase in rental and other rexenfrom continuing operations was primarily theufeof higher average occupancy in 2005 compar
2004, revenues contributed from new developmenqati@s placed in service during the second ha0®5, and higher termination fee income in 200%se
positive increases were partially offset by a reiducin revenues from sold properties that wereatedsified as discontinued operations.

As of the date of this filing, we continue to seedast improvements in employment trends in searalir markets and an improving economic climat
the Southeast. There has been modest positivepiosoof office space in most of our markets dutting past year. Also, we expect to deliver appraxéty
920,000 square feet of new office, industrial agtadit development properties by the end of 2006¢ckwhare 38.0% pre-leased as of May 1, 2006. Wedaxpe
rental and other revenues to decrease slightlp@6 2iue to the disposition of certain propertie2d05 and 2006, partially offset by rental and ptiesenues
from the development properties placed in servigénd the second half of 2005 and those expectée telivered by the end of 2006.
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Operating Expenses

Rental and other operating expenses from continopegations (real estate taxes, utilities, insuganepairs and maintenance and other propertyecelat
expenses) increased $3.7 million in 2005 comparé04, primarily as a result of higher averagaupeacy in 2005 and general inflationary increareseitain
operating expenses, such as salaries, benefits; atists and real estate taxes. These increasespartially offset by a reduction in operatingenses from
sold properties that were not classified as disnaetl operations.

Our operating margin, defined as rental and oteeemue less rental property and other expensesssgut as a percentage of rental and other revenues,
decreased from 64.7% in 2004 to 64.3% in 2005. @étsease in margin was primarily caused by opegatkpenses increasing from inflationary pressates
higher rate than our rental revenues and operatisgrecoveries.

We expect rental and other operating expensescrease slightly in 2006 due to the dispositionetain properties in 2005 and 2006. This decreake w
be partly offset by inflationary increases in certixed operating expenses, particularly highditytcosts and by operating expenses of the degratnt
properties placed in service during the seconddfaé05 and those expected to be delivered bytigeof 2006.

Depreciation and amortization from continuing opierss increased slightly in 2005. This slight irecse primarily resulted from a relatively higher
proportion in 2005 of leasing assets (tenant imeneents and deferred leasing costs) which haveesHoreés compared to buildings which are deprediateer
40 years. This was partially offset by a reductiodepreciation and amortization from sold properthat were not classified as discontinued operstiwe
expect depreciation and amortization to decreagbtlsi in 2006 due to a further net reduction of &vholly Owned portfolio.

Impairments on assets held for use were $7.6 millic2005 compared to none in 2004. In 2005 one faarcel and one office property, which are
classified as held for use, had indicators of impant where the carrying value exceeded the symopécted undiscounted future cash flows. Accorlginge
recognized impairment losses of $7.6 million durhg year ended December 31, 2005.

The $8.4 million decrease in general and adminisra@xpenses in 2005 as compared to 2004 primiagidites to (1) $4.6 million recognized in 2004 in
connection with a retirement package for our forgteef executive officer (see Note 19 to the Coigséd Financial Statements) and (2) a $5.4 milleorease
in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily relating to sasttpersonnel, consultants and our independeritoaisish connection with (a) the initial implemetita of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 2004 e(l@luation of a strategic transaction in 2004, @)dhe preparation and audit of the restated Qateted
Financial Statements included in our 2004 Annugdd®eon Form 10K. These decreases were partialebby $1.6 million net increase primarily related
higher long-term incentive compensation costs rgaad fringe benefit costs and other costs.

In 2006, general and administrative expenses greated to increase slightly primarily from inflat@ry increases in compensation, benefits and other
costs.

Interest Expense

The $6.2 million decrease in contractual interess$ wrimarily due to a decrease in average borrafirggn $1,657 million in 2004 to $1,508 million in
2005, partially offset by an increase in weightedrage interest rates on outstanding debt from%.462004 to 6.76% in 2005. The decrease in avelabée
balances outstanding in 2005 was primarily dudéodebt reductions made during 2005 as describBdte 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. |
addition, capitalized interest in 2005 was appratily $1.9 million higher compared to 2004 duenwréased development activity and higher average
construction and development costs.

The $4.9 million decrease in interest expense memfiing obligations was primarily a result of theghase of our partner’s interest in the Orlandy Ci
Group properties in MGHW, LLC on March 2, 2004 which eliminated the ré@gment to record financing obligation interest emge with respect to the Orlar
City Group properties after that date (see Note B¢ Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Total interest expense is expected to decline 062%imarily due to the reduction in our outstamdiebt as discussed under ‘Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” In addition, an increase in capitalinéerest due to additional development activitgxpected to further decrease net interest exp@hsse
declines will be partly offset by expected incresaseaverage interest rates on our variable rabeide2006.

Other Income/Expense

In 2004, we received net proceeds of $14.4 milliera result of the settlement of the bankruptcyofldCom (See Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion on this settléjnen

Loss on debt extinguishments decreased $11.9 miilmm $12.4 million in 2004 to $0.5 million in 280In 2004, a $12.3 million loss was recorded esl
to the retirement of the Exercisable Put Optionddatescribed in Note 5 to the Consolidated FinaSt@ements. The $0.5 million of loss in 2005 tedao
certain of the loans that were paid off early i©20rom proceeds raised from disposition activities

Gains and | mpairments on Disposition of Property; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Gains net of impairments on dispositions of prdapsmot classified as discontinued operations W&re2 million in 2005 compared to $21.6 million
in 2004; the components of net gains are set oNbie 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statemen@ingand impairments are dependent on the spesifiets
sold, their historical cost basis and other factansl can vary significantly from period to periddiost of the net gains in 2005 primarily relatedwo
transactions described in Note 4 to the Consolilkteancial Statements in which we sold (1) anceffouilding in Raleigh, North Carolina to an ownegr and
(2) all of our operating properties and certainarddand in Charlotte, North Carolina and certgierating properties in Tampa, Florida. The larg@sbunt of
the net gains in 2004 primarily related to the setion described in Notes 2 and 4 to the CongelidRinancial Statements in which we contributeerapng
properties located in Orlando, Florida to HIW—KQddando, LLC.

Minority interest in the continuing operations bétOperating Partnership, after Preferred Unirithistions, decreased from $0.6 million in the yeaded
December 31, 2004 to $0.1 million in the year endedember 31, 2005 due to a corresponding deciedise Operating Partnership’s loss from continuing
operations after Preferred Unit distributions.

The $1.9 million increase in equity in earningsfiroontinuing operations of unconsolidated affilsateas primarily a result of an increase relatetthéo
formation of the HIW-KC Orlando, LLC joint ventuie late June 2004, which contributed approximagdly4 million of additional equity in earnings from
continuing operations of unconsolidated affiliare2005. In addition, the Plaza Colonnade, LLC fei@enture, which was placed in service in the foupgarter
of 2004, contributed approximately $0.3 million rado equity in earnings in 2005 compared to 2004.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimeame of $31.3 million and $17.0 million, net ofrmarity interest, as discontinued operations far th
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgcfifedse amounts pertained to 5.9 million squagedéproperty and 117 apartment units sold dug®g5
and 2004 and 1.9 million square feet of propertd ifier sale at December 31, 2005. These amounisde@ains, net of impairments, of discontinuedrapens
of $23.2 million and $2.8 million, net of minoritgterest, in the years ended December 31, 2002@04, respectively; the components of net gainsereut ir
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

Preferred Stock Dividends and Excess of Preferred Stock Redemption Costsin Excess of Carrying Value

We recorded $27.2 million and $30.9 million in Rmeéd Stock dividends in 2005 and 2004, respegtivi¢ie reduction was due to the redemption of
$130.0 million of Preferred Stock in the third gigarof 2005. In connection with the redemption oéfBrred Stock, the $4.3 million excess of the neplgon cos
over the net carrying amount of the redeemed shemsgecorded as a reduction to net income avaif@iblcommon shareholders in 2005 in accordande wit
EITF Topic D-42.
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Net Income and Net I ncome Allocable to Common Stockholders

We recorded net income of $62.4 million in 2005 paned to $41.6 million in 2004, and net incomealde to common stockholders of $30.9 million in
2005 compared to $10.7 million in 2004; these clkangsulted from the various factors described @bov

Comparison of 2004 to 2003

The following table sets forth information regamgliour results of operations for the years endeceBer 31, 2004 and 2003 ($ in millions). As noted
above and as more fully described in Note 1 tddbesolidated Financial Statements, as requiredH#ySINo. 144, results for the years ended December 3
2004 and 2003 were reclassified from previouslyregg amounts to reflect in discontinued operatihiesoperations for those properties sold or hetgséle in
2005 which qualified for discontinued operationegantation.

Year Ended 2004
December 31, to 2003 %
2004 2003 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $404.1 $430.C $ (25.9 (6.0%
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 143.2 148.2 (5.0 (3.9)
Depreciation and amortizatic 113.¢ 119.¢ (6.4) (5.9
General and administratiy 41 25.7 15.¢ 61.5
Total operating expens 298.1 293.% 4.4 1.t
Interest expense
Contractua 105.t 118.¢ (13.9 (119
Amortization of deferred financing cos 3.7 4.4 (0.7 (15.9)
Financing obligation 9.2 17.7 (7.8) (44.)

119.1 1405 (21§ (15.)

Other income/expense

Interest and other incon 6.1 5.2 0.8 15.1
Settlement of bankruptcy clai 14.4 — 14.4  100.(
Loss on debt extinguishmer (12.9) (24.%) 2.2 15.€
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior — 14.C (14.0) (100.0
8.1 4.€ 3.t 76.1
Income before disposition of property, c-venture expense, minority interest and equity in eaings of
unconsolidated affiliates (5.0) 0.C (5.0) (100.0
Gains and impairments on disposition of properét, 21.€ 9.€ 12.C 125
Cc-venture expens — (3.9 34 100.(
Minority interest in the Operating Partners 0.€ 2.C (1.4 (70.0
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 7.4 4.& 2.€ 54.2
Income from continuing operations 24.€ 13.C 11.€ 89.t
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryariterest 14.2 19.€ (5.6) (289
Gains and impairments of discontinued operatioasphminority interes 2.8 9.€ (7.0 (719
17.C 29.€ (12.6) (42.¢
Net income 41.€ 42.€ (2.0) (2.9
Dividends on preferred stou (30.9 (30.9 — —
Net income available for common stockholder $107 $117 $ (1.0 (8.49%

Rental and Other Revenues

The $25.9 million decrease in rental and othermaes from continuing operations in 2004 compare2D@@8 was primarily the result of the dispositidn o
certain properties in 2003 and 2004 that weremauded in discontinued operations and a decrefaappooximately $2.2 million in lease terminatiaes$ paid
in 2004 from 2003. Partly offsetting these decreasas an increase of approximately $1.2 millioprioperty management fees in 2004 from 2003 due to
increased efforts in our third-party managementises and the contribution of certain propertieftot ventures in 2004 where we retained the mamamnt of
the properties and received customary fees.

29



Table of Contents

Operating Expenses

Rental and other operating expenses from continopegations (real estate taxes, utilities, insuganepairs and maintenance and other propertyecelat
expenses) decreased $5.0 million in 2004 compar@0@3, primarily as a result of the dispositiorceftain properties in 2003 and 2004 that werdrmadiided ir
discontinued operations. This decrease was offsgeheral inflationary increases in certain opatxpenses, such as salaries, benefits, utilgtsand real
estate taxes.

Our operating margin, defined as rental and otieemue less rental property and other expensesssgut as a percentage of rental and other revenues,
decreased from 65.6% in 2003 to 64.7% in 2004. Gétsease in margin was primarily caused by opegatkpenses increasing from inflationary pressotke a
other factors at a higher rate than rental revenues

The $6.4 million decrease in depreciation and aimation from continuing operations is primarilyatsd to the disposition of certain properties i020
and 2004, which were not included in discontinupdrations. In addition, the contribution of certphoperties to a joint venture in 2004 reduced eeption
and amortization by $1.1 million.

The $15.8 million increase in general and admiatiste expenses in 2004 as compared to 2003 priyrratited to (1) $4.6 million recognized in 2004 in
connection with a retirement package for our forgteef executive officer, as described in Note d ¢he Consolidated Financial Statements; (2) a 8ifllgn
increase primarily related to costs of personrmisaltants and our independent auditors in conoreetith (a) the initial implementation of Sectio@44of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (b) evaluation of a strategingaction in 2004, and (c) the preparation and afithe restated Consolidated Financial Statemeriuded
in our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10K; and (3) $8iBion in higher long-term incentive compensatiosts, salary, fringe benefit and employee relonat
costs and other costs.

Interest Expense

The $13.3 million decrease in contractual intevess primarily due to a decrease in average bormgsvirom $1,821 million in 2003 to $1,657 million in
2004, primarily due to debt refinancings complateBecember 2003 and June 2004 and a decreaseragavinterest rates on outstanding debt from 6.i83%
2003 to 6.46% in 2004.

The $7.8 million decrease in interest expense memfiing obligations was primarily a result of theghase of our partner’s interest in the Orlandy Ci
Group properties in MGHW, LLC on March 2, 2004 which eliminated the r@gment to record financing obligation interest exge with respect to the Orlar
City Group properties after that date (see Note th¢ Consolidated Financial Statements).

Other Income/Expense

In 2004, we received net proceeds of $14.4 milliera result of the settlement of the bankruptcyofldCom (See Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion on this settlé¢jnen

Loss on debt extinguishments decreased $2.3 miilmn $14.7 million in 2003 to $12.4 million in 280In 2004, a $12.3 million loss was recorded &gl
to the retirement of the Exercisable Put Optionddatescribed in Note 5 to the Consolidated Fina&t&ements. In 2003, a $14.7 million loss wasrded
related to the retirement of the $125.0 milliofvdndatOry Par Put Remarketed Securities (‘MOPPR88Eribed in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In 2003, we recorded a $16.3 million gain on extisgment of co-venture obligation ($2.4 millionwaiich is included in discontinued operations as a
result of reclassifying the prior period presemtatof the operations of properties sold in 2005aurtéAS No. 144), which relates to the operationhefMG-
HIW, LLC non-Orlando City Group properties whichmgeaccounted for as a profit-sharing arrangemetitt uly 2003, at which time we acquired our partse
interest in the non-Orlando City Group propertesdescribed in Note 3 to the Consolidated FinhSt&tements.
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Gains on Disposition of Property; Co-Venture Expense; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Gains, net of impairments, on dispositions of prtps not classified as discontinued operationsev§1.6 million in 2004 compared to $9.6 million in
2003; the components of net gains are set out te Kldo the Consolidated Financial Statements. $Gaie dependent on the specific assets sold,Hiséarical
cost basis and other factors, and can vary sigmifig from period to period. Most of the net gaiim2004 primarily related to the transaction dedsediin Notes :
and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statementshictwwe contributed operating properties locate@itando, Florida to HIW-KC Orlando, LLC.

The $3.4 million decrease in co-venture expenseduago our acquisition of our partner’s interesthie non-Orlando City Group properties in July 200
and the resultant elimination of recording co-veatexpense as of that date.

Minority interest in the continuing operations bétOperating Partnership, after Preferred Unititiistions, decreased from $2.0 million in 2003 €6
million in 2004 due to a corresponding decreaghénOperating Partnership’s loss from continuingragions, after Preferred Unit distributions.

The $2.6 million increase in equity in earningsifiroontinuing operations of unconsolidated affilkateas primarily a result of (1) a gain of $1.1 roitl
recognized in 2004 by a certain joint venture eglab the disposition of land, of which our portieas $0.5 million; (2) an increase related to teniation of th
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC joint venture in 2004, whichmiwibuted approximately $1.1 million to equity iaraings from continuing operations of unconsolidate
affiliates in 2004; and (3) an increase of $0.9iomilrelated to the addition of three office prajEs in 2004 to the Highwoods-Markel AssociatesCLjbint
venture. Partially offsetting these increases wdsaease in average occupancy of buildings owgextiiain joint ventures and a land sale by oneunfoint
ventures in 2003, which resulted in a $0.4 milldecrease in equity in earnings from continuing apens of unconsolidated affiliates in 2004 as cared to
2003.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimeame of $17.0 million and $29.6 million, net ofrmarity interest, as discontinued operations fad4£0
and 2003, respectively. These amounts pertainédbtmillion square feet of property, 121 apartmarits and 122.8 acres of revenue-producing landl doting
2005, 2004 and 2003 and 1.9 million square fegraperty held for sale at December 31, 2005. Theseunts include gains, net of impairments, of diiooied
operations of $2.8 million and $9.8 million, netroinority interest, in 2004 and 2003, respectivéihe components of net gains are set out in Natetde
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net Income and Net | ncome Allocable to Common Stockholders

We recorded net income $41.6 million in 2004 coredao $42.6 million in 2003, and net income alldeab common stockholders of $10.7 million in
2004 compared to $11.8 million in 2003; these clkangsulted from the various factors described abov

L 1QuiDITY AND C APITAL R ESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dbmsis based on operating activities, investingwétoes and financing activities. The following tab
sets forth the changes in our cash flows from 20005 ($ in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 Change
Cash Provided by Operating Activiti $ 154,13 $ 172,58. $ (18,44¢)
Cash Provided by Investing Activitir 200,92¢ 48,18t¢ 152,73
Cash Used in Financing Activitie (378,329 (217,98, (160,34
Total Cash Flow: $ (23,270 $ 2,78¢ $ (26,05¢)
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In calculating cash flow from operating activiti€AAP requires us to add depreciation and amontimatvhich are non-cash expenses, back to net
income. As a result, we have historically generatstynificant positive amount of cash from opemtctivities. From period to period, cash flownfro
operations depends primarily upon changes in ouinaeme, as discussed more fully above under “RestiOperations,” changes in receivables and Ipiaga
and net additions or decreases in our overall plastfwhich affect the amount of depreciation antbaization expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesegally relates to capitalized costs incurred éasing and major building improvements and our
acquisition, development, disposition and jointtuea activity. During periods of significant netogigsition and/or development activity, our cashdusesuch
investing activities will generally exceed cashvided by investing activities, which typically casts of cash received upon the sale of propertids a
distributions of capital from our joint venturesuling 2005 and 2004, since our disposition actigitypaced our investment, development and acaprisiti
activity, we recorded positive cash flow from intireg activities in both years.

Cash used in financing activities generally relétestockholder dividends, distributions on Comninits, incurrence and repayment of debt and sales,
repurchases or redemptions of Common Stock, Contumits and Preferred Stock. As discussed previoustyyse a significant amount of our cash to fund
stockholder dividends and Common Unit distributiongether or not we incur significant new debt dgra period depends generally upon the net effemtio
acquisition, disposition, development and jointtuea activity. We use our revolving credit faciliiyr working capital purposes, which means thatrdpany
given period, in order to minimize interest expeassociated with balances outstanding under owivieng credit facility, we will likely record sigficant
repayments and borrowings under our revolving tifedility.

The decrease of $18.5 million in cash provided pgrating activities was primarily a result of tiring of receipt of revenues and payment of expgnse
and from lower cash flows from operating activitéfter adjusting net income for n@ash depreciation and amortization, gains and impits on disposition
properties, and loss on debt extinguishment.

The increase of $152.7 million in cash providedrisesting activities was primarily a result of $186nillion higher sales of non-core properties @02
compared to 2004 offset by $40.8 million in highdditions for real estate assets, largely from dewelopment projects in 2005, and by an $11.8 onilli
decrease in other investing activities which repnésd an increase in restricted cash caused bgheesarow established to un-encumber a secureénydpat
was sold.

Cash used in financing activities increased $16@lBon from 2004 to 2005. In 2005 compared to 200dt repayments on our revolving credit facility,
mortgages and notes payable increased by $98 ibmitdash paid for the repurchase of Common StadkGommon Units increased by $10.2 million, andhcas
used to redeem Preferred Stock increased $130i0miDffsetting these increased uses of cash weesluction in cash paid on financing obligatioh$62.4
million (see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financiat&mnents) and a $12.2 million reduction in cast fir debt extinguishments.

During 2006, we expect to have positive cash flés operating activities. The net cash flows frmwesting activities in 2006 are expected to be
positive based on our expected level of propertpatitions, net of cash used for development, aliget leasing and tenant improvement costs. Regitish
flows from operating and investing activities in0B0are expected to be used to pay stockholder mitlsblder distributions, scheduled debt maturitig#ncipal
amortization payments and pay-down of debt andm@tien of Preferred Stock (see Note 9 to the Cadatdd Financial Statements).

32



Table of Contents

Capitalization
The following table sets forth our capitalizationat December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 gimstinds, except per share amounts):

December 31 December 31
2005 2004

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book" $1,471611 $1,572,57.
Financing obligation $ 34,15« $ 65,30¢
Preferred Stock, at liquidation val $ 247,44¢ $ 377,44!
Common Stock and Common Units outstanc 59,47¢ 59,91
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 284t % 27.7(
Market value of Common Stock and Common U $1,692,17 $ 1,659,641
Total market capitalization with de $ 3,445,39: $ 3,674,97.

Based on our total market capitalization of apprately $3.4 billion at December 31, 2005 (at thedheber 31, 2005 per share stock price of $28.45 and
assuming the redemption for shares of Common Sibttke approximate 5.45 million Common Units in thperating Partnership not owned by the Company),
our mortgages and notes payable represented 4Z.@% ttal market capitalization. Mortgages andiesmayable at December 31, 2005 was comprised of
$721.1 million of secured indebtedness with a weidlaverage interest rate of 6.9% and $750.5 mihiibunsecured indebtedness with a weighted average
interest rate of 6.6%. As of December 31, 2005,cutstanding mortgages and notes payable wereeskbyrreal estate assets with an aggregate undkecbc
book value of approximately $1.2 billion.

We do not intend to reserve funds to retire exgsiacured or unsecured debt upon maturity. Forra mmmplete discussion of our long-term liquidity
needs, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Gumed Future Cash Needs.”
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations, including regdliinterest payments for those items that aredster
bearing, at December 31, 2005 ($ in thousands):

Amounts due during year ending December 3!

Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter
Mortgages and Notes Payabl $1,958,66. $507,19¢ $204,16( $174,07¢ $276,17. $168,51( $628,54¢
Financing Obligations:

SF-HIW Harborview, LP financing obligatio(1) 14,98 — — — — — 14,98:

Tax Increment Financing obligati«(2) 30,557 2,192 2,182 2,18: 2,182 2,18: 19,631
Other Long Term Liabilities Reflected on the Balane Sheet:

Capitalized lease obligatiol 274 17k 86 13 — — —

Plaza Colonnade lease guarar(3) 51 — — — 51 — —

Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32 LP lease guarai(3) 79¢ — — 79¢ — — —

RRHWoods and Dallas County Partners lease guar(3) 104 — — — — — 104

RRHWoods, LLC(3) 63 — — — 63 — —

Industrial Portfolio lease guarant(4) 50€ 50€ — — — — —

Industrial environmental guarant(3) 12t — — — — — 12t

Eastshore lease guaran(4) 8,431 4,35¢ 4,077 — — — —

DLF payable(5) 4,06¢ 51F 52€ 53¢ 54€ 55€ 1,387

KC Orlando, LLC lease guarant(3) 512 92 97 97 97 97 32

KC Orlando, LLC accrued lease commissions, temaptévements and

building improvement(3) 61C 61C — — — — —

Operating Lease Obligations:

Land lease(3) 40,97¢ 99¢ 1,011 1,027 1,067 1,08t 35,781
Purchase Obligations:

Completion contract(3) 17,797  17,79: — — — — —
Total (6) $2,078,511 $534,43¢ $212,13¢ $178,72¢ $280,17° $172,43( $700,60!

(1) This liability represents our financing obligat to our partner in the respective joint ventasea result of accounting for this transaction fisamcing
arrangement. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Fiab8tatements for further discussi

(2) In connection with tax increment financing &mmstruction of a public garage related to an efficilding constructed by us, we are obligatedaty fixed
special assessments over ay2@s period. The net present value of these assegsnuliscounted at 6.93%, is shown as a finaralitigation in the balanc
sheet. We also receive special tax revenues amepyctax rebates which are intended, but not gueedl, to provide funds to pay the special assettsn

(3) See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statesxfenfurther discussiol

(4) These liabilities represent gains that weredefl in accordance with SFAS No. 66 when we dudde properties to third parties. We defer gainsates
of real estate up to our maximum exposure to cgetihloss. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Finb8tagements for further discussic

(5) Represents a fixed obligation we owe our parimélighwoods DLF 98/29, LP. This amount aroserfran excess contribution from our partner at the
formation of the joint venture and is recorded tihew liabilities. See Note 2 to the ConsolidateddlRcial Statements for further discussi

(6) Interest components of the contractual oblayatiare based on the stated fixed rates in theiments; for floating rate debt, interest is congputising the
current rate in effect at December 31, 2(
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Refinancings and Preferred Stock Redemptions in 2@0and First Quarter of 2006

During 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, we p&fdb196.2 million of outstanding loans, excludiagy normal debt amortization, which included $176.2
million of secured debt with a weighted averageriest rate of 6.9% and $20.0 million of unsecutedting rate debt with an interest rate of 4.9%luded in
the $176.2 million was $89.8 million of floatingieasecured debt. Approximately $350 million of resiate assets (based on undepreciated cost besije
unencumbered after paying off the secured debtalfeused some of the proceeds from our disposiitimity to redeem, in August 2005 and Februar§&0
all of our outstanding Series D Preferred Shares3a® million of our outstanding Series B Prefer8res, aggregating $180.0 million plus accrueidieinds.
These reductions in outstanding debt and Pref&teck balances were made primarily from proceents foroperty dispositions that closed in 2005 an@62Mn
connection with the redemption of Preferred Stdlok,excess of the redemption cost over the neginogramount of the redeemed shares was recordad as
reduction to net income available for common shelidgrs. These reductions amounted to $4.3 millimh 1.7 million for the third quarter 2005 and tfigsiarte!
2006, respectively.

Unsecured Indebtedness

On May 1, 2006, we obtained a new $350.0 millibme¢-year unsecured revolving credit facility fr@&ank of America, N.A. We used $273.0 million of
proceeds from the new revolving credit facilitygéoher with available cash, to pay off the remajrontstanding balance of $178.0 million under aevjpus
revolving credit facility and the $100.0 millioniaterm loan, both of which have now been termithalte connection with these payoffs, we expect tiberoff
approximately $0.5 million in unamortized deferfaghncing costs in the second quarter of 2006 lassaon debt extinguishment. We and Bank of Ameuiea
to syndicate the new revolving credit facility late 2006.

Our new revolving credit facility is initially scdeled to mature on May 1, 2009. We have an opticextend the maturity date by one additional year
assuming no default exists and, at any time padviay 1, 2008, we may request increases in theolamg availability under the credit facility by up an
additional $100.0 million. The increases in bornogvavailability are subject to approval by the ler{d). The interest rate has been reduced from Rp@s 10!
basis points to LIBOR plus 80 basis points ancatireual base facility fee has been reduced froma2&lpoints to 20 basis points.

Like our previous revolving credit facility, theweevolving credit facility requires us to complytivcustomary operating covenants and various firzn
and operating ratios. We believe the required fitelrand operating ratios under the new revolviregit facility are less stringent and more appraigly reflect
our current and future business prospects tharethrements under our previous revolving credillitg. We expect to be in compliance with thesevisions
of our new revolving credit facility for the foresable future. However, depending upon our futuerajng performance and property and financingsaations
and general economic conditions, we cannot assaueghat no circumstance will arise in the futurattivould render us unable to comply with any othe
covenants or result in an increase in the borrowogls under this facility.

If any of our lenders ever accelerated outstandétg due to an event of default, we would not He &tbborrow any further amounts under our revavin
credit facility, which would adversely affect ousikty to fund our operations. If our debt cannetBaid, refinanced or extended at maturity or ugareleration,
in addition to our failure to repay our debt, weynmat be able to make distributions to stockholdgrsxpected levels or at all. Furthermore, if egfinancing is
done at higher interest rates, the increased sttespense would adversely affect our cash flovasadoility to make distributions to stockholders.yAsuch
refinancing could also impose tighter financialagatand other covenants that would restrict oulitglio take actions that would otherwise be in stackholders’
best interest, such as funding new developmentiggtmaking opportunistic acquisitions, repurctmasour securities or paying distributions.
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In May, July, August and September 2005 and Febr2@06, we obtained waivers from the lenders uodeprevious revolving credit facility and our
previous bank term loans related to timely repgrtmthe lenders of annual and quarterly finanstiatements and to covenant violations that cousa: drom
future redemptions of Preferred Stock due to tketassification of the Preferred Stock from equéyatliability during the period of time from thermuncement
of the redemption until the redemption is compleftke aforementioned modifications did not charigedconomic terms of the loans. In connection thigse
modifications, we incurred certain loan costs trat capitalized and amortized over the remaininggeof the loans. In November 2005, we amende&1086.0
million bank term loan to extend the maturity diateuly 17, 2006 and reduce the spread over th©Rhterest rate from 130 basis points to 100 hagiists.
These loans were paid off in May 2006 in connectiith the closing of our new revolving credit fawi|] as described above.

As of the date of this filing, the Operating Parsigp has not yet satisfied its requirement underindenture governing the outstanding notes édtifihely
SEC reports, but expects to do so as soon asgahleti Under the indenture, the notes may be aatetkif the trustee or 25% of the holders providitten
notice of a default and such default remains urctafeer 60 days. If the Operating Partnership éeitefile its delinquent SEC reports prior to egpion of the
60-day cure period after receipt of any such defaatice, the lender under our revolving crediilfacwould also have the ability to accelerate amts
outstanding under the revolving credit facility. @ate, neither the trustee nor any holder hasugeany such default notice. The Operating Partifeishin
compliance with all other covenants under the imalenand is current on all payments required theden

Current and Future Cash Needs
Rental revenue, together with construction managémeaintenance, leasing and management feest fiogipal source of funds to meet our short-term
liquidity requirements, which primarily consist@berating expenses, debt service, stockholderalind, any guarantee obligations and recurring aapit
expenditures. In addition, we could incur tenarpriavements and lease commissions related to aeggielg of vacant space.
We expect to fund our short-term liquidity requirmts through a combination of available workingizdpcash flows from operations and the following:
. the selective disposition of n-core land and other asse

. borrowings under our revolving credit facility (vehi has up to $76 million of availability as of May2006, excluding the $100.0 million
expansion option) and under our existing $50.0iomilsecured revolving construction loan (all of ethivas available at May 1, 200

. the sale or contribution of some of our Wholly OwriRroperties, development projects and developtaadtto strategic joint ventures to be
formed with unrelated investors, which would have het effect of generating additional capital tlglo such sale or contributior

. the issuance of secured debt;

. the issuance of new unsecured d

Our long-term liquidity needs generally include fthading of capital expenditures to lease spa@utaccustomers, maintain the quality of our existing
properties and build new properties. Capital exjtanek include tenant improvements, building imgonents, new building completion costs and land
infrastructure costs. Tenant improvements are disésaequired to customize space for the speoifinia of first-generation and second-generatioromests.
Building improvements are recurring capital cosisnelated to a specific customer to maintain éxisbuildings. New building completion costs ar@enses fc
the construction of new buildings. Land infrasturetcosts are expenses to prepare developmentdafidure development activity that is not spexafly
related to a single building. At December 31, 20@/aining commitments under contractual purchadigations for these capital expenditures aggrepate
approximately $17.8 million. Excluding recurringoial expenditures for leasing costs and tenantawgments and for normal building improvements, our
expected future capital expenditures for starteti@arcommitted new development projects as of M&ay2D06 are approximately $200 million. A significa
portion of these future expenditures are curresttlyject to binding contractual arrangements.
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Additionally, $110.0 million of 7.0% unsecured netgill mature in December 2006 and approximately Sfllion of 8.2% secured debt will mature in
February 2007. We expect to repay both borrowinigis proceeds from pending or future dispositionwatyt and the issuance of additional unsecured .détet
also have a significant pool of unencumbered asketsould serve as collateral for additional sedudebt. Although we expect to repay or refinaaitef this
outstanding debt on or prior to their respectivéurity dates, no assurances can be given that Wéevable to do so on favorable terms or at all.

Our long-term liquidity needs also include the fingdof development commitments, selective assatiaitpns and the retirement of mortgage debt,
amounts outstanding under our revolving creditlitgcand long-term unsecured debt. Our goal is &intain a conservative and flexible balance sheet.
Accordingly, we expect to meet our long-term lighjidheeds through a combination of (1) the issudncthe Operating Partnership of additional unsedutebt
securities, (2) the issuance of additional equétyusities by the Company and the Operating Pattigré3) borrowings under other secured constradibans
that we may enter into, as well as (4) the soudessribed above with respect to our short-termdityy We expect to use such sources to meet qig-term
liquidity requirements either through direct paynseor repayments of borrowings under our revohdregit facility. As mentioned above, we do not indgo
reserve funds to retire existing secured or unsetcindebtedness upon maturity. Instead, we wik seeefinance such debt at maturity or retire sdeht
through the issuance of equity or debt securitidsomn proceeds from sales of properties.

We anticipate that our available cash and cashvatgrits and cash flows from operating activitieghwash available from borrowings and other sasirce
will be adequate to meet our capital and liquidieeds in both the short and long term. Howevehei§e sources of funds are insufficient or unakbeleour
ability to pay dividends to stockholders and sgtither cash payments may be adversely affected.

Stockholder Dividends

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we mustdbute to stockholders at least 90.0% of our Rtakable income, excluding capital gains. REIT
taxable income, the calculation of which is detewxi by the federal tax laws, does not equal nemnirecunder GAAP. We generally expect to use our flash
from operating activities for dividends to stockthers and for payment of recurring capital expemdguFuture dividends will be made at the discretibour
Board of Directors. The following factors will affeour cash flows and, accordingly, influence tkeisions of the Board of Directors regarding divids:

. debt service requirements after taking into accdet covenants and the repayment and restructafiogrtain indebtednes
. scheduled increases in base rents of existingde

. changes in rents attributable to the renewal dfting leases or replacement lea

. changes in occupancy rates at existing propenidsgecution of leases for newly acquired or dgvedioproperties

. operating expenses and capital replacement needigding tenant improvements and leasing costs

. sales of properties and r-core land
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have several off balance sheet joint venturegaradantee arrangements. The joint ventures wengefb with unrelated investors to generate additiona
capital to fund property acquisitions, repay outdtag debt or fund other strategic initiatives amdessen the ownership risks typically associatid owning
100.0% of a property. When we create a joint ventwith a strategic partner, we usually contribute or more properties that we own to a newly formetty
in which we retain an interest of 50.0% or lesse)xohange for an equal or minority interest injdiet venture, we generally receive cash from tagrmer and
frequently retain the management income relatinpégproperties in the joint venture. For financgporting purposes, certain assets we sold hawe be
accounted for as financing and/or profit-sharinguagements (see Notes 1, 2 and 3 to the Consdliffat@ncial Statements).

As required by GAAP, we use the equity method @baating for our unconsolidated joint ventures imiel we exercise significant influence but do not
control the major operating and financial policiéshe entity regarding encumbering the entitiethwlebt and the acquisition or disposal of propsrtAs a
result, the assets and liabilities of these joeritures are not included on our balance sheetrenksults of operations of these joint venturesnat included on
our income statement, other than as equity in rgsndf unconsolidated affiliates. Generally, werastliable for the debts of our joint venturescept to the
extent of our equity investment, unless we haveally guaranteed any of that debt. In most casesand/or our strategic partners are required toagtiee
customary limited exceptions to non-recourse ligbih non-recourse loans.

As of December 31, 2005, our unconsolidated joamtures had $816.8 million of total assets and $b66illion of total liabilities as reflected in tie
financial statements. At December 31, 2005, ougtteid average equity interest based on the tadatasf these unconsolidated joint ventures wag40.
During 2005, these unconsolidated joint ventureseza$18.7 million of total net income, of whichralnare, after appropriate purchase accountingtret
adjustments, was $9.3 million. For additional imi@tion about our unconsolidated joint venture a@gtisee Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial $tatgs.

As of December 31, 2005, our unconsolidated joartures had $573.4 million of outstanding mortgagiet. All of this joint venture debt is non-recoarrs
to us except (1) in the case of customary excepf@ntaining to such matters as misuse of fundsra@mental conditions and material misrepreseoieatiand
(2) those guarantees and loans described in tleviog paragraphs. The following table sets fohté scheduled maturities of our share of the outiétgndebt o
our unconsolidated joint ventures as of DecembeB@5 ($ in thousands):

2006 $ 5,54«
2007 12,62:
2008 11,48¢
2009 14,67¢
2010 11,43¢
Thereaftel 187,47!

$243,24

In connection with the Des Moines joint ventures, guaranteed certain debt and the maximum potentialint of future payments that we could be
required to make under the guarantees is $20.1omilDf this amount, $8.6 million arose from howsievenue bonds that require credit enhancements in
addition to the real estate mortgages. The bonasd#oating interest rate, which at December2®D5 averaged 3.01%, and mature in 2015. A guaafite
$5.5 million of debt of the Des Moines joint vergswill expire upon an industrial building becomBi§ 0% leased or when the related loan maturesf As
December 31, 2005, this building was 87.0% leaskd.remaining $6.0 million in guarantees of dehthef Des Moines joint ventures relate to loansaur f
office buildings that were in the lease-up phaghatime the loans were initiated. Each of thetowill mature by May 2008. The average occupari¢hiefour
buildings at December 31, 2005 was 90.0%. If tr& jeentures are unable to repay the outstanditanbas under the loans that we have guaranteedjlinge
required, under the terms of the agreements, @yrtée outstanding balances. Recourse provisiosstat enable us to recover some or all of sghments
from the joint ventures’ assets and/or the othetngas. The joint ventures currently generate sigfit cash flow to cover the debt service requingthe loans.
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In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventuwes renewed our guarantee of $6.2 million to a banluly 2003; this guarantee expires in August
2006 and may be renewed by us. The bank provitkttea of credit securing industrial revenue bomvdsich mature in 2015. We would be required to qenf
under the guarantee should the joint venture bblarta repay the bonds. We have recourse provisioasder to recover from the joint venture’s ass@id the
other partner for amounts paid in excess of oup@rtionate share. The property collateralizinglibads is 100.0% leased and currently generatesisuff cash
flow to cover the debt service required by the bfindncing. As a result, no liability has been neteal in our balance sheet.

On December 9, 2004, the Plaza Colonnade, LLC janture refinanced its construction loan with 8.$5million non-recourse permanent loan, thereby
releasing us from our former guarantees of a coostn loan agreement and a construction completgreement, which arose from the formation of thet]
venture to construct an office building. The $5@illion mortgage bears a fixed interest rate 02867 requires monthly principal and interest payraemd
matures on January 31, 2017. We and our joint vergartner have signed a contingent master leas@d to 30,772 square feet for five years. Ourimam
exposure under this master lease is $1.7 millimwéler, the current occupancy level of the buildmgufficient to cover all debt service requiretsen

On March 30, 2004, the Industrial Development Autlymf the City of Kansas City, Missouri issued8$8 million in nonrecourse bonds to finance put
improvements made by the Plaza Colonnade, LLC janture for the benefit of the Kansas City Miss®ublic Library. Since the joint venture leases kind
for the office building from the library, the joirenture was obligated to build certain public imgments. The net bond proceeds were $18.1 maiwhhave
and will be used for project and debt service co&te joint venture has recorded this obligatioritefialance sheet. The bonds are ultimately pgpidhé tax
increment financing revenue generated by the mgldind its tenants.

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint verg, a single tenant currently leases an entidelingi under a lease scheduled to expire on
June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases space inttidings owned by us. In conjunction with an mlerestructuring of the tenant’s leases with nd with this
joint venture, we agreed to certain changes tdethge with the joint venture in September 2003. Mbdifications included allowing the tenant to vizcene
premises on January 1, 2006, and reducing theokgigiation by 50.0% and converting the “net” leésa “full service” lease with the tenant liable 0.0% of
these costs at that time. In turn, we agreed topemsate the joint venture for any economic lossesried as a result of these lease modificatiossofA
December 31, 2005, we have recorded $0.8 milliasttier liabilities and $0.8 million as a deferrétdhige in other assets on our Consolidated Balaheet$o
account for the lease guarantee. However, shouwld@®ants occupy the vacated space during the hd@dnalf year guarantee period, our liability untthe
guarantee would diminish. Our maximum potential ama®f future payments with regard to this guarant@s $1.1 million as of December 31, 2005. No
recourse provisions exist to enable us to recorgranounts paid to the joint venture under thiséeguarantee arrangement.

On December 29, 2003, we contributed three in-seroffice properties encompassing 290,853 renthlare feet at an agreed upon value of $35.6
million to the existing Highwoods-Markel Associaté& C joint venture. The joint venture’s other paat, Markel Corporation, contributed an additiopal6
million in cash to maintain its 50.0% ownershipeirst and the joint venture borrowed and refinai$z€d0 million from a third party lender. We retiéhour
50.0% ownership interest in the joint venture aexkived net cash proceeds of $31.9 million. Weterenanager and leasing agent for the propertiésexneive
customary management fees and leasing commissions.

In July 2003, we entered into an option agreemetti @ur partner, Miller Global, to acquire its 5@0nterest in the assets of MG-HIW Metrowest I, LLC
and MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC for $3.2 million. Wead previously guaranteed $3.7 million (50.0%) & $#7.4 million construction loan to fund the
development of this property, of which $7.3 millisas outstanding at December 31, 2003. On Mar@0@4, we exercised our option and acquired ounpag
50.0% equity interest in the assets of MG-HIW Metest |, LLC and MG-HIW Metrowest I, LLC for $3.2iltion. The assets in MG-HIW Metrowest I, LLC
and MG-HIW Metrowest I, LLC include 87,832 squéeet of property and 7.0 acres of development laomkd for the development of 90,000 square feet of
office space. The $7.4 million construction loariuod the development of this property was paitulhby us at closing.
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On February 25, 2004, we and Kapital-Consult, 2pean investment firm, formed Highwoods KC GleneidgP, which on February 26, 2004 acquired
from a third party Glenridge Point Office Park, sgting of two office buildings aggregating 185,¢fuare feet located in the Central Perimeter sakket of
Atlanta. At December 31, 2005, the buildings we3e1% occupied. We contributed $10.0 million to jthiet venture in return for a 40.0% equity interasd
Kapital-Consult contributed $14.9 million for a 6@ equity interest in the partnership. The joimtuee entered into a $16.5 million ten-year seclwad on the
assets. We are the manager and leasing agentdqrtperty and receive customary management fegtéeasing commissions. The acquisition also inetLia.9
acres of development land.

RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners each a@esl a new office building in Des Moines, lowa. fdme 25, 2004, the joint ventures financed
both buildings with a $7.4 million ten-year loaptn a lender. As an inducement to make the loar6a2% long-term rate, we and our partner agreenaster
lease the vacant space and each guaranteed $0d® milthe debt with limited recourse. As leasinproves, the guarantee obligations under the &mgrement
diminish. As of December 31, 2005, we expensedshare of the master lease payments totaling $0iidmand recorded $0.1 million in other liabits and
$0.1 million as a deferred charge included in otismets on our Consolidated Balance Sheet witlecesp this guarantee. The maximum potential amofint
future payments that we could be required to maleeth on the current leases in place is approxiyn®geB million as of December 31, 2005. The liketd of
us paying on our $0.8 million guarantee is remaoteesthe joint ventures currently satisfy the minimdebt coverage ratio and should we be requir@dycour
portion of the guarantee, we would recover the $@ilBon from other joint venture assets.

On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a European imvest firm, bought an interest in HIW-KC Orlandd, @, an entity formed by us. HIW-KC Orlando,
LLC owns five in-service office properties, encorsgiag 1.3 million rentable square feet, locatethércentral business district of Orlando, Floridéck were
valued under the joint venture agreement at $24@Il®n, including amounts related to our guarastdescribed below, and which were subject to a £136
million secured mortgage loan. Our partner contgtdi$42.1 million in cash and received a 60.0%tgdoterest in the entity. The joint venture borexh$143.0
million under a ten-year fixed rate mortgage loamf a third party lender and repaid the origina8@&2 million loan. We retained a 40.0% equity iesdrin the
joint venture and received net cash proceeds oB®#lion, of which $33.0 million was used to pdgwn our revolving credit facility and $13.6 milfiavas
used to pay down additional debt. In connectiorhis transaction, we agreed to guarantee retietgint venture for 3,248 rentable square feetroencing ir
August 2004 and expiring in April 2011. In conneatiwith this guarantee, as of June 30, 2004, wieded $0.6 million in other liabilities and reducie total
amount of gain to be recognized by the same amduldlitionally, we agreed to guarantee re-tenantiosts for approximately 11% of the joint venturesl
square footage. We recorded a $4.1 million contingability with respect to such guarantee aswfe)30, 2004 and reduced the total amount of geliret
recognized by the same amount. During 2004 and,2@8%paid $3.5 million in re-tenanting costs redate this guarantee. The contribution was accoufueds
a partial sale as defined by SFAS No. 66 and wegrized a $15.9 million gain in June 2004. Sincehaee an ongoing 40.0% financial interest in thetjo
venture and since we are engaged by the joint vemduprovide management and leasing servicehéojoint venture, for which we receive customary
management fees and leasing commissions, the aperaf these properties were not reflected adistued operations consistent with SFAS No. 14dithae
related gain on sale was included in continuingajens in the second quarter of 2004.

On September 27, 2004, we and an affiliate of @ruklInc. (“Crosland”) formed Weston Lakeside, Lli€which we have a 50.0% ownership interest.
On June 29, 2005, we contributed 22.4 acres of #&@eh agreed upon value of $3.9 million to thistj@enture, and Crosland contributed approxima$2yd
million in cash; immediately thereafter, the joienture distributed approximately $1.9 million ®and we recorded a gain of $0.5 million. Crosleasit
develop, manage and operate this joint ventureghwisi now constructing approximately 332 rentaidestial units at a total estimated cost of apprately $33
million expected to be completed by the secondtquaf 2007. Crosland will receive 3.25% of all jpet costs other than land as a development fe&&9d of
gross revenue of the joint venture in managemeas fEhe joint venture is financing the developnveith a $28.4 million construction loan that is gaiateed by
Crosland. We are providing certain developmentisesvfor the project and will receive a fee eqoal 0% of all project costs excluding land. We actdor
this joint venture using the equity method of actng.
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On December 22, 2004, we and Easlan InvestmentpGione. (“Easlan”) formed The Vinings at Universi@enter, LLC. We contributed 7.8 acres of land
at an agreed upon value of $1.6 million to thetjeenture in December 2004 in return for a 50.0%itgdnterest and Easlan contributed $1.1 milliorthie form
of nondinterest bearing promissory notes for a 50.0% gdoterest in the entity. Upon formation, the joirginture entered into a $9.7 million secured cosion
loan to complete the construction of 156 apartnueiits on the 7.8 acres of land. Easlan has guadribés construction loan, and at December 31, 2605
million had been borrowed on the loan. The consivnwf the apartments was completed in the fitgtrter of 2006. Easlan is the manager and leagjegtdor
these apartment units and receives customary mare@gédees and leasing commissions. We have recdmeelopment fees throughout the construction ptoje
and will receive management fees of 1.0% of gressmues at the time the apartments are 80.0% aatuMe are currently consolidating this joint veat(see
Notes 1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial StatésheAccordingly, our Consolidated Balance Shé@&ecember 31, 2005 includes $9.2 millior
development in process and a $7.7 million constnatote payable.

Financing and Profit-Sharing Arrangements

The following summarizes sale transactions in 2800 2002 that were or continue to be accountedddinancing and/or profit-sharing arrangements
under paragraphs 25 through 29 of SFAS No. 66.

- SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, we contributed Harborvieaz&lan office building located in Tampa, FlorigdaSF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview
LP"), a newly formed entity, in exchange for a 2@8.0mited partnership interest and $35.4 milliorcash. The other partner contributed $12.6 milbbnash
and a new loan was obtained by the partnershiZar8 million. In connection with this dispositiomg entered into a master lease agreement withdrzew
LP for five years on the then vacant space in thikling (approximately 20% of the building); occuyog was 99.6% at December 31, 2005. We also guesdnt
to Harborview LP the payment of tenant improvememis lease commissions of $1.2 million. Our maxinexposure to loss under the master lease agreement
was $2.1 million at September 11, 2002 and was &@libn at December 31, 2005. Additionally, ourfpeer in Harborview LP was granted the right to ipsit
80.0% equity interest in Harborview LP to us inlexege for cash at any time during the one-yeandeommencing on September 11, 2014. The valueeof t
80.0% equity interest will be determined at theetithat such partner elects to exercise its put,rifjaver, based upon the then fair market valudarborview
LP’s assets and liabilities, less 3.0%, which antewas intended to cover the normal costs of atsafesaction.

Because of the put option and the master leasemgm, this transaction is accounted for as a €iimartransaction, as described in Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Accordingly,absets, liabilities and operations related to Biatbw Plaza, the property owned by Harborview LP,
including any new financing by the partnership, aamon our books. As a result, we have establishitincing obligation equal to the net equity cimtted by
the other partner. At the end of each reportingopethe balance of the financing obligation isustid to equal the current fair value, which is.81billion at
December 31, 2005, but not less than the originahting obligation. This adjustment is amortizedgpectively through September 2014 as interestresgoon
financing obligations. Additionally, the net incorfrem the operations before depreciation of HarlewPlaza allocable to the 80.0% partner is reabate
interest expense on financing obligation. We cargito depreciate the property and record all ofiggreciation on our books. Any payments made uttaer
master lease agreement were expensed as incu@rddnf@lion, $0.1 million and $0.4 million was expsed during the years ended December 31, 2005, &0
2003, respectively) and any amounts paid undeteti@nt improvement and lease commission guaranéeeapitalized and amortized to expense over the
remaining lease term. At such time as the put aptixpires or is otherwise terminated, we will rectirte transaction as a sale and recognize gaialen s

- Eastshore

On November 26, 2002, we sold three buildings kedat Richmond, Virginia (the “Eastshore” transaajifor a total price of $28.5 million in cash, whi
was paid in full by the buyer at closing. Eachha# sold properties is a single tenant buildingddasn a triple-net basis to Capital One Serviaes, b subsidiary
of Capital One Financial Services, Inc.
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In connection with the sale, we entered into aalegiarantee agreement for each building for tmefieof the buyer to guarantee any shortfalls thay
be incurred in the payment of rent and re-tenartogjs for a five-year period from the date of gdleough November 2007). Our maximum exposuress |
under the rental guarantee agreements was $18i@mat the date of sale and was $8.4 million aBe€ember 31, 2005. No payments were made durifig &t
2002 in respect of these rent guarantees. Howivdune 2004, we began to make monthly paymertsetbuyer, at an annual rate of $0.1 million, assalt of
the existing tenant renewing a lease in one bugldina lower rental rate. We expect to make additipayments beginning in June 2006 of approximaiel1
million per month due to the tenant vacating spaamne of the three buildings as of May 31, 2006eSe payments will continue until the earlier & &md of th:
guarantee period or until replacement tenantsmaptaice and paying amounts equal to or more thaculrent tenant.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghmenoent as discussed in paragraph 28 of SFAS NdBé6ause the guarantees cover the entire space
occupied by a single tenant under a triple-netdeasangement, our guarantees are considered ageed return on the buyer’s investment for anneled
period of time. Therefore, the transaction has lam@ounted for as a financing transaction followtimg accounting method described in Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements through July 2668 below). Accordingly, through July 2005, tekseds, liabilities and operations were includethe
Consolidated Financial Statements, and a financbhiigation of $28.8 million was recorded which repented the amount received from the buyer, adjdste
subsequent activity. The income from the operatifrthe properties, other than depreciation, wksated 100.0% to the owner as interest expensmancing
obligations. Payments made under the rent guarmmiere charged to expense as incurred. This traosagas recorded as a completed sale transactidualy
2005 when the maximum exposure to loss under theagtees became less than the related deferredeganrdingly, $1.7 million in gain was recognizad
2005 and additional gain will be recognized in 2@@@ 2007 as the maximum exposure under the gesaig reduced. Payments made under rent guarantees
after July 2005 are recorded as a reduction ofiéferred gain.

- MG-HIW, LLC

On December 19, 2000, we formed a joint venturé Willer Global, MG-HIW, LLC, pursuant to which weold or contributed to MG-HIW, LLC 19 in-
service office properties in Raleigh, Atlanta, Tan{the “Non-Orlando City Group”) and Orlando (cetieely the “City Groups”), at an agreed upon vatdie
$335.0 million. As part of the formation of MG-HIWLC, Miller Global contributed $85.0 million in sa for an 80.0% ownership interest and the joimtwe
borrowed $238.8 million from a third-party lendé/e retained a 20.0% ownership interest and recaie¢dash proceeds of $307.0 million. During 2004,
contributed a 39,000 square foot development progellG-HIW, LLC in exchange for $5.1 million. Theint venture borrowed an additional $3.7 milliomder
its existing debt agreement with a third party amdretained our 20.0% ownership interest and recenet cash proceeds of $4.8 million. The assetsdi of
the City Groups were legally acquired by four sepat LC’s of which MG-HIW, LLC was the sole member.

The Non-Orlando City Group consisted of 15 progsrgncompassing 1.3 million square feet and weaddd in Atlanta, Raleigh and Tampa. Based on
the nature and extent of certain rental guaranteste by us with respect to these properties, @msaction did not qualify for sale treatment urlieAS No. 66.
The transaction was accounted for as a profit-sgairangement, and accordingly, the assets, itiabiand operations of the properties remainedwrbooks
and a co-venture obligation was established foatheunt of equity contributed by Miller Global reld to the Non-Orlando City Group properties. Tineoime
from operations of the properties, excluding dejatéan, was allocated 80.0% to Miller Global angdaged as “co-venture expense” in our Consolidated
Financial Statements. We continued to deprecia@tbperties and record all of the depreciatiomwnbooks. In addition to the a@nture expense, we recorc
expense of $1.3 million and $0.7 million relategpryments made under the rental guarantees fgetms ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respgciNel
payments were made under the rental guaranteésefgrear ended December 31, 2004.

On July 29, 2003, we acquired our partner’s 80.0itg interest in the Non-Orlando City Group. Wedoliller Global $28.1 million in cash, repaid
$41.4 million of debt related to the properties asdumed $64.7 million of debt. We recognized a3fllion gain on the settlement of the $43.5 iwillco-
venture obligation; $2.4 million of this gain i<cinded in discontinued operations as a resultdassifying the prior period results of operatiofigertain
properties sold in 2005 under FAS No. 144.
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With respect to the Orlando City Group, which csteil of five properties encompassing 1.3 millionasg feet located in the central business disifict
Orlando, we assumed obligations to make improvesenthe assets as well as master lease obligatimhguarantees on certain vacant space. Addilyonas
guaranteed a leveraged internal rate of returnR")Rf 20.0% on Miller Global’s equity. The conttibion of these Orlando properties was accounteds$a
financing arrangement under SFAS No. 66. Consetuehe assets, liabilities and operations relatethe properties remained on our books and a ¢ingn
obligation was established for the amount of eqoétytributed by Miller Global related to the Orlan@ity Group. The income from operations of thepemies,
excluding depreciation, was allocated 80.0% todfiGlobal and reported as interest on financinggakibn in our Consolidated Financial StatementssT
financing obligation was also adjusted each pebipdccreting the obligation up to the 20.0% guaredtinternal rate of return by a charge to intezgpense,
such that the financing obligation equaled at the & each period the amount due to Miller Globaluding the 20.0% guaranteed return. We recondieglast
expense on the financing obligation of $3.2 milleomd $11.6 million, which includes amounts relatethis IRR guarantee and payments made undeettialr
guarantees, for the years ended 2004 and 200Z&atasgly. We continued to depreciate the Orlandipprties and record all of the depreciation onbmaks.

On July 29, 2003, we also entered into an optioregent to acquire Miller Global’s 80.0% interegsthie Orlando City Group. On March 2, 2004, we
exercised our option and acquired our partner’8®0equity interest in the Orlando City Group. A¢ ttlosing of the transaction, we paid our parthglier
Global, $62.5 million, assumed the existing $136iltion loan and a $7.5 million letter of creditgwiously delivered to the seller in connection vitik original
execution of the option agreement was cancellgtteSthe initial contribution of these assets wamanted for as a financing arrangement and sireérnhncing
obligation was adjusted each period for the IRRrguigee, no gain or loss was recognized upon thegxshment of the financing obligation. As prevsbu
described, in June 2004 we contributed these asselidV-KC Orlando, LLC in exchange for a 40.0%ergst in the joint venture.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our long-term liquidity requirem& we borrow funds at a combination of fixed &adable rates. Borrowings under our revolving é@red
facility bear interest at variable rates. Our ldagn debt, which consists of secured and unsedangdterm financings and the issuance of unsecdeéd
securities, typically bears interest at fixed rattBough some loans bear interest at variabls réteaddition, we have assumed fixed rate andbbgirate debt i
connection with acquiring properties. Our intemasé risk management objectives are to limit thpaot of interest rate changes on earnings andftagé and
to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achievesth objectives, from time to time, we may entey interest rate hedge contracts such as collaepsveaps
and treasury lock agreements in order to mitigatertterest rate risk with respect to various destruments. We do not hold or issue these devieatontracts
for trading or speculative purposes.

The interest rate on all of our variable rate defaidjusted at one and three month intervals, stibjesettlements under these interest rate healgteacts.
We also enter into treasury lock agreements frome tio time in order to limit our exposure to anr@ase in interest rates with respect to future défbtings.
The interest rate swap that matured on June 1, @850t renewed or extended. We currently haveutstanding interest rate hedge contracts.

As further described below under “- Related PargriSactions,” we had an embedded derivative ap#re land purchase arrangement with GAPI, Inc.
that expired in August 2005 upon closing of thelffiland parcel under the arrangement.
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Related Party Transactions

We have previously reported that we had a conteaatquire development land in the Bluegrass Vailfige development project from GAPI, Inc., a
corporation controlled by Gene H. Anderson, an atiee officer and director of the Company. Undex tarms of the contract, the development land was
purchased in phases, and the purchase price forpdese or parcel was settled in cash and/or Conunds. The price for the various parcels was basedn
initial value for each parcel, adjusted for aniiast factor, applied up to the closing date and fds changes in the value of the Common Units. On
January 17, 2003, we acquired an additional 23&sanf this land from GAPI, Inc. for 85,520 shané€ommon Stock and $384,000 in cash for total
consideration of $2.3 million. In May 2003, 4.0 exof the remaining acres not yet acquired by ustaken by the Georgia Department of Transportaton
develop a roadway interchange for consideratioplo8 million. The Department of Transportation tgassession and title of the property in June 2883art
of the terms of the contract between us and GA®RIL, le were entitled to and received in 2003 th& #illion proceeds from the condemnation. In Z20Y3,
we appealed the condemnation and are currentlyrggalditional payment from the state; the recagniof any gain has been deferred pending resalutfahe
appeal process. In April 2005, we acquired for aasladditional 12.1 acres of the Bluegrass Vakeyllfrom GAPI, Inc. and also settled for cash thalf
purchase price with GAPI, Inc. on the 4.0 acresWeae taken by the Georgia Department of Tranggiort, which aggregated approximately $2.7 milliof,
which $0.7 million was recorded as a payable to GAR. on our financial statements as of Decen®#igr2004. In August 2005, we acquired 12.7 acres,
representing the last parcel of land to be acquftectash of $3.2 million. We believe that the ghase price with respect to each land parcel waslalow
market value. These transactions were unanimoypgyoaed by the full Board of Directors with Mr. Aexson abstaining from the vote. The contract predid
that the land parcels could be paid in Common Wriis cash, at the option of the seller. Thisdeatconstituted an embedded derivative pursuaBFRS
No. 133,“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgifgtivities.” The embedded derivative feature wascamted for separately and adjusted based on
changes in the fair value of the Common Units. Tesilted in decreases to other income of $0.7am;jl$0.4 million and $0.2 million in 2003, 2004daR005,
respectively. The embedded derivative expired uperclosing of the final land transaction in AugReo5.

On February 28, 2005 and April 15, 2005, we sotdubh a third party broker three non-core indubbialdings in WinstonSalem, North Carolina to Jo
L. Turner and certain of his affiliates for a grasdes price of approximately $27.0 million, of wni$20.3 million was paid in cash and the remairfiden the
surrender of 256,508 Common Units. We recordedra@feapproximately $4.8 million upon the closinfitbese sales. Mr. Turner, who was a director atitne
of these transactions, retired from the Board @éEtors effective December 31, 2005. We believetti@purchase price paid for these assets by Mmnélr and
his affiliates was equal to their fair market vallibe sales were unanimously approved by the fodlrB of Directors with Mr. Turner not being presentliscus:
or vote on the matter.

C RITICAL A CCOUNTING E STIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates andrapsions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingergteds and liabilities at the date of the financiateaments and the reported amounts of revenueexqgahses for
the reporting period. Actual results could diffesrh our estimates.

The policies and estimates used in the preparafionr Consolidated Financial Statements are daesgrin Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2008e¥#w, certain of our significant accounting paiicontain an increased level of assumptions used o
estimates made in determining their impact on camg@lidated Financial Statements. Management éswred our critical accounting policies and estiesat
with the audit committee of the Company’s Boardatctors and the Company’s independent auditors.

We consider our critical accounting estimates téhose used in the determination of the reportedusnts and disclosure related to the following:

. Real estate and related ass

. Sales of real estat

44



Table of Contents

. Allowance for doubtful accounts; ai
. Property operating expense recover

Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded atrmbstated at cost less accumulated depreci®Emvations, replacements and other expendituats th
improve or extend the life of an asset are capidliand depreciated over their estimated usefes ligxpenditures for ordinary maintenance and repae
charged to operating expense as incurred. Depi@tiatcomputed using the straight-line method dhierestimated useful life of 40 years for buildirand
depreciable land infrastructure costs, 15 yearddidding improvements and five to seven yearddioniture, fixtures and equipment. Tenant improvateere
amortized over the life of the respective leasésguthe straight-line method.

Expenditures directly related to the developmeut@mnstruction of real estate assets are includeeét real estate assets and are stated at dbst in
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our capitalizatioitpoin development properties is in accordance SFAS No. 67, Accounting for Costs and the Initial Rer
Operations of Real Estate Properties,” SFAS No:'Gdpitalization of Interest Costs,” and SFAS N8, SCapitalization of Interest Cost in Financiad®ments
That Include Investments Accounted for by the Bgiethod.” Development expenditures include prestarction costs essential to the development of
properties, development and construction costsrast costs, real estate taxes, salaries anddeasts and other costs incurred during the pexfatbvelopmen
Interest and other carrying costs are capitalized the building is ready for its intended use. Wmsider a construction project as substantiaimmleted and
held available for occupancy upon the completiotenfint improvements, but no later than one yean ftessation of major construction activity. Weseea
capitalization on the portion substantially cometeind occupied or held available for occupancg,capitalize only those costs associated with thrgn
under construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofpgrties are included in deferred leasing costsamedtated at cost in the Consolidated BalancetShae
capitalize initial direct costs related to our legsefforts in accordance with SFAS No. 91, “Accting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associatédl wi
Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direco&ts of Leases.” All leasing commissions paid tadtparties for new leases or lease renewals aitatiaed.
Internal leasing costs include primarily compersatbenefits and other costs such as legal featedeto leasing activities that are incurred inneartion with
successfully securing leases on the propertiest&iapd leasing costs are amortized on a strdigbtbasis over the estimated lives of the respedtases.
Estimated costs related to unsuccessful activatiesexpensed as incurred. If our assumptions remgatide successful efforts of leasing are incorre resulting
adjustments could impact earnings.

Upon the acquisition of real estate, we assesfathealue of acquired tangible assets such as, lani¢Hings and tenant improvements, intangibletss
such as above and below market leases, acquinglddr leases and other identified intangible asseisassumed liabilities in accordance with SFASINA,
“Business Combinations.” We allocate the purchasepo the acquired assets and assumed liabibiesd on their relative fair values. We assessansider
fair value based on estimated cash flow projecttbas utilize appropriate discount and/or capitiian rates as well as available market informatidre fair
value of the tangible assets of an acquired prpmentsiders the value of the property as if it weaeant.

Above and below market leases acquired are recatieir fair value. Fair value is calculated lzes present value of the difference between (1) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to eagleice lease and (2) management’s estimate of faikenlease rates for each corresponding in-please,
using a discount rate that reflects the risks aatet with the leases acquired and measured gperied equal to the remaining term of the leasafmve-
market leases and the initial term plus the termmyf below-market fixed rate renewal options fdobhemarket leases. The capitalized abowarket lease value
are amortized as a reduction of base rental reveneiethe remaining term of the respective leasésiae capitalized below-market lease values amrtizad as
an increase to base rental revenue over the remgai@im of the respective leases and any belowehagkion periods. If a tenant vacates its spaie fw its
contractual expiration date, any unamortized baas@djusted through rental revenue.
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The value of in-place leases is based on our etrafuaf the specific characteristics of each telsaletise. Factors considered include estimatearoyiog
costs during hypothetical expected lease-up perimgsent market conditions and costs to executdai leases. In estimating carrying costs, wedidelreal
estate taxes, insurance and other operating expeanskestimates of lost rentals at market ratéagltine expected lease-up periods, depending @ hoarket
conditions. In estimating costs to execute siméases, we consider tenant improvements, leasimgnissions and legal and other related expensesvdibe of
in-place leases is amortized to depreciation anorération expense over the remaining term of #epective leases. If a tenant vacates its spagetprits
contractual expiration date, any unamortized baafdts related intangible asset is expensed.

The value of a tenant relationship is based orowarall relationship with the respective tenanttbes considered include the tenant’s credit gyailitd
expectations of lease renewals. The value of axtamtationship is amortized to expense over tit@lrterm and any renewal periods defined in thepective
leases. Based on our acquisitions since the adopfi8FAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142, we have dedsraht relationships to be immaterial and have not
allocated any amounts to this intangible assetwilleevaluate these items in future transactions.

Real estate and leasehold improvements are ckxdsifi long-lived assets held for sale or as lorgglassets to be held for use. Real estate isf@dsas
held for sale when the criteria set forth in SFA& 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposélong-Lived Assets,” are satisfied; this deteration
requires management to make estimates and assmsigticluding assessing the probability that pddstles transactions may or may not occur. Aatestilts
could differ from those assumptions. In accordamitk SFAS No. 144, we record assets held for salbealower of the carrying amount or estimated Value.
Fair value of assets held for sale is equal teetienated or contracted sales price with a potelmtiger less costs to sell. The impairment loghésamount by
which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated/éiie. With respect to assets classified as feeldse, if events or changes in circumstances) asa
significant decline in occupancy and change in irglicate that the carrying value may be impaigedimpairment analysis is performed. Such anab@isists
of determining whether the asset’s carrying amauithitbe recovered from its undiscounted estimatgdre operating cash flows. These cash flows ammated
based on a number of assumptions that are subjeconomic and market uncertainties including, agrathers, demand for space, competition for tenants
changes in market rental rates and costs to opeaateproperty. If the carrying amount of a helduse asset exceeds the sum of its undiscounterkfut
operating and residual cash flows, an impairmesd ls recorded for the difference between estim@iedalue of the asset and the net carrying arhdie
generally estimate the fair value of assets haldi$e by using discounted cash flow analysis; mes@stances, appraisal information may be avalabt is
used in addition to the discounted cash flow anslyss the factors used in generating these cas¥sfare difficult to predict and are subject taifetevents that
may alter our assumptions, the discounted and/disaounted future operating and residual cash flestenated by us in our impairment analyses orehos
established by appraisal may not be achieved antiayebe required to recognize future impairmergdsson our properties held for sale and held fer us

Sales of Real Estate

We account for sales of real estate in accordarteS#FAS No. 66. For sales transactions meetingefjgirements of SFAS No. 66 for full profit
recognition, the related assets and liabilitiesraneoved from the balance sheet and the resultantog loss is recorded in the period the transaatioses. For
sales transactions that do not meet the criteriéufbprofit recognition, we account for the tragsions in accordance with the methods specifiéeHAS No. 66.
For sales transactions with continuing involveneter the sale, if the continuing involvement wittie property is limited by the terms of the salestact, profi
is recognized at the time of sale and is reducetth®ynaximum exposure to loss related to the natitiee continuing involvement. Sales to entitiesvhich we
have an interest are accounted for in accordanttepaitial sale accounting provisions as set fort8FAS No. 66.

For sales transactions that do not meet saleierégsrset forth in SFAS No. 66, we evaluate thameadf the continuing involvement, including putiasall
provisions, if present, and account for the tratisa@s a financing arrangement, profit-sharingagement or other alternate method of accountitiggrahan as
a sale, based on the nature and extent of thencmgj involvement. Some transactions may have nousgfiorms of continuing involvement. In those cases
determine which method is most appropriate baseti@substance of the transaction.
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If we have an obligation to repurchase the propatty higher price or at a future indeterminablleedsuch as fair market value), or we guarantee th
return of the buyer’s investment or a return or theestment for an extended period, we accounstich transaction as a financing transaction. Ihewee an
option to repurchase the property at a higher @iaeit is likely we will exercise this option, th@nsaction is accounted for as a financing treticsa For
transactions treated as financings, we recordriuats received from the buyer as a financing alilign and continue to keep the property and relatedunts
recorded on our books. The results of operatiorikeproperty, net of expenses other than depieciftet operating income), will be reflected astérest
expense” on the financing obligation. If the trast&n includes an obligation or option to repurcehttee asset at a higher price, additional intésesicorded to
accrete the liability to the repurchase price. éfatfons or obligations to repurchase the assetimtfarket value at the end of each reporting pletiee balance ¢
the liability is adjusted to equal the current feafue to the extent fair value exceeds the oridinancing obligation. The corresponding debitoedit will be
recorded to a related discount account and theedwdebt discount is amortized over the expected d@til termination of the option or obligatiof.ilis
unlikely such option will be exercised, the trartgatis accounted for under the deposit methodrofitesharing method. If we have an obligation ption to
repurchase at a lower price, the transaction iswaded for as a leasing arrangement. At such tertbese repurchase obligations expire, a saléwitecorded
and gain recognized.

If we retain an interest in the buyer and provideain rent guarantees or other forms of suppo#grev/the maximum exposure to loss exceeds the\gain,
account for such transaction as a profit-sharimgrggement. For transactions treated as profitisganrangements, we record a profit-sharing obbgéeor the
amount of equity contributed by the other partrret eontinue to keep the property and related adsaecorded on our books. The results of operatibiise
property, net of expenses other than depreciatiendperating income), will be allocated to theeotpartner for their percentage interest and reftbas “co-
venture expensdh our Consolidated Financial Statements. In fupegods, a sale is recorded and profit is recaghizhen the remaining maximum exposur
loss is reduced below the amount of gain deferred.

Properties that are sold or classified as heldéte are classified as discontinued operationsdéordance with SFAS No. 144 and EITF Issue No. 33-1
“Applying the Conditions of Paragraph 42 of FASEt®8ment No. 144 in Determining Whether to Reposcbntinued Operations,&ffective beginning in 200!
provided that (1) the operations and cash flowthefproperty will be eliminated from our ongoingeoations and (2) we will not have any significaohtnuing
involvement in the operations of the property aiftés sold. Interest expense is included in discwred operations if the related loan securingsibld property is
paid off or assumed by the buyer in connection wWithsale. If the property is sold to a joint veatin which we retain an interest, the propertyl ndlt be
accounted for as a discontinued operation due taiguificant ongoing interest in the operation®tlgh our joint venture interest. If we are retdine provide
property management, leasing and/or other serficebe property owner after the sale, the propgetyerally will be accounted for as discontinuedrafions
because the expected cash flows related to thesagaement and leasing activities will generally lo@tsignificant in comparison to the cash flows fribra
property prior to sale.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancarfaunts that may become uncollectible in the &it@ur receivable balance is comprised primarily of
rents and operating cost recoveries due from teramtvell as accrued straight-line rents receivabkeregularly evaluate the adequacy of our allavedor
doubtful accounts. The evaluation primarily corsisft reviewing past due account balances and cemsglsuch factors as the credit quality of ouaten
historical trends of the tenant and/or other deltorrent economic conditions and changes in custgrayment terms. Additionally, with respect toaets in
bankruptcy, we estimate the expected recovery gir@aankruptcy claims and increase the allowancafwounts deemed uncollectible. If our assumptions
regarding the collectibility of accounts receivahte accrued straight-line rents receivable pragerrect, we could experience write-offs of acceueteivable
or accrued straight-line rents receivable in exoésair allowance for doubtful accounts.

Property Operating Expense Recoveries

We receive additional rent from tenants in the fafnproperty operating cost recoveries (or coshtrirsements) which are determined on a lease-lsglea
basis. The most common types of cost reimbursenireioisr leases are common area maintenance (“CAlt) real estate taxes, where the tenant pays e sf
operating and administrative expenses and redketstees, as determined in each lease.
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The computation of such additional rent due fromatgs is complex and involves numerous judgmenttyding the interpretation of terms and other
tenant lease provisions. Leases are not unifordealing with such cost reimbursements and therenargy variations in the computations. Many tenamige
monthly fixed payments of CAM, real estate taxed ather cost reimbursement items. We record thagmpnts as income each month. We also make
adjustments, positive or negative, to cost recoumyme to adjust the recorded amounts to ourdmshate of the final amounts to be billed andemifid with
respect to the cost reimbursements. After the étideccalendar year, we compute each tenant’s éiosi reimbursements and, after considering amaaitsby
the tenant during the year, issue a bill or criithe appropriate amount to the tenant. The diffees between the amounts billed less previoeskived
payments and the accrual adjustment are recordedraases or decreases to cost recovery income theefinal bills are prepared, usually beginnindviarch
and completed by mid-year. The net amounts of ani adjustments have not been material in the yrasented.

F unDSF ROM O PERATIONS

We believe that FFO and FFO per share are benldficmanagement and investors and are importaitatats of the performance of any equity REIT.
Because FFO and FFO per share calculations exsluttefactors as depreciation and amortization afestate assets and gains or losses from satggeodting
real estate assets (which can vary among ownedenfical assets in similar conditions based otohisal cost accounting and useful life estimatdsy
facilitate comparisons of operating performancevieen periods and between other REITs. Our managdméeves that historical cost accounting for reesthte
assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assunies the value of real estate assets diminishesgbadty over time. Since real estate values haswhcally
risen or fallen with market conditions, many inadyshvestors and analysts have considered the pi@sen of operating results for real estate congmthat use
historical cost accounting to be insufficient beitiiselves. As a result, management believes thatstnef FFO and FFO per share, together with thpeimed
GAAP presentations, provide a more complete undedsng of our performance relative to our compeditind a more informed and appropriate basis onhwhi
to make decisions involving operating, financingl amvesting activities.

FFO and FFO per share as disclosed by other RE&}snot be comparable to our calculation of FFO BRO per share as described below. However
should be aware that FFO and FFO per share ar&A&R financial measures and therefore do not regmteset income or net income per share as defiped b
GAAP. Net income and net income per share as difigeGAAP are the most relevant measures in deténgniour operating performance because FFO and
FFO per share include adjustments that investogsdaam subjective, such as adding back expensbsasutepreciation and amortization. Furthermor€ BEr
share does not depict the amount that accruedlglitedhe stockholders’ benefit. Accordingly, FR®d FFO per share should never be consideredesnatives
to net income or net income per share as indicatoosir operating performance.

Our calculation of FFO, which we believe is corsistwith the calculation of FFO as defined by tragibhal Association of Real Estate Investment Bust
(“NAREIT") and which appropriately excludes the to§capital improvements and related capitalizadrest, is as follows:

. Net income (loss) computed in accordance with GA

. Less dividends to holders of Preferred Stock assl éxcess of Preferred Stock redemption cost @reying value

. Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhjcgignificant to the real estate indust

. Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriec@i®rating properties (but excluding impairmessks) and excluding items that are
classified as extraordinary items under GA,

. Plus minority interest

. Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated pestigs and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigions on the same basis);

. Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and #iraion and gains/(losses) on sales and minanigrést related to discontinued operatic
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Other REITs may not define FFO in accordance vhighdurrent NAREIT definition or may interpret therent NAREIT definition differently than we do.

FFO and FFO per share for the years ended Dece3tib2005, 2004 and 2003 are summarized in theviolip table ($ in thousands, except per share
amounts):

2005 2004 2003
Amount Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 62,45¢ $ 41,577 $ 42,64¢
Dividends to preferred sharehold (27,23%) (30,85)) (30,857)
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption cost oveyitayvalue (4,272 — —
Net income applicable to common sharehol 30,94¢ $ 0.5¢ 10,72¢ $ 0.2C 11,797 $ 0.22
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as 111,85¢ 1.8¢ 110,53¢ 1.84 116,93 1.9¢
Gains on disposition of depreciable proper (7,692 (0.13) (18,88() (0.3)) (8,572) (0.19
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershiprinome from operatior (112) — (611) — (2,079 —
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as 10,98¢ 0.1¢ 9,04¢ 0.1t 7,46¢ 0.12
Discontinued operation
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: 11,96¢ 0.2C 20,76 0.3t 23,61: 0.4C
Gains on disposition of depreciable proper (34,129 (0.57) (9,380 (0.1¢) (10,87 (0.1¢)
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershiprinome from
discontinued operatior 3,39: — 1,95¢ — 3,42¢ —
Funds from operatior $127,22: $ 211 $124,16( $ 2.07 $141,71 $ 2.37
Dividend payout data:
Dividends paid per common share/common $ 1.7C $ 1.7¢C $ 1.8€
As a percentage of funds from operati 80.6% 82.1% 78.5%
Weighted average shares outstan((1) 60,30: 60,024 59,91:

(1) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytdikicommon stock equivalen
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioiudes “forward-looking statements” and represents a
estimate of possible changes in fair value or iarnings that would occur assuming hypothetigaré€ movements in interest rates. These discleanenot
precise indicators of expected future effects,dnly indicators of reasonably possible effectsa&gsult, actual future results may differ matéyiom those
presented. See “Management’s Discussion and Asabfgtinancial Condition and Results of Operatierisquidity and Capital Resources” and the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a descripifosur accounting policies and other informatietated to these financial instruments.

To meet in part our long-term liquidity requiremgnive borrow funds at a combination of fixed andalde rates. Borrowings under our revolving credit
facility bear interest at variable rates. Our ldagn debt, which consists of secured and unsedargdterm financings and the issuance of unsecdebd
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratkBough some loans bear interest at variables.réteaddition, we have assumed fixed rate andhibirate debt i
connection with acquiring properties. Our interasé risk management objectives are to limit thpaot of interest rate changes on earnings andfloass and
to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achievesth objectives, from time to time we enter interiest rate hedge contracts such as collars, swaps.and
treasury lock agreements in order to mitigate oterest rate risk with respect to various debtrimsents. We do not hold or issue these derivativegracts for
trading or speculative purposes. We had no inteatsthedge contracts in effect at December 315.200

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately LrRlion of fixed rate debt outstanding. The estted aggregate fair market value of this debt at
December 31, 2005 was approximately $1,219 millibmterest rates increase by 100 basis pointsatigregate fair market value of our fixed ratet @stof
December 31, 2005 would decrease by approxima&ly3fmillion. If interest rates decrease by 100spsints, the aggregate fair market value of owed rate
debt as of December 31, 2005 would increase byoappately $55.4 million.

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately $8#lllion of variable rate debt outstanding. If teighted average interest rate on this varialite ra
debt is 100 basis points higher or lower duringlBenonths ended December 31, 2006, our intergstrese would be increased or decreased approxing&gely
million.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See page 60 for Index to Consolidated Financide8tants and Supplementary Data.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
G ENERAL

The purpose of this section is to discuss the tffecess of our disclosure controls and procedanesour internal control over financial reportifigne
statements in this section represent the conclaid&Edward J. Fritsch, our President and Chiefchtiee Officer, and Terry L. Stevens, our Vice Rdest and
Chief Financial Officer.

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our disclosure ots&nd procedures and our internal control overfcial reporting include a review of the controls’
objectives and design, the controls’ implementakiprus and the effect of the controls on the infation generated for use in this Annual Report. \&&kgo
identify data errors, control problems or actsrafifl and confirm that appropriate corrective actincluding process improvements, is undertakem. Ou
disclosure controls and procedures and our intexorairol over financial reporting are also evaldat@ an ongoing basis by or through the following:

e activities undertaken and reports issued by empl®ye our internal audit departme

« quarterly sub-certifications by representativesfrppropriate business and accounting functiossipport the CEO and CFO'’s evaluation of our
controls and procedure

¢ other personnel in our finance and accounting degdion;
« members of our internal disclosure committee;
*« members of the audit committee of our Board of Etives.

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, do xoee that our disclosure controls and procedunesrgernal control over financial reporting will
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system,matter how well conceived and operated, camigieconly reasonable, not absolute, assurancettbat
objectives of the control system are met. Furtther,design of disclosure controls and procedurdsraarnal control over financial reporting musiieet the fact
that there are resource constraints, and the heméfcontrols must be considered relative to thests. Because of the inherent limitations ircatitrol systems,
no evaluation of controls can provide absolute @s®e that all control issues and instances ofiffrdwany, have been detected. These inherentdtmits includ
the realities that judgments in decision-making lbarfaulty and that breakdowns can occur becauaeswhple error or mistake. Additionally, controkn be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people, or by managetoverride of the control. The design of any eysof
controls also is based in part upon certain assongpabout the likelihood of future events, andé¢hean be no assurance that any design will sudoeed
achieving its stated goals under all potential feittonditions.

M ANAGEMENT ' SA NNUAL R EPORT ON| NTERNAL C oNTROL O VER F INANCIAL R EPORTING

Our management is required to establish and maiiggrnal control over financial reporting desidrie provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP. As defined in Rule 11Z4¥f) under th
Exchange Act, internal control over financial reppag includes those policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in neisle detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of ass:

e provide reasonable assurance that transactione@seded as necessary to permit preparation ofiiaastatements in accordance with GAAP, and
that receipts and expenditures are being madeior@lgcordance with authorizations of managementnedtors; anc
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provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, vselisposition of our assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statemel

Under the supervision of our CEO and CFO, our mamamnt conducted an evaluation of the effectivenéssir internal control over financial reporting
of December 31, 2005 based on the criteria estedaig Internal Control — Integrated Framework esby the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiorthef
Treadway Commission.

A material weakness is a significant deficiencya@ombination of significant deficiencies, thaguks in more than a remote likelihood that a mater
misstatement of the annual or interim financialesteents will not be prevented or detected. As plaour work to assess the effectiveness of inteznatrol over
financial reporting, we have identified the followgi material weaknesses at December 31, 2005:

Real estate asset and lease incentive accou. Material weaknesses existed in the design of alragtate asset and lease incentive accounting
processes, including: (a) ineffective and inadegjpaticies and procedures to reasonably assurel@zomog with GAAP; (b) inadequate controls to
reasonably assure proper accrual, classificationclose out of completed tenant improvements algthge start date; (c) inadequate controls to
reasonably assure the proper identification, diassion and recording of lease incentives; andrfedjlequate controls to reasonably assure proper
allocation of purchase price in real estate actiois. These material weaknesses also have thépibg®f impacting the accounts of all joint
ventures for which we are primarily responsibletfar preparation of financial statements, whictuim could affect the equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates in our consolidated ficiahstatements for those joint ventures. Additlnahe inadequate design of controls to reasgnabl
assure proper approval at an appropriate levelibfosity of construction contracts and change ardier development projects is a material weakr

Journal entry approval and financial statement elgsocesse. A material weakness existed in the design of ourrjal entry approval process,
including (a) inadequate procedures to reasonasyra journal entries are reviewed and approveti(l@the users of our general ledger system
having a broad ability to record and delete jousrdties. Risks associated with this weakness daaldde a broad range of material misstatemer
our consolidated financial statements. Additionadlyr use of and dependence upon manually pregareddsheets in accumulating and consolid
the restatement adjustments recorded in connegfibnour amended 2003 Annual Report and our 200duahReport on Form 10-K that have an
ongoing effect on our historical consolidated ficiahstatements constitute a material weaknedsamésign of our financial close process. Risks
associated with the manually prepared spreadshestisle: (a) the possibility of errors in spreadstfermulas; (b) the possible omission or improper
recording of restatement adjustments; (c) the pdggiof errors in the calculation of gains ands$es on sales of real estate assets associated with
restatement adjustments; and (d) an inability taioktimely interim financial statemen

As a result of the identified material weaknesses,management has concluded that, as of Decemb@085, our internal control over financial rejayi
was not effective. Deloitte & Touche LLP, our inéeplent registered public accounting firm, has idgbeir attestation report, which is included below
management’s assessment of our internal contralfmancial reporting and the effectiveness of iingd control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005.
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R EPORT OF | NDEPENDENT R EGISTERED P UBLIC A CCOUNTING F IRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited management’s assessment, incloded accompanying Management’s Annual Report terial Control Over Financial Reporting, that
Highwoods Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries (themi@any”)did not maintain effective internal control ovendncial reporting as of December 31, 2005, bec
of the effect of the material weaknesses identifiechanagement’s assessment based on criteridiss&bininternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@ivay Commission. The Company’s management ismegigle for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessmerhefeffectiveness of internal control over finahoggorting. Our responsibility is to express aimgm on
management’s assessment and an opinion on theietfeess of the Company’s internal control oveafinial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d@nited States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether effective internal controlrdir@ncial reporting was maintained in all materia
respects. Our audit included obtaining an undedstgnof internal control over financial reportirgyaluating management’s assessment, testing afuhéng
the design and operating effectiveness of interaatrol, and performing such other procedures asamsidered necessary in the circumstances. Wevieelhat
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our op#i

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvigi the company’s principal executive and ppati
financial officers, or persons performing similan€tions, and effected by the company’s board i&otiors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaftcial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s intecoatrol over financial reporting includes thosaigies and procedures that (1) pertain to the teagnce of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide reasorgssierance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepiagation of financial statements in accordanch génerally accepted accounting principles, antréweipts
and expenditures of the company are being madeiom@gcordance with authorizations of managemedtdarectors of the company; and (3) provide reabtma
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiothef company’s assets that could have a matefidtedn the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the poséty of collusion or improper management overrifecontrols,
material misstatements due to error or fraud maya@revented or detected on a timely basis. Alsgjections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe
internal control over financial reporting to futyseriods are subject to the risk that the contmdy become inadequate because of changes in angitr that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a significant deficiencycombination of significant deficiencies, that esin more than a remote likelihood that a materia
misstatement of the annual or interim financialesteents will not be prevented or detected. Th@¥dlhg material weaknesses have been identifiedrastdded
in management’s assessment:

« Real estate asset and lease incentive accou. Material weaknesses existed in the design of thegamy’s real estate asset and lease incentive
accounting processes, including: (a) ineffectivd eradequate policies and procedures to reaso@ablyre compliance with GAAP; (b) inadequate
controls to reasonably assure proper accrual,ifitzion and close out of completed tenant improeats at the lease start date; (c) inadequate
controls to reasonably assure the proper identidficaclassification and recording of lease inceggi and (d) inadequate controls to reasonablyr@ssu
proper allocation of purchase price in real estatuisitions. These material weaknesses also haveossibility of impacting the accounts of alhjpi
ventures for which the Company is primarily respblesfor the preparation of financial statementhijal in turn could affect the equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates in the Comp/s consolidated financial stateme
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for those joint ventures. Additionally, the inadatgidesign of controls to reasonably assure praperoval at an appropriate level of authority of
construction contracts and change orders for dpmeémt projects is a material weakness.

« Journal entry approval and financial statement elgsocesse. A material weakness existed in the design of thex@any’s journal entry approval
process, including (a) inadequate procedures sorely assure journal entries are reviewed ancbapg; and (b) the users of the general ledger
system having a broad ability to record and dgtaienal entries. Risks associated with this weakmesild include a broad range of material
misstatements to the Company’s consolidated firdstatements. Additionally, the use of and depeoéeipon manually prepared spreadsheets by
the Company in accumulating and consolidating éstatement adjustments recorded in connectionthilCompanys amended 2003 Annual Reg
and the Company’s 2004 Annual Report on Form 10& have an ongoing effect on the Company’s hisabgonsolidated financial statements
constitute a material weakness in the design o€mpany’s financial close process. Risks assatiatth the manually prepared spreadsheets
include: (a) the possibility of errors in spreadsttfermulas; (b) the possible omission or imprageording of restatement adjustments; (c) the
possibility of errors in the calculation of gainsddosses on sales of real estate assets assogittie@statement adjustments; and (d) an inakiitity
obtain timely interim financial statemen

These material weaknesses were considered in detegithe nature, timing, and extent of audit tegiplied in our audit of the consolidated finansi@tements
and financial statement schedules as of and foye¢he ended December 31, 2005, of the Companyhasideport does not affect our report on such forn
statements and financial statement schedules.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that thep@oy did not maintain effective internal contrekofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2005%aidy
stated, in all material respects, based on ther@iestablished imternal Control—Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinioncdugse of the effect of the material weaknessegitlescabove on the achievement of the objectivahef
control criteria, the Company has not maintaindeative internal control over financial reporting af December 31, 2005, based on the criteria ksftel in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@snited States), the consolidated financial statets
and financial statement schedules as of and foy¢he ended December 31, 2005, of the Company anceport dated June 2, 2006 expressed an ungaglifi
opinion on those financial statements and finarst@ement schedules.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
June 2, 2006
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C HANGES IN | NTERNAL C ONTROL O VER F INANCIAL R EPORTING

As reported in Item 9A of our 2004 Annual ReportFrm 10-K, our management reported that the Cogipamternal control over financial reporting
was not effective as of December 31, 2004 due tenahweaknesses that existed as of such daté)iour accounting processes for capitalizing eséand
carrying costs during lease-up and internal leasiegelopment and construction costs; (2) our fiagsket and lease incentive accounting processg$3aour
financial statement close process. The first twtenie@ weaknesses also could affect the equityamiegs of unconsolidated affiliates in our Corndated
Financial Statements for those joint ventures fhicly we are primarily responsible for the preparatf financial statements.

As discussed above, the Company’s internal cootret financial reporting was not effective as otBber 31, 2005 due to material weaknesses that
existed as of such date in: (1) our real estatetassl lease incentive accounting processes, armi{3ournal entry approval and financial statetretose
processes.

To mitigate or remediate specified material weakasseported in our 2004 Annual Report, during 20@5formed a permanent committee to monitor
oversee the ongoing remediation of all deficienaestified in our annual assessment of our intezoatrol over financial reporting. This committeensists of
our CFO, COO and representatives from appropriasiniess and accounting functions within the Comp&egond, we designed, implemented and tested new
and enhanced accounting processes for capitaliziagest and carrying costs during lease-up aretnat leasing, development and construction césts
result, the material weakness reported in our 2004ual Report relating to capitalizing interest aadrying costs during lease-up and internal legsin
development and construction costs no longer ekiss$eof December 31, 2005. Third, we designed,@mphted and tested new and enhanced fixed asset and
lease incentive accounting processes to reasomnablye the timely start of depreciation on ceftaifding improvements, the effectiveness of fixadet accoul
reconciliations, the proper allocation of costsated parcels, the proper classification and deptiei of depreciable infrastructure costs and tloper
depreciation of newly constructed buildings durihg lease-up phase. While these changes have e@darious aspects of our real estate asset rstogu
during 2005, we still had material weaknesses vagipect to our real estate asset and lease ineextoounting processes as of December 31, 2005.

During the second quarter of 2006, to remediatematerial weakness regarding the use of and depeadgpon manually prepared spreadsheets in
accumulating and consolidating restatement adjustismecorded in connection with our historical fin&l statements, we began to record in our getexiger
and fixed asset accounting systems all of the texsient adjustments related to our amended 2003 @ eport and our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K,
which should reduce the likelihood of errors in future consolidated financial statements by leisspaur reliance upon such manually prepared sgresgts in
the financial statement close process. We expeainaplete this project before December 31, 2006.

We also plan to undertake the following overalhaties to improve our internal control over finaalkreporting. First, we are developing and
implementing a Company-wide policy and procedurasual for use by our divisional and accountingfstafended to reasonably assure consistent and
appropriate assessment and application of GAAP fifstephase of this process has focused on thgapation of formal written policies and procedungth
respect to accounting for building and tenant improents. Second, we plan to provide training foramecounting staff and employees in our varioussdinal
operating offices to educate our personnel witpeesto the accounting adjustments that were natieethistorical financial statements in our 200¢hAal
Report and in our amended 2003 Annual Report atltetonaterial weaknesses and other control defi@erin our internal control over financial repogdithat
existed as of December 31, 2004 and as of Dece&Ih&005. Third, we plan to implement improvemeatsur journal entry review and approval processes
to limit the ability of users to record and delgternal entries in our general ledger system whiobuld reduce the likelihood of potential errorsuture financia
statements. Fourth, we plan to implement revisgui@al procedures over signing of construction @it and change orders to provide reasonablezassur
that such matters are approved by management adfaggie levels in the Company. Fifth, we engageédarch firm to assist us with the process of giarChief
Accounting Officer (new position).

We have developed and implemented or are in theegsoof developing and implementing remediationgpfar the material weaknesses described above.
Our management is working closely with the audihogttee to monitor the ongoing remediation of thesgerial weaknesses.
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D 1scLosuRE C ONTROLS A ND P ROCEDURES

SEC rules also require us to maintain disclosurgrots and procedures that are designed to ensaténformation required to be disclosed in ourwain
and periodic reports filed with the SEC is recordmdcessed, summarized and reported within the piariods specified in the SEXYules and forms. As defin
in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, disclsontrols and procedures include, without limataticontrols and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us is aagiated and communicated to our management, inaduaiim CEO and CFO, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based solely ontaterial weaknesses described above, our CEO a@ddomot believe that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the end of the pextered by this Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

Information about our executive officers and dicgstand the code of ethics that applies to ourf éxecutive officer and our senior financial offises
incorporated herein by reference to the CompangdgyPStatement with respect to our annual meetfregarkholders to be held on August 3, 2006. Sem X
in Part | of this Annual Report for biographicaldmmation regarding our executive officers.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information about the compensation of our directord executive officers is incorporated hereindfgnence to the Company’s Proxy Statement with
respect to our annual meeting of stockholders tbed@ on August 3, 2006.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Information about the beneficial ownership of oun@non Stock and our equity compensation planscisrporated herein by reference to the Company’s
Proxy Statement with respect to our annual meetfregockholders to be held on August 3, 2006.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS
Information about certain relationships and relatadsactions is incorporated herein by referendhé Company’s Proxy Statement with respect to our
annual meeting of stockholders to be held on Augu006.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information about fees paid to and services praVviole our independent registered public accountimasfis incorporated herein by reference to the
Company’s Proxy Statement with respect to our ahmeting of stockholders to be held on August@®&
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
F INANCIAL S TATEMENTS AND S CHEDULES

Reference is made to the Index of Financial Statesnend Supplementary Data on page 56 for a ligte€onsolidated financial statements and schedule
included in this report.

E xHIBITS

Exhibit Description of Document

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatiorhef Company (filed as part of the Company’s CurReport on Form 8-K dated
September 25, 1997 and amended by articles supptamdiled as part of the Company’s Current Reportorm 8-K dated
October 4, 1997 and articles supplementary filepaasof the Compar's Current Report on Forn-K dated April 20, 1998

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (fitepaat of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 1fnkthe year ended
December 31, 200«

4.1 Indenture among the Operating Partnership, the @osnpnd First Union National Bank of North Carolieted as of
December 1, 1996 (filed as part of the Operatingrieeshif's Current Report on Forn-K dated December 2, 199

4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1997, dmtvthe Company and First Union National Bankjgitts agent (filed as part of
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated October 4, 199

4.3 Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 7, 2003,adights Agreement, dated as of October 7, 19%Wedmn the Company and

Wachovia Bank, N.A., as rights agent (filed as pathe Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtfar quarter ended
September 30, 200:

10.1 Second Restated Agreement of Limited Partnerslafgddas of January 1, 2000, of the Operating Pattipe(filed as part of the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20

10.2 Amendment No. 1, dated as of July 22, 2004, tSeond Restated Agreement of Limited Partnerslaitgddas of January 1, 2000, of
the Operating Partnership (filed as part of the gany s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20

10.3 Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan (itegart of the Company’s Quarterly Report on FodaQlfor the quarter ended
June 30, 200z

10.4 Form of Executive Supplemental Employment Agreenbettveen the Company and Named Executive Offidiesl @s part of the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 19

10.5 Form of warrants to purchase Common Stock of the@my issued to former shareholders of Associatggital Properties, Inc. (file
as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 19

10.6 1999 Shareholder Value Plan (filed as part of tbenffanys Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 19

10.7 2005 Shareholder Value Plan (filed as part of thenGanys Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20

10.8 Agreement among Winston-Salem Industrial, LLC, @gerating Partnership and G-T Gateway, LLC, effectis of January 28, 2005

(filed as part of the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20

10.9 Agreement among the Operating Partnership, Jofutner and Robert Goldman, effective as of Jan@8\2005 (filed as part of the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20
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Exhibit Description of Document
10.10 Agreement among the Operating Partnership, Jofutner, Robert Goldman and Henry P. Royster, ffecéve as of February
11, 2005 (filed as part of the Comp/’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20

10.11 Credit Agreement among the Operating Partnersh@gCompany, the Subsidiaries named therein andehder named therein, dated
May 1, 2006 (filed as part of the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K dated May 1, 200€

21 Schedule of subsidiaries of the Company (filedars$ f the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfee year ended
December 31, 200:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LL

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act

32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTARY DATA

Reports of Independent Registered Public AccourfEings 61

Consolidated Financial Statemer
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &0D200« 63
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Yearsfmkcember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2 64
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 20@#200: 65
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Yeaded December 31, 2005, 2004 and Z 66
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 68
Schedule I~ Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reser 11¢
Schedule II- Real Estate and Accumulated Deprecia 12C

All other schedules are omitted because they arapplicable or because the required informatidndiided in the Consolidated Financial Statements
notes thereto.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and sub#digthe “Company”) as of December 31, 2005,
and the related consolidated statements of incetonekholders’ equity, and cash flows for the yaatesl December 31, 2005. Our audit also included the
financial statement schedules as of and for the g:eded December 31, 2005 listed in the Indexeat 115, page 60. These financial statements anddiala
statement schedules are the responsibility of thaany’s management. Our responsibility is to espan opinion on the financial statements and &izdn
statement schedules based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight@d&nited States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonasdeirance about whether the financial statemeatsesr of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportinguth@unts and disclosures in the financial statesnéut audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples
used and significant estimates made by manageaemtell as evaluating the overall financial statenpeesentation. We believe that our audit proviaes
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinarficial position of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, and thetsasiutheir operations and their cash flows forybear ended December 31, 2005, in conformity wittoanting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. Also, in our opinion, such financiahment schedules, when considered in relationetdasic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whpoésent fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@snited States), the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportig of December 31, 2005, based on the criter@kstied innternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission and our report dated Jun&@ 2xpressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness @dhmpany’s internal control over financial repogtiand an adverse opinion on the effectivenesseof th
Company'’s internal control over financial reportingcause of material weaknesses.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
June 2, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Highwoods Properties, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineet of Highwoods Properties, Inc. as of Deeg@b, 2004, and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholdeeguity, and cash flows for each of the two yearthéperiod ended December 31, 2004. Our auditsiasuded the financie
statement schedules as of December 31, 2004 argda2@Dfor the years then ended listed in the Iraddtem 15, page 60. These financial statements and
schedules are the responsibility of the Companysagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopian these financial statements and schedulesibas
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBiqUnited States). Those standards require
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonadéeirance about whether the financial statemeatse® of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingu@unts and disclosures in the financial statesnét audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples
used and significant estimates made by manageaemtell as evaluating the overall financial statenpeesentation. We believe that our audits proaide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refereabove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢donsolidated financial position of Highwoods gamies,
Inc. at December 31, 2004, and the consolidatadtsesf its operations and its cash flows for eatthe two years in the period ended December 304 2in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounpnigciples. Also, in our opinion, the related firéal statement schedules, when considered in celai the
basic financial statements taken as a whole, ptéaily in all material respects the informatiost $orth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
June 2, 2006
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31

2005 2004
Assets:
Real estate assets, at c
Land $ 344,55t $ 387,65¢
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,523,84: 2,753,66'
Development in proces 28,72% 26,43¢
Land held for developmel 152,31: 175,30t
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 22,46 22,40:¢
3,071,911 3,365,47
Less— accumulated depreciatic (564,82) (569,66
Net real estate asse¢ 2,507,08: 2,795,80!
Real estate and other assets, net of accumulapeddaiation, held for sal 148,02¢ 185,77¢
Cash and cash equivalel 1,212 24,48:
Restricted cas 16,22 3,87¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,618 &hd 71, respectivel 24,20: 15,42:
Notes receivabl 9,23: 8,447
Accrued straigl-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $609 &hdl22, respectivel 60,93¢ 59,49¢
Investments in unconsolidated affilia 69,24 72,61(
Deferred financing and leasing costs, 59,487 63,53¢
Prepaid expenses and otl 13,32¢ 10,20:
Total Assets $2,908,97¢  $3,239,65:
Liabilities, Minority Interest in the Operating Par tnership and Stockholder’ Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $1,471,611  $1,572,57.
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied 127,45! 119,93!
Financing obligation 34,15¢ 65,30¢
Total Liabilities 1,633,22! 1,757,81
Minority interest in the Operating Partners 94,13« 113,73(
Stockholder Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 awtbdrshares
8 5/ 8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shégesdation preference $1,000 per share), 104, %%bes
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 anél 104,94¢ 104,94!
8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred SKagaislation preference $25 per share), 5,700,0a0&900,000
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,82@D3004, respective 142,50( 172,50(
8% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Skiayailation preference $250 per share), no shanels400,000
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,8@0D3004, respective — 100,00t
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares; 54,028,507 and 53,813,422 shares isadenligstanding at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respecti 54C 53¢
Additional paic-in capital 1,419,68: 1,416,13
Distributions in excess of net earnir (479,90)) (419,079
Accumulated other comprehensive I (2,212) (2,819
Deferred compensatic (3,936 (4,117
Total Stockholder Equity 1,181,61! 1,368,11!
Total Liabilities, Minority Interest in the Operag Partnership and Stockhold’ Equity $2,908,97¢  $3,239,65!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaé&tstents.

63



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 an8 200

Rental and other revenues

Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of assets held for L
General and administratiy

Total operating expens

Interest expense
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligation

Other income/(expense)
Interest and other incon
Settlement of bankruptcy clai
Loss on debt extinguishmer
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior

Income/(loss) before disposition of property, c-venture expense, minority interest and equity in eaings of
unconsolidated affiliates
Gains and impairments on disposition of properét,
Ca-venture expens
Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryariterest
Gains on sales and impairments of discontinuedatioers, net of minority interest, including a giiom
related party transactions of $4,816 in 2!

Net income
Dividends on preferred stou
Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveytayivalue

Net income available for common stockholder

Net income per common shar- basic:
(Loss) from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operatio
Net income
Weighted average common shares outstar— basic

Net income per common shar— diluted:
(Loss) from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operatio

Net income
Weighted average common shares outstar— diluted
Dividends declared per common sh

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanagstents.
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2005 2004 2003
$410,70: $404,13.  $430,04
146,92  143,16¢ 148,19
114,49 113,41t  119,80°
7,581 — —
33,06: 41,48 25,73¢
302,060 298,07 293,74
99,30¢  10549.  118,84(
3,372 3,69¢ 4,39¢
5,03: 9,99¢ 17,69:
107,70¢ 119,18t  140,92¢
7,11z 6,14: 5,32z
— 14,43t —
(453  (12,45) (14,659
— — 13,94(
6,65¢ 8,12( 4,60¢
7,58¢ (5,008) (15)
14,17: 21,63¢ 9,55:
— — (3,367)
112 611 2,07¢
9,301 7,39¢ 4,76(
31,17: 24,63 13,00:
8,061 14,15; 19,82¢
23,22¢ 2,78¢ 9,817
31,28; 16,94( 29,64
62,45¢ 41,57 42,64
(27,239 (30,859 (30,857
(4,277) — —
$ 30,94¢ $1072¢ $ 11,79;
$ (00) $ (012 $ (0.39
0.5¢ 32 0.5¢
$ 056 $ 020 $ 022
53,73: 53,32 52,95(
$ (00) $ (012 $ (0.39
0.5¢ 0.3 0.5¢
$ 056 $ 020 $ 022
53,73: 53,32: 52,95(
$ 17 $ 17C $ 1.8¢
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Balance at December 31, 20C

Issuance of Common Stock, 1

Conversion of Common Units to Common St
Common Stock dividenc

Preferred Stock dividenc

Adjustment to minority interest of unitholders retOperating Partnersh
Issuance of restricted stock,

Fair market value of options grant
Amortization of equit-based compensati
Repurchase of Common Sto

Other comprehensive incor

Net income

Balance at December 31, 20C

Issuance of Common Stock, 1

Conversion of Common Units to Common St
Common Stock dividenc

Preferred Stock dividenc

Adjustment to minority interest of unitholders retOperating Partnersh
Issuance of restricted stock, 1

Fair market value of options grant
Amortization of equit-based compensatic
Other comprehensive incor

Net income

Balance at December 31, 20C

Issuance of Common Stock, 1

Common Stock dividenc

Preferred Stock dividenc

Adjustment to minority interest of unitholders retOperating Partnersh
Issuance of restricted stock,

Redemption of Preferred Sto

Fair market value of options grant
Amortization of equit-based compensatic
Other comprehensive incor

Net income

Balance at December 31, 20C

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands, except share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 an8 200

Accumulated

Deferred Distributions
Number of Additional Other
Common Compen- Compre- in Excess
Common Series A SeriesB  Series D Paid-In hensive of Net
Shares Stock  Preferred Preferred Preferred _ Capital sation Loss Earnings Total
53,400,19 $ 534 $104,94! $ 172,50 $ 100,000 $1,406,97: $ (4,03) $ (9,209 $ (251,23) $1,520,47
99,03¢ 1 — — — 1,97t — — — 1,97¢
318,24¢ 3 — — — 7,824 — — — 7,821
— — — — — — — — (99,167) (99,167)
— — — — — — — — (30,857) (30,857)
— — — — — (2,859 — — — (2,859
103,52( 1 — — — 3,32¢ (3,329 —_ —_ —_
— — — — — 312 (319 — — —
— — — — — — 3,204 — — 3,204
(446,600 (4) — — — (9,279) — — —_ (9.27%)
— — — — — — — 5,565¢ — 5,55¢
_ — — — — — — — 42,64¢ 42,64¢
53,474,40 53t 104,94! 172,50 100,00  1,408,27 (4,469 (3,650 (338,604 1,439,53
173,31 2 — — — 3,27C — — — 3,27
54,30¢ — — — — 1,404 — — — 1,40¢
— — — — — — — — (91,199 (91,199
— — — — — — — — (30,857) (30,857)
— — — — — (88%) — — — (889)
111,39¢ 1 — — — 2,80€ (2,807 — — —
— — — — — 1,25¢€ (1,256 — — —
— — — — — 4,421 — — 4,421
— — — — — — — 83€ — 83€
— — — — — — — — 41,577 41,577
53,813,42 $ 53¢ $104,94' $ 172,50 $ 100,000 $1,416,131 $ (4,11)) $ (2,819 $ (419,079 $1,368,11
109,52¢ 1 — — — 1,64¢ — — —_ 1,65(
— — — — — — — — (91,777) 91,777)
— — — — — — — (27,239 (27,239
— — — — — (4,916 — — — (4,916
105,55’ 1 — — — 1,31¢€ (1,319 — — —
— — — (30,0000 (100,000 4,272 — — (4,272 (130,001
— — — — — 1,232 (1,239 — — —
— — — — — — 2,72¢ — — 2,72¢
— — — — — — — 602 — 60z
— — — — — — — — 62,45¢ 62,45¢
54,02850 $  54C $104,94' $142500 $ —  $1,419,68. $ (3,936 $ (2,212 $ (479,90 $1,181,61

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanagstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 an8 200

Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:

Depreciatior
Amortization of lease commissio
Amortization of lease incentive
Impairment of assets held for L
Amortization of equit-based compensatic
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Loss on debt extinguishmer
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior
Gains and impairments on disposition of properét,
Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Change in financing obligatior
Change in c-venture obligatior
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &dfiés
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Accounts payable accrued expenses and other fiab
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists
Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Repayments from unconsolidated affilia
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated atitiés
Net repayments of notes receiva
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Other investing activitie
Net cash provided by investing activit|
Financing activities:
Distributions paid on common stock and common
Settlement of interest rate swap agreen
Dividends paid on preferred sto
Net proceeds from the sale of common si
Repurchase of common un
Redemption of preferred sto
Borrowings on revolving loar
Repayment of revolving loar
Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay:
Repayment of mortgages and notes pay
Borrowings on financing obligatior
Payments on financing obligatio
Payments on venture obligatior
Additions to deferred financing cos
Payments on debt extinguishme
Net cash used in financing activiti
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanagstents.

66

2005 2004 2003

(Revised- See Note 1
$ 62,45¢ $ 41,577 $ 42,64¢
110,85: 117,60¢ 125,95(
15,60¢ 16,58( 17,46¢
87¢ 96€ 79€
7,58 1,77¢ —
2,72¢ 4,421 3,20¢
3,37 3,69¢ 4,39¢
702 757 1,68¢
458 12,457 14,65:
— — (16,30))
(39,926 (24,749 (20,29¢)
3,281 1,34¢ 1,35C
(9,309 (7,399 (4,760)
212 2,71¢ 3,72(
— — (987)
8,96t 6,77t 4,55¢
(8,76¢) 32 1,087
(1,498 481 9,147
(7,49¢) (7,401 (8,840)
4,03( 94C (12,916
154,13 172,58: 166,56¢
(167,76) (126,99Y (132,07)
370,93: 174,13: 245,47
4,81¢ 9,15¢ 3,28¢
4,39¢ 1,39¢ 3,56:
— (9,86¢€) —
(11,467 362 (1,325
200,92 48,18¢ 118,92
(101,48 (101,649 (111,804
— — 3,86¢
(27,239 (30,857 (30,852
1,65(C 3,272 1,97¢
(11,31 (1,165) (19,077)
(130,00() — —
152,50( 403,50( 279,50(
(132,00() (288,50() (282,00()
38,28 15,49( 247,50(
(167,07Y) (140,37%) (321,25()
(775) (63,187 (609)
— — (26,229
(621) (2,067) (4,337)
(25E5) (12,457 (16,28:)
(378,32 (217,98 (279,58)
(23,270 2,78¢ 5,90(
24,48: 21,69¢ 15,79¢
$ 1,212 $ 2448. $ 21,69
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
(in thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 an8 200

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

2005 2004 2003
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capital $100,76: $106,44' $123,70:

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:
The following table summarizes the net assets aedldisposed subject to mortgage notes payabletued non-cash transactions:

2005 2004 2003
Assets:
Net real estate asst $(20,674) $(147,20) $ 70€
Restricted cas 2,50( — —
Accounts receivabl 10 — (1,797
Notes receivabl — 1,05¢ 2,79¢
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 1,55: 11,13: 4,371
Deferred leasing costs, r (61) 26C (149)
Prepaid and othe (26€) (104) 85E
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (434) — —
$(17,3749 $(134,86() $6,797
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 7,330 $(13581) $ —
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied 12,27° 95¢ 6,792
Financing obligatior (30,219 — —
$(10,617) $(134,86() $6,797
Minority Interest and Stockholders’ Equity: $ (6,769 $ — $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanagstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES
Description of the Company

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdidsted subsidiaries (the “Company”), is a fullytagrated, self-administered and self-managed equity
real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that operatethe southeastern and midwestern United Statesf December 31, 2005, the Company’s wholly owned
assets included: 378 in-service office, industiiad retail properties; 96 apartment units; 898sofeindeveloped land suitable for future developinend an
additional six properties under development.

The Company conducts substantially all of its atiéig through, and substantially all of its intdeeim the properties are held directly or indingdty,
Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership (the “Opergtiartnership”). The Company is the sole genenghpaof the Operating Partnership. At
December 31, 2005, the Company owned 100.0% giréferred partnership interests (“Preferred Unigsiyl 90.8% of the common partnership interests
(“Common Units”) in the Operating Partnership. Lied partners (including certain officers and dioestof the Company) own the remaining Common Units.
Each Common Unit is redeemable for the cash vdloa® share of the Company’s common stock, $.0valae (the “Common Stock”), or, at the Company’s
option, one share of Common Stock. In 2005, the @om redeemed 395,148 Common Units in cash an&@3&ommon Units in connection with the sale of
property (see Note 8), which increased the pergentd Common Units owned by the Company from 89a8%ecember 31, 2004 to 90.8% at
December 31, 2005. In 2004, the Company redeemeaisim 46,588 Common Units and converted 54,308 Gomidmits to shares of Common Stock, which
increased the percentage of Common Units owneddbmpany from 89.5% at December 31, 2003 to 8&B8Recember 31, 2004. Preferred Units in the
Operating Partnership were issued to the Compangnnection with the Company’s Preferred Stockroffgs in 1997 and 1998 (the “Preferred Stock”). Tiee
proceeds raised from each of the Preferred Steclarsces were contributed by the Company to theafipgrPartnership in exchange for the PreferreddJiiihe
terms of each series of Preferred Units paralleltéhms of the respective Preferred Stock as tdetins, liquidation and redemption rights as matly f
described in Note 9.

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Compaa prepared in accordance with U.S. Generallyepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). The
presentation in the Consolidated Statements of Esirs of operating cash flows for the years endedember 31, 2004 and 2003 have been revised foroon
to the current period presentation by beginnindwiét income, rather than income from continuingrapons. As more fully described below and in Nateand
12, as required by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting far tnpairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” /S No. 144"), the Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2004 and the Consolidated Stateméhisame for the years ended December 31, 2002808 were reclassified from previously reported
amounts to reflect in real estate and other assddisfor sale and in discontinued operations tlsetasand operations for those properties soldldrfhesale in
2005 which qualified for discontinued operationsgemtation.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include ther&ing Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries thiwde subsidiaries in which the Company owns a
majority voting interest with the ability to contraperations of the subsidiaries and where no aygdreeto or other important rights have been grdno the
minority stockholders. In accordance with StatentérRosition 78-9, “Accounting for Investments ied Estate Ventures,” the Company consolidates
partnerships, joint ventures and limited liabiltlgmpanies when the Company controls the major tipgrand financial policies of the entity througlajority
ownership or in its capacity as general partnenanaging member. The Company does not consolidéiteee where the other interest holders have inguar
rights, including the right to approve decisiongt@wumber the entities with debt and acquire gratie of properties. In addition, the Company cadatgs thos
entities, if any, where the Company is deemed tthegrimary beneficiary in a variable interesttgras defined by FASB Interpretation No. 46 (s=d
December 2003) “Consolidation of Variable Intefstities” (“FIN 46(R)")). All significant intercomany transactions and accounts have been eliminated.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordamith GAAP requires management to make estimatdsassumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying nétetsial results could differ from those estimates.

Minority Interest in the Operating Partnership

Minority interest in the accompanying Consolidafédancial Statements relates to the common owneisterests in the Operating Partnership owned by
various individuals and entities other than the @any. As of December 31, 2005, the minority inteieshe Operating Partnership consisted of appnaxély
5.45 million Common Units. Minority interest in timet income of the Operating Partnership is compbteapplying the weighted average percentage of
Common Units not owned by the Company during théogegas a percent of the total number of outstag@ommon Units) to the Operating Partnership’s net
income after deducting distributions on Preferretitd) The result is the amount of minority interespense (or income) recorded for the period. bfitawh,
when a minority unitholder redeems a Common Uniafehare of Common Stock or cash, the minoritgrast is reduced and the Company’s share in the
Operating Partnership is increased. At the endofi @eporting period, the Company determines theuarthat represents the minority unitholders’ shafrthe
net assets (at book value) of the Operating Pattigeand compares this amount to the minority @gebalance that resulted from transactions duhageriod
involving minority interest. The Company adjusts thinority interest liability to the computed shafenet assets with an offsetting adjustment toGbenpany’s
paid in capital.

Following is the minority interest in the net inceraf the Operating Partnership as reflected irtbmpany’s Consolidated Statements of Income:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Amount shown as minority interest in continuing @i®ns $ 11z $ 611 $2,07¢
Amount related to income from discontinued operat (865) (1,637 (2,495
Amount related to gain on sale of discontinued apens (2,52¢) (329) (929)

Total minority interest in net income of the OpéergtPartnershi $(3,287)  $(1,34F)  $(1,350

Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded atrmbstated at cost less accumulated depreci®Emvations, replacements and other expendituats th
improve or extend the life of an asset are capidliand depreciated over their estimated usefes ligxpenditures for ordinary maintenance and repae
charged to operating expense as incurred. Depi@tiatcomputed using the straight-line method dhierestimated useful life of 40 years for buildirand
depreciable land infrastructure costs, 15 yearstidding improvements and five to seven yearddioniture, fixtures and equipment. Tenant improvataere
amortized using the straight-line method over atifixed terms of the respective leases, which galyeare from 3 to 10 years.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued

Expenditures directly related to the developmenwit @mstruction of real estate assets are includeet real estate assets and are stated at dbst in
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s cagitadn policy on development properties is in adeoce with SFAS No. 67, “Accounting for Costs amel t
Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Propefti8FAS No. 34, “Capitalization of Interest Costarid SFAS No. 58, “Capitalization of Interest Ciost
Financial Statements That Include Investments Actamlifor by the Equity Method.” Development expémidis include pre-construction costs essentidi¢o t
development of properties, development and cortsbrucosts, interest costs, real estate taxesjesland related costs and other costs incurredgithie period
of development. Interest and other carrying costcapitalized until the building is ready forititended use. The Company considers a construgt@act as
substantially completed and held available for peeicy upon the completion of tenant improvemenisnb later than one year from cessation of major
construction activity. The Company ceases capéttin on the portion substantially completed anclipéed or held available for occupancy, and cap#alonly
those costs associated with the portion under nget&in.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofpemties are included in deferred leasing costsamadtated at cost in the Consolidated BalancetSHEee
Company capitalizes initial direct costs relatedtsdeasing efforts in accordance with SFAS No:‘Adcounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Aisded
with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Rict Costs of Leases.” All leasing commissions paithird parties for new leases or lease renewals a
capitalized. Internal leasing costs include prifgasompensation, benefits and other costs suchge fees related to leasing activities that acarired in
connection with successfully securing leases orptbperties. Capitalized leasing costs are amattimea straight-line basis over the initial fixednhs of the
respective leases, which generally are from 3 tgelds. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, gross @eféeasing costs were $87.7 million and $107. 2ioni)l
respectively, and accumulated amortization was%84llion and $53.8 million, respectively. Estimdteosts related to unsuccessful activities are resgx as
incurred. If the Company’s assumptions regardimgsiinccessful efforts of leasing are incorrectréselting adjustments could impact earnings.

Upon the acquisition of real estate, the Compasgsees the fair value of acquired tangible assetsas land, buildings and tenant improvements,
intangible assets such as above and below madstdeacquired-in place leases and other identiftadgible assets and assumed liabilities in atamee with
SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” The Compalfgcates the purchase price to the acquired aasdtassumed liabilities based on their relative fa
values. The Company assesses and considers fa@ baked on estimated cash flow projections thila@auiappropriate discount and/or capitalizatiotesaas wel
as available market information. The fair valuehef tangible assets of an acquired property corssitie value of the property as if it were vacant.

Above and below market leases acquired are recatair fair value. Fair value is calculated zes present value of the difference between (1) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to eagleice lease and (2) management’s estimate of faikeh lease rates for each corresponding in-pleasel,
using a discount rate that reflects the risks aatet with the leases acquired and measured gperied equal to the remaining term of the leasabmve-
market leases and the initial term plus the termmyf below-market fixed rate renewal options fdobhemarket leases. The capitalized abowarket lease value
are amortized as a reduction of base rental reveneiethe remaining term of the respective leaséstiae capitalized below-market lease values amrtizad as
an increase to base rental revenue over the remgai@im of the respective leases and any beloweharition periods. If a tenant vacates its spaie f its
contractual expiration date, any unamortized baas@djusted through rental revenue.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued

The value of in-place leases is based on the Coyp'panaluation of the specific characteristics ale tenant’s lease. Factors considered includmatss
of carrying costs during hypothetical expectedéeas periods, current market conditions and casexecute similar leases. In estimating carryingissahe
Company includes real estate taxes, insurance thied operating expenses and estimates of lostlseaittanarket rates during the expected lease-updser
depending on local market conditions. In estimatagts to execute similar leases, the Company dersstenant improvements, leasing commissionsegd |
and other related expenses. The value glate leases is amortized to depreciation and &@atidn expense over the remaining term of theeetye leases. If
tenant vacates its space prior to its contractgaration date, any unamortized balance of itsteelantangible asset is expensed.

The value of a tenant relationship is based orCitrapany’s overall relationship with the respectimeant. Factors considered include the tenanttditcre
quality and expectations of lease renewals. Theevaf a tenant relationship is amortized to exp@vse the initial term and any renewal periods rdiin the
respective leases. Based on the Company’s acquisisince the adoption of SFAS No. 141 and SFASINM®, the Company has deemed tenant relationahips t
be immaterial and has not allocated any amourttsigantangible asset. The Company will evaluagséhitems in future transactions.

Real estate and leasehold improvements are ckdsifi long-lived assets held for sale or as lorgglassets to be held for use. Real estate isf@dsas
held for sale when the criteria set forth in SFA& 144 are satisfied; this determination requireaagement to make estimates and assumptions, imglud
assessing the probability that potential salestations may or may not occur. Actual results califfgr from those assumptions. In accordance BEAS
No. 144, the Company records assets held for sdedower of the carrying amount or estimated ¥alue. Fair value of assets held for sale is kgutne
estimated or contracted sales price with a potelntiger, less costs to sell. The impairment loghésamount by which the carrying amount exceed®gtimate:
fair value. With respect to assets classified dd fog use, if events or changes in circumstansesh as a significant decline in occupancy and ghamuse,
indicate that the carrying value may be impairedinapairment analysis is performed. Such analysisists of determining whether the asset’s carrgimgunt
will be recovered from its undiscounted estimatgdrie operating cash flows, including estimateddied cash flows. These cash flows are estimateddan a
number of assumptions that are subject to econamdcmarket uncertainties including, among othezmahd for space, competition for tenants, changes i
market rental rates and costs to operate each pyoffehe carrying amount of a held for use asseteeds the sum of its undiscounted future opeyaind
residual cash flows, an impairment loss is recorfdethe difference between estimated fair valuéhefasset and the net carrying amount. The Company
generally estimates the fair value of assets f@ldge by using discounted cash flow analysispmesinstances, appraisal information may be aveilabhd is
used in addition to the discounted cash flow anslyss the factors used in generating these cassfare difficult to predict and are subject taifetevents that
may alter the Company’s assumptions, the discouamelébr undiscounted future operating and residast flows estimated by the Company in its impairme
analyses or those established by appraisal magenathieved and the Company may be required tgném future impairment losses on its propertidd far
sale and held for use.

Sales of Real Estate

The Company accounts for sales of real estatedordance with SFAS No. 66. For sales transactiogstimg the requirements of SFAS No. 66 for full
profit recognition, the related assets and liab#itare removed from the balance sheet and thiamesgain or loss is recorded in the period th@saction closes.
For sales transactions that do not meet the aiferifull profit recognition, the Company accoufasthe transactions in accordance with the mestapeecified
in SFAS No. 66. For sales transactions with comtiginvolvement after the sale, if the continuingalvement with the property is limited by the terof the
sales contract, profit is recognized at the timeadé and is reduced by the maximum exposure sorédated to the nature of the continuing involvatm8ales to
entities in which the Company has or receives #rést are accounted for in accordance with paséikd accounting provisions as set forth in SFAS6%o

71



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued

For sales transactions that do not meet saleierésrset forth in SFAS No. 66, the Company evahitite nature of the continuing involvement, inoigd
put and call provisions, if present, and accouotgte transaction as a financing arrangementjtgbéring arrangement, leasing arrangement or aiternate
method of accounting rather than as a sale, basétenature and extent of the continuing involvetn8ome transactions may have numerous forms of
continuing involvement. In those cases, the Comphatgrmines which method is most appropriate basdatie substance of the transaction.

If the Company has an obligation to repurchasetbperty at a higher price or at a future indeteable value (such as fair market value), or it gontges
the return of the buyer’s investment or a returtita@t investment for an extended period, the Compacounts for such transaction as a financingsretion. If
the Company has an option to repurchase the psoaea higher price and it is likely it will exesd this option, the transaction is accounted fa fisancing
transaction. For transactions treated as financihgsCompany records the amounts received fromlyer as a financing obligation and continueseegkthe
property and related accounts recorded on its bddkes results of operations of the property, nedxgfenses other than depreciation (net operatoane), are
reflected as “interest expense” on the financinligabion. If the transaction includes an obligatmmoption to repurchase the asset at a highee paidditional
interest is recorded to accrete the liability te tepurchase price. For options or obligationgpurchase the asset at fair market value at thefeeakch reportin
period, the balance of the liability is adjustedetpial the current fair value to the extent falueaexceeds the original financing obligation. Toeeresponding
debit or credit will be recorded to a related distioaccount and the revised debt discount is amsattover the expected term until termination ofapgon or
obligation. If it is unlikely such option will bexercised, the transaction is accounted for unded#posit method or profgharing method. If the Company has
obligation or option to repurchase at a lower pribe transaction is accounted for as a leasirangament. At such time as these repurchase obligag¢ixpire, a
sale will be recorded and gain recognized.

If the Company retains an interest in the buyer@nodides certain rent guarantees or other fornmipport where the maximum exposure to loss exceeds
the gain, the Company accounts for such transaasam profit-sharing arrangement. For transacti@ated as profit-sharing arrangements, the Compaoords
a profit-sharing obligation for the amount of eguibntributed by the other partner and continudsetep the property and related accounts recordets dbooks.
The results of operations of the property, netqplemses other than depreciation (net operatingriegpare allocated to the other partner for theicentage
interest and reflected as “co-venture expensefiénGompany’s Consolidated Financial Statementitlme periods, a sale is recorded and profitéegaized
when the remaining maximum exposure to loss isaedibelow the amount of gain deferred.

Lease Incentives

The Company accounts for lease incentive costs;iwdiie payments made to or on behalf of a tenasut &iscentive to sign the lease, in accordance with
FASB Technical Bulletin (FTB) 88-1, “Issues Relatito Accounting for Leases.” These costs are cigsthin deferred leasing costs and amortized stmaaght-
line basis over the respective lease terms asuatied of rental revenues.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued
Discontinued Operations

Properties that are sold or classified as heldéte are classified as discontinued operationsdéordance with SFAS No. 144 and EITF Issue No. 83-1
“Applying the Conditions of Paragraph 42 of FASEt8ment No. 144 in Determining Whether to Reposcbntinued Operations,&ffective beginning in 200!
provided that (1) the operations and cash flowthefproperty will be eliminated from the ongoingeogtions of the Company and (2) the Company willhave
any significant continuing involvement in the oge@as of the property after it is sold. Interesperse is included in discontinued operations ifrétated loan
securing the sold property is paid off or assumethb buyer in connection with the sale. If thegendy is sold to a joint venture in which the Compaetains ai
interest, the property will not be accounted foratiscontinued operation due to the Company’sifségnt ongoing interest in the operations throitghoint
venture interest. If the Company is retained torjghe property management, leasing and/or otheiiefor the property owner after the sale, th@ery
generally will be accounted for as discontinuedrapens because the expected cash flows relatées® management and leasing activities will géiyarat be
significant in comparison to the cash flows frora groperty prior to sale.

Investments in Joint Ventures

The Company accounts for its investments in undafeted affiliates under the equity method of acting if the Company exercises significant
influence, but does not control the major operating financial policies of the entity regarding embering the entities with debt and the acquisitodisposal
of properties. These investments are initially rded at cost, as investments in unconsolidatetieaé, and are subsequently adjusted for the Cogipahare
of earnings and cash contributions and distribstidio the extent the Company’s cost basis is diffethan the basis reflected at the joint ventevell the basis
difference is amortized over the life of the rethéessset and included in the Company’s share otyeguearnings of unconsolidated affiliates.

From time to time, the Company contributes reatesassets to a joint venture in exchange for ébgmation of cash and an equity interest in the went
The Company assesses its continuing involvemethieifoint venture and accounts for the transaaimsording to the nature and extent of the involuetmié
substantially all the risks and rewards of owngrdtave transferred, a gain is recognized to thengxif the third party investor’s interest and @@mpany
accounts for its interest in the joint venture urttie equity method of accounting as an unconswdlaffiliate as described in the preceding parayré
substantially all the risks and rewards of owngrsifithe property have not transferred, the trathmadés accounted for as a financing or profit-shar
arrangement, leasing arrangement or other altematkod of accounting other than as a sale, asresbjoy SFAS No. 66. See also “Sales of Real Estdteve.

Additionally, the joint ventures will frequently bmw money on their own behalf to finance the asiiain of, and/or leverage the return upon, the
properties being acquired by the joint ventureododild or acquire additional buildings. Such berirags are typically on a norecourse or limited recourse ba
The Company generally is not liable for the delitésgoint ventures, except to the extent of tr@@any’s equity investment, unless the Companydivastly
guaranteed any of that debt (see Note 15 for fudisgussion). In most cases, the Company and/goiitt venture partners are required to guaractiseomary
limited exceptions on non-recourse loans.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued
Rental and Other Revenues

In accordance with GAAP, rental revenue is recogphizn a straight-line basis over the terms of éspective leases. This means that, with respect to
particular lease, actual amounts billed in accotdamith the lease during any given period may lpédii or lower than the amount of rental revenuegeized
for the period. Straight-line rental revenue is aoenced when the tenant assumes possession oatfesllpremises. Accrued straight-line rents rectdvab
represents the amount by which straight-line renebaénue exceeds rents currently billed in accardavith lease agreements. Termination fees argnrézed as
revenue when the following four conditions are nagfiully executed lease termination agreement kas blelivered; the tenant has vacated the spacantbunt
of the fee is determinable; and collectibility b&tfee is reasonably assured.

Property operating cost recoveries from tenantgdet reimbursements) are determined on a leadealsg-basis. The most common types of cost
reimbursements in the Company’s leases are comneamnaaintenance (“CAM”) and real estate taxes, wliee tenant pays its pro-rata share of operatidg a
administrative expenses and real estate taxes.

The computation of property operating cost recowmecpme from tenants is complex and involves numgjadgments, including the interpretation of
terms and other tenant lease provisions. Leasasoargiform in dealing with such cost reimbursetseand there are many variations in the computahtamy
tenants make monthly fixed payments of CAM, restestaxes and other cost reimbursement itemsCbingpany records these payments as income each 1
The Company makes adjustments, positive or negatvepst recovery income to adjust the recordeduats to the Company'’s best estimate of the final
amounts to be billed and collected with respethéocost reimbursements. After the end of the clegear, the Company computes each tenant’'sdos!
reimbursements and, after considering amountsipattie tenants during the year, issues a bill editfor the appropriate amount to the tenant. differences
between the amounts billed less previously recepaganents and the accrual adjustment are recoglati@ases or decreases to cost recovery incoree thie
final bills are prepared, usually beginning in Maend completed by mid-year. The net amounts ofsais adjustments have not been material in atiyeof
years presented.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancarfayunts that may become uncollectible in the &utihe Company’s receivable balance is comprised
primarily of rents and operating cost recoveries fltom tenants as well as accrued straight-linesresteivable. The Company regularly evaluatesittegiuacy
of its allowance for doubtful accounts. The evabhmprimarily consists of reviewing past due acddwalances and considering such factors as thét cpeality
of the tenant, historical trends of the tenant andther debtor, current economic conditions arghgles in customer payment terms. Additionally, wépect to
tenants in bankruptcy, the Company estimates thea&d recovery through bankruptcy claims and ase the allowance for amounts deemed uncollectible
the Company’s assumptions regarding the colleiitif accounts receivable and accrued straighg-ents receivable prove incorrect, the Companydcou
experience write-offs of accounts receivable oraed straight-line rents receivable in excessoditowance for doubtful accounts.

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers highly liquid investmentdwaib original maturity of three months or less whparchased to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes security deposits fobmpany’s commercial properties and constructidaited escrows. In addition, the Company maintains
escrows and reserves, debt service, real estais tanxd property insurance established pursuaettailc mortgage financing arrangements and to uovaber a
secured property.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued
Income Taxes

The Company has elected and expects to contingealify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86thefinternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”). A corporate REIT is a legal entityttholds real estate assets and, through the payhdividends to stockholders, is permitted toueel or avoid
the payment of federal and state income taxeseatdtporate level. To maintain qualification asER the Company is required to distribute to itsckholders
at least 90.0% of its annual REIT taxable incomxe|ugling capital gains. Continued qualificationseREIT depends on the Company’s ability to satikéy
dividend distribution tests, stock ownership regmients and various other qualification tests pitesdrin the Code. In June 1994, the Company foranttkable
REIT subsidiary, as permitted under the Code, tiinouhich it conducts certain business activitidse Taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to federal state
income taxes on its net taxable income and the @ampecords provisions for such taxes, to the éxtsuired, based on its income recognized fomifine
statement purposes, including the effects of tempadifferences between such income and the amreongnized for tax purposes.

The tax basis of the Company’s assets and liaslitias approximately $2.2 billion and $1.5 billieespectively, at December 31, 2005 and was
approximately $2.4 billion and $1.6 billion, respeely, at December 31, 2004.

No provision has been made for federal and statenie taxes during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2003 because the Company qualified
as a REIT, distributed the necessary amount obtaxacome and, therefore, incurred no income t@ease during the periods. In addition, no providias
been required for federal and state income tax#smespect to the Company’s taxable REIT subsidi@gause it has had no taxable income for financial
reporting purposes since its formation. If the Campdecided to sell certain properties acquirearior years, the Company would incur a corporatell¢éax
under Section 1374 of the Internal Revenue Codéeibuilt-in gain relating to such properties usleach properties were sold in a tax-free exchander
Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code or andéxefree or tax-deferred transaction. This sitirabnly applies to assets originally acquired tiyto the
merger with J.C. Nichols Company in July 1998 onirlike-kind exchanges of those assets. The taru8dction 1374 will not apply to any of such assil
owned by the Company after July 2008.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Management of the Company performs ongoing credituations of its tenants. As of December 31, 2805 properties (excluding apartment units) to
which the Company holds title and has 100.0% ownrignsghts (the “Wholly Owned Properties”) were ded to 2,182 tenants in 12 geographic locations. Th
Company'’s tenants engage in a wide variety of lassies. No single tenant of the Company’s Wholly @WMaroperties currently generates more than 5.7% of
the Company'’s consolidated revenues. In additiemescribed in Note 15, in connection with varices estate sales transactions, the Company haargeed
to the buyers the rental income during variousriiperiods due from Capital One Services, Inculsigliary of Capital One Financial Services, InseT
maximum exposure under these guarantees relatedpital One Services, Inc. aggregated $8.4 mitibDecember 31, 2005.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued
Stock Compensation

The Company generally grants stock options foradinumber of shares to employees with an exepeise equal to the fair value of the shares atite
of grant. As described in Note 14, the Companytetkto follow Accounting Principles Board (“APB”)pnion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and related interpretations in accowgnfor its stock options issued through Decembe2802. During 2002, the Financial Accounting Stmdd
Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting Btock-Based Compensation — Transition and Diseyswhich provides methods of transition to the
value based method of accounting for stock-basealame compensation. This standard is effectivdifancial statements issued for fiscal years hagm
after December 15, 2002. The Company elected th&pprtive method as defined by SFAS No. 148 faooptissued on or after January 1, 2003.

The fair values of the options granted were esthat the grant dates using the following weigl#teerage assumptions:

2005 2004 2003
Risk free interest ral 4.1(% 3.81% 3.7%
Common stock dividend yiel 6.45% 6.5% 11.11%
Expected volatility 16.3(% 16.02% 16.32%
Average expected option life (yea 6.C 9.2 10.C

Had the compensation cost for options issued befaneary 1, 2003 been determined based on thedfaies at the grant dates for awards granted betwee
January 1, 1995 and December 31, 2002 consistémtid provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Companysimeome and net income per share would have
decreased to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Net income available for common stockhold— as reportet $30,94¢ $10,72¢ $11,79°
Add: Stock option expense included in reportedimsime 484 341(2) 1,24¢41)
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined ufaievalue recognition method for all awai (727) (784 (1) (1,839 (1)
Pro forma net income available for common stockécd $30,70¢ $10,28: $11,20¢
Basic net income per common sh- as reportel $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2 $ 0.2
Basic net income per common sh- pro forma $ 0.57 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.21
Diluted net income per common shi- as reportet $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2C $ 0.2Z

$ 0.1¢ $ 0.21

Diluted net income per common shi- pro forma $ 0.57

(1) Amounts include the effects of accounting for dand equivalent right:
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued
Stock Compensation - Continued

Awards denominated in cash amounts granted undeCdimpany’s Shareholder Value Plans are accouatadsing variable plan accounting. See Note 6
for further discussion.

Restricted Stock Grants

The Company generally makes annual grants of tiasedh restricted stock under its Stock Option Riatstofficers and other employees. Restrictedkstoc
issued prior to 2005 generally vests 50.0% threes/ffom the date of grant and the remaining 5i0&oyears from date of grant. Shares of tibesed restricte
stock that were issued in 2005 will vest one-tloindthe third anniversary, one-third on the foumhigersary and one-third on the fifth anniversafryhe date of
grant. Shares of time-based restricted stock a@rded at market value on date of grant and aneattia expense over the vesting periods.

During 2005, the Company also issued shares afatest stock under its Stock Option Plan that wibt if the Company total shareholder return exce:
the average total returns of a selected group &f p@mpanies over a three-year period. If the Caoyipdotal shareholder return does not exceed avehage
total returns, none of the total return-based iestt stock will vest. The fair value of each sstiare of total return-based restricted stock agthat date was
determined by an outside consultant to be appraein@5% of the market value of a share of CommtmrtiSat that date. The total grant date fair valfithese
shares of total-return based restricted stockiisgo@mortized to expense on a straight-line methazt the three-year period.

During 2005, the Company also issued shares obpeence-based restricted stock under its Stocko®®lan that will vest pursuant to company-wide
performance-based criteria. For 2005, the perfonadrased criteria was based on whether or not tinep@ny meets or exceeds four operating and finkincia
goals established under its Strategic Managemant Bl the end of 2007. To the extent actual perfimee equals or exceeds threshold performance goals,
portion of shares of performance-based restridieckghat vest can range from 50% to 100%. If dgpeaformance does not meet such threshold goals of
the performancéased restricted stock will vest. Such grants amegbamortized to expense during the period froamgdate to December 31, 2007, adjusting
the expected level of vesting that will occur atttbate.

Up to 100% of additional total return-based restdcstock and up to 50% of additional performanasehbl restricted stock may be issued at the ertkof t
three-year period if actual performance exceedsiceexceptional levels of performance. Such addil shares, if any, would be fully vested whenésk The
Company will also accrue and record expense fdn sdditional shares during the three-year periatiecextent issuance of the additional sharespsard
based on current and projected actual performance.

Dividends on shares of restricted stock that dovest are accounted for as compensation expense.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Companypssed to the effect of interest rate changes. Tdragany limits its exposure by following established
risk management policies and procedures, incluthiegise of derivatives. To mitigate its exposurartexpected changes in interest rates, derivasiresised
primarily to hedge against rate movements on th@@2my’s variable rate debt. The Company is requoa@cognize all derivatives as either assetgbilities
in its Consolidated Balance Sheets and to meaBosetinstruments at fair value. Changes in famealill affect either stockholders’ equity or netome
depending on whether the derivative instrumentifjealas a hedge for accounting purposes.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLicIEs - Continued

To determine the fair value of derivative instrutsethe Company uses a variety of methods and gi&ma that are based on market conditions and risk
existing at each balance sheet date. For the ragdfrfinancial instruments, including most derivat, standard market conventions and techniques &si
discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing medetplacement cost and termination cost are wsddtermine fair value. All methods of assessimgviaue
result in a general approximation of value, anchstalue may never actually be realized.

Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdeith SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share” (“SFA& 1128"). Basic earnings per share is
computed by dividing net income available for conrmnstockholders by the weighted average numberareshof Common Stock outstanding. Diluted earnings
per share is computed by dividing net income afségléor common stockholders plus minority interiesthe operating partnership by the weighted awerag
number of shares of Common Stock plus the dilutiffect of options, warrants and convertible se@sibutstanding, including Common Units, using the
“treasury stock” method. Earnings per share datedsired for all periods for which an income sta¢at or summary of earnings is presented, including
summaries outside the basic financial statements.

Impact of Newly Adopted and Issued Accounting Stanards

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpratatio. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Eiett’ (“VIES”), revised December 2003 (“FIN 46
(R)"), the primary objective of which is to providgidance on the identification of entities for winicontrol is achieved through means other thaimgatghts
and to determine when and which business entersiiseld consolidate VIEs. This new model appliegmvhither (1) the equity investors (if any) do hate a
controlling financial interest or (2) the equitw@stment at risk is insufficient to finance theigfg activities without additional subordinate dincial support.
FIN 46(R) also requires additional disclosures.@ding to FIN 46(R), entities shall apply FIN 46(@&)ly to special-purpose entities subject to FINR)&ho
later than December 31, 2003 and all other entiteekter than March 31, 2004. Special-purposdiestare defined as any entity whose activitiegpairearily
related to securitizations or other forms of agsatked financings or single-lessee leasing arrapgesnGiven that the Company has no significarabée
interests in special-purpose entities, FIN 46(Rjanee effective March 31, 2004. See Note 2 for frtliscussion of the Company’s variable intere§the
Vinings at University Center, LLC.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amereht of Statement 133 on Derivative Instrumentstdedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amends
and clarifies accounting for derivative instrumeitsluding certain derivative instruments embedufeother contracts, and for hedging activitiesem8FAS
No. 133,“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgifsgtivities.” SFAS No. 149 is effective for contraatntered into or modified after June 30, 2003,
with some exceptions, and for hedging relationshgsignated after June 30, 2003. The guidance pyied prospectively. The provisions of SFAS No9 Bid
not have an impact on our financial condition aeslits of operations. See Note 10 for further dismn of the Company’s derivative instruments.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Acctumfor Certain Financial Instruments with Charaistics of Both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS
No. 150 establishes standards on the classificatiohmeasurement of certain financial instrumeritis @haracteristics of both liabilities and equityrequires
that an issuer classify a financial instrument thatithin its scope as a liability (or an asset@mtain circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effedivdinancial
instruments entered into or modified after May 3103, and otherwise is effective July 1, 2003s koi be implemented by reporting the cumulativeafof a
change in an accounting principle for financiatioments created before the issuance date of SFAS5H0 and still existing at the beginning of theerim
period of adoption. In 2003 the FASB voted to défielefinitely SFAS No. 150 as it relates to non-colting interests in finite-life entities. As of
December 31, 2005, the provisions of SFAS No. 1&0a have a material impact on the Company’s fifercondition or results of operations.
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In July 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSPP 78-9-1, “Interaction of AICPA Statement of Rosi 78-9 and EITF Issue No. 04-5.” The EITF
reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 04-5, “Daterg'Whether a General Partner or the GenerahBestas a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or
Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have CierRlights,” stating that a general partner is pnesd to control a limited partnership and shouldsotidate
the limited partnership unless the limited partq@ssess substantive kick-out rights or the limgadners possess substantive participating rigthis. FSP
eliminates the concept of “important rights” of S@89 and replaces it with the concepts of “kick-oghts” and “substantive participating rights” @afined in
Issue 04-5. This FSP is effective after June 205Z0r general partners of all new partnershipstxt and for existing partnerships for which thetipenship
agreements are modified. For general partnerd otlaér partnerships, the guidance in this FSRfectve no later than January 1, 2006. The Compamently
expects to consolidate one of its existing jointtuees, HighwoodsAarkel Associates, LLC, upon the adoption of th&PHn January 2006; the Company exp
to treat this as a change of accounting principlpexmitted by the FSP. The change is not expéotedve any effect on the Company’s net income. The
Consolidated Balance Sheet is expected to be irgdnt including approximately $50 million of reatate assets, net of accumulated depreciationotiued
assets, approximately $40 million in mortgages roigs payable and other liabilities with the rermajreffects to investments in unconsolidated aififids and to
minority interest.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123“@jare-Based Payment,” which revises SFAS No. 128 ounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 26¢tinting for Stock Issued to Employees” to reqalteshare-based payments to employees to be
recognized in the income statement based on thieivdlues. Pro forma disclosure is no longer &eraative. SFAS No. 123 (R) must be adopted nao then
January 1, 2006. On January 1, 2006, the Compams pb adopt the modified prospective method irctvisbmpensation cost is based on the requireménts o
SFAS No. 123 (R) for all share-based payments gdaatter the effective date and based on the regeints of SFAS No. 123 for all awards granted to
employees prior to the effective date of SFAS IRBthat remain unvested on the effective date. Bezshe Company has used a fair value based method
accounting for stockased compensation costs for all employee stoclpeasation awards granted, modified or settled slaceiary 1, 2003 and does not ex|
to have significant unvested awards from periodsr po January 1, 2003 outstanding at January @62the Company does not expect the adoption ofSSFA
No. 123 (R) to have a material impact on its finahcondition and results of operations upon adop

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement ofnEiabAccounting Standard No. 153, “Exchange of Monetary Assets, an amendment of APB
Opinion No. 29" (SFAS No. 153). The amendment aliatés the use of the “similar productive assetsitept to account for nonmonetary exchanges at book
value with no gain being recognized and requiras tionmonetary exchanges be accounted for atdhieyrecognizing any gain or loss, if the transastmeet
a commercial-substance criterion and fair valudgeigrminable. The Statement is effective for nonetaty exchanges occurring in fiscal periods begigrifter
June 15, 2005. The Company will apply SFAS No. ttb&8ny applicable transactions occurring on orafaauary 1, 2006.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Finanktalounting Standard No. 154, “Accounting Changes Brror Corrections” (SFAS No. 154). The
Statement replaces Accounting Principles Board ©pihlo. 20, “Accounting Changes” (APB Opinion N@)2nd Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 3,“Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Finan@S#htements” and changes the requirements for twuating for and reporting of a change in
accounting principle. APB Opinion No. 20 previoustyjuired that most voluntary changes in accourgiimgiple be recognized by including in net incoafe
the period of the change the cumulative effectafinging to the new accounting principle. This Steget requires retrospective application to priciqets’
financial statements of changes in accounting fplecunless it is impracticable to determine sittee period-specific effects or the cumulativeseffof the
change. The Statement is effective for any accogrthanges and corrections of errors made oner Znuary 1, 2006.
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In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatin 47 (“FIN 47”) “Accounting for Conditional Ass&etirement Obligations, an interpretation of
SFAS No. 143" which clarifies that a liability ftihe performance of asset retirement activities khbe recorded if the obligation to perform suchidites is
unconditional, whether or not the timing or mettoddettiement of the obligation may be conditiomala future event. FIN 47 is effective no latemttize end of
2005. The Company implemented FIN 47 in the fogubrter of 2005, and the application of FIN 47 nlad have a material effect on the Company’s finainci

condition or results of operations.

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES
During the past several years, the Company hassirrarious joint ventures with unrelated invest®tee Company has retained minority equity interests

ranging from 12.50% to 50.00% in these joint veaesuiThe Company generally has accounted for itsnsatidated joint ventures using the equity metbbd
accounting. As a result, the assets and liabildfehese joint ventures for which the Company ukesquity method of accounting are not includedhe
Company'’s consolidated balance sheet. One joirtuveris accounted for as a financing arrangemersiaunt to SFAS No. 66, as described in Note 3, and

another joint venture is consolidated pursuantibdd 46(R), as described below. These two joint vezglare not reflected in the tables below.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates consistethe following as of December 31, 2005:

Ownership
Total Rentable

Office Property Location Square Feet (00C Interest
Board of Trade Investment Compa Kansas City, MC 16€ 49.0(%
Dallas County Partners I, L Des Moines, 1A 641 50.0(%
Dallas County Partners Il, L Des Moines, 1A 272 50.0(%
Dallas County Partners Ill, L Des Moines, 1A 7 50.0(%
Fountain Thret Des Moines, 1A 71C 50.0(%
RRHWoods, LLC Des Moines, 1A 76<(1) 50.0(%
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( Kansas City, MC — 26.5(%
4600 Madison Associates, LL Kansas City, MC 262 12.5(%
Plaza Colonnade, LL! Kansas City, MC 28t 50.0(%
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP Atlanta, GA; Charlotte, NC;

Greensboro, NC; Raleigh, NC;

Orlando, FL; Baltimore, MI[ 1,19¢ 22.81%
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP Atlanta, GA; Greensboro, NC;

Orlando, FL 822 42.9%%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, L Atlanta, GA 18t 40.0%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, L Atlanta, GA — 40.0(%
HIW-KC Orlando LLC Orlando, FL 1,27: 40.0(%
Concourse Center Associates, L Greensboro, N( 11¢€ 50.0(%
Highwood«-Markel Associates, LL( Richmond, VA 412 50.0(%
Weston Lakeside, LL( Raleigh, NC — 50.0(%
Total 7,121

(1) Includes 75,000 square feet for an office buildingrently under developmer
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2. I NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES — Continued
Combined summarized financial information for then@pany’s unconsolidated joint ventures is as folipw

Balance Sheets
Assets:
Real estate, net of accumulated deprecie
Other asset
Total asset
Liabilities and Partners’ and Shareholder’ Equity:
Mortgage deb(1)
Other liabilities
Partner’ and shareholde’ equity
Total Liabilities and Partne’ and Shareholde’ Equity Asset:

The Compan's share of historical partn’ and shareholde’ equity

Net excess of cost of investments over the net vabdle of underlying net assets (net of accumuldegteciation of $1,814 ar

$1,615, respectively(2)
Carrying value of investments in unconsolidatedtjoentures
The Compan’s share of unconsolidated r-recourse mortgage de(1)

(1) The Compan's share of the mortgage debt through maturity &esfember 31, 2005 is as follov

2006 $ 5,54«
2007 12,62:
2008 11,48¢
2009 14,67¢
2010 11,43¢
Thereaftel 187,47!

$243,24

December 31,

2005

2004

$710,43. $735,37(
106,38: 90,88:¢
$816,81 $826,25!
$573,42! $578,94«
34,51 28,57¢
208,87! 218,73t
$816,81: $826,25!
$ 58,40 $ 61,547
10,84" 11,06
$ 69,247 $ 72,61
$243,24 $245,36!

The Company generally is not liable for any of tthébt, except to the extent of its investment, ssithe Company has directly guaranteed any ofahe d

(see Note 15). In most cases, the Company and/etrétegic partners are required to guaranteemasy limited exceptions on non-recourse loans.
(2) This amount represents the aggregate differbatgeen the Company’s historical cost basis aed#sis reflected at the joint venture level, which

typically amortized over the life of the relatedess In addition, certain acquisition, transactml other costs may not be reflected in net agsét® joint

venture level

Income Statements
Revenues
Expenses:
Interest expense and loan cost amortize
Depreciation and amortizatic
Operating expense
Total expense
Net income
The Company's share of:
Net income
Interest expense and loan cost amortize

Depreciation and amortization (real estate rele
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For the Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
$141,77¢ $115,82¢ $93,72¢
34,68¢ 27,76¢ 22,39%
29,73¢ 24,35% 18,90
58,69¢ 48,01¢ 40,06¢
123,11: 100,13¢ 81,36¢
$ 18,66! $ 15,68¢ $12,36¢
$ 930 $ 7,39t $ 4,76(
$ 1457: $ 11.46¢ §$ 9,18¢
$ 10,98¢ $ 9,04« $ 7,46¢
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2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES — Continued

The following summarizes the formation and printgetivities of the various unconsolidated joinhtigres in which the Company has a minority equity
interest.

Board of Trade Investment Company; Kessinger/Huntey LLC; 4600 Madison Associates, LP

In connection with the Company’s merger with J.@hdls Company in July 1998, the Company acquird8.8% interest in Board of Trade Investment
Company, a 30.0% interest (decreased to 26.5%08)28 Kessinger/Hunter, LLC and a 12.5% interast600 Madison Associates, L.P. The Company is the
property manager for the Board of Trade Investn@arhpany and 4600 Madison Associates, L.P. jointures, for which it receives property managemegs.fe
In addition, Kessinger/Hunter, LLC provides progartanagement, leasing and brokerage services anitips certain construction related services ttager
Wholly Owned Properties of the Company. Kessingentdr, LLC received $1.2 million, $3.7 million, as&.7 million from the Company for these related
services in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Des Moines Joint Ventures

Also in connection with the Company’s merger wit@.JNichols Company in July 1998, the Company seded to the interests of J.C. Nichols Company
in a strategic alliance with R&R Investors, Ltdrguant to which R&R Investors manages and leagéaicgoint venture properties located in the Desiés
area. As a result of the merger, the Company aed@n ownership interest of 50.0% or more in asesf joint ventures with R&R Investors (the “Desgikkes
Joint Ventures”). Certain of these properties waeviously included in the CompasyConsolidated Financial Statements. On June 2,188 Company agre:
with R&R Investors to reorganize its respective evghip interests in the Des Moines Joint Ventuveh shat each would own a 50.0% interest.

Highwoods DLF 98/29, L.P.

On March 15, 1999, the Company closed a transautidnSchweiz-Deutschland-USA Dreilander Beteiligudbjekt DLF 98/29-Walker Fink-KG
(“DLF”) pursuant to which the Company sold or cdmtited certain office properties at an agreed ugdne of $142.0 million to a newly created limited
partnership (the “DLF | Joint Venture”). DLF coriuted $56.0 million for a 77.19% interest in thefILJoint Venture and the DLF | Joint Venture beved
$71.0 million from third-party lenders. The Compaeyained the remaining 22.81% interest in the DUBint Venture and received net cash proceed4?4 9
million. The Company is the property manager ardiley agent of the DLF | Joint Venture’s propertes receives customary management and leasingAtes
the formation of this joint venture, the amount Dédntributed in cash to the venture was determiadzk in excess of the amount required based on its
ownership interest and on the final agreed-upounevaf the real estate assets. The Company agreegay this amount to DLF over 14 years. The payseh
$7.2 million were discounted to net present vali§308 million using a discount rate of 9.62% sfiediin the agreement. Payments of $0.5 millioneveade il
each of the years ended December 31, 2005, 2002G08] of which $0.3 million in each year represernmputed interest expense. The balance at
December 31, 2005 is $2.9 million which is includedther liabilities.

Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L.P.

On May 9, 2000, the Company closed a transactitim Biieilander-Fonds 97/26 and 99/32 (“DLF II”) puasit to which the Company contributed five in-
service office properties encompassing 570,00Gbdatsquare feet and a 246,000-square-foot developpmoject at an agreed upon value of $110.0anilio a
newly created limited partnership (the “DLF Il JoWenture”). DLF Il contributed $24.0 million in sh for a 40.0% ownership interest in the DLF Iinjoi
Venture and the DLF Il Joint Venture borrowed $5®i0ion from a thirdparty lender. The Company initially retained themagning 60.0% interest in the DLF
Joint Venture and received net cash proceeds o0$Blion. During 2001 and 2000, DLF Il contribdtan additional $10.7 million in cash to the DLRBdint
Venture. As a result, the Company decreased itemship percentage to 42.93% as of December 31, 20@LCompany is the property manager and leasing
agent of the DLF Il Joint Venture’s properties aadeives customary management and leasing fees.
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2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES — Continued
Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC; Concourse CenteAssociates, LLC

During 1999 and 2001, the Company closed two tetitses with Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC andn€ourse Center Associates, LLC pursuant to
which the Company sold or contributed certain proge to newly created limited liability companiémrelated investors contributed cash for a 50.08ershif
interest in the joint ventures. The Company regitie remaining 50.0% interest, received net casbgeds and is the property manager and leasing afthe
joint venture’ properties.

On December 29, 2003, the Company contributed ditiadal three in-service office properties encosgiag 290,853 rentable square feet at an agreed
upon value of $35.6 million to the Highwoods-Markelsociates, LLC joint venture. The joint venturether partner, Markel Corporation, contributed an
additional $3.6 million in cash to maintain its 82 ownership interest and the joint venture boridard refinanced $40.0 million from a third paender. The
Company retained its 50.0% ownership interesténjoint venture and received net cash proceed8hBdmillion. As a result, the Company recognizet&
million gain in accordance with SFAS No. 66, whrelpresents the extent of the Company’s interesttsobutside parties. The Company is the manager an
leasing agent for the properties and receives mestp management fees and leasing commissions.

MG-HIW Development Joint Ventures

On December 19, 2000, the Company formed or agretxtm four development joint ventures with Denbaised Miller Global Properties, LLC (“Miller
Global”) pursuant to which the Company contribus&ds million of development land to various newtgated limited liability companies and retainedz056
ownership interest. Three of these joint ventumsetbped a total of three properties that encompasggregate of 347,000 rentable square feet@sid60.4
million in the aggregate. The Company was the dgel of these properties. In addition, the Compaay the property manager and leasing agent for the
properties in all of these joint ventures. The thyoint venture, MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC, did ndevelop a property but held development land.

On June 26, 2002, the Company acquired Miller Qlstiaterest in MG-HIW Rocky Point, LLC, which owdeHarborview Plaza, a 205,000 rentable
square foot office property, to bring its ownersimgerest in that entity to 100.0%. At that timiee tCompany consolidated the assets and liabilitiesrecorded
revenues and expenses of that entity on a consedidesis. (See also Note 3 for SF-HIW Harborvie® discussion).

As a part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition on July,Z803 (see Note 3), the Company was assignediBliebal’'s 50.0% equity interest in MG-HIW
Peachtree Corners Ill, LLC, which increased the Gamy’s ownership interest to 100.0%; the Compamsolidated this entity beginning on July 29, 2008e
entity owned a single property encompassing 53s8@@re feet. The construction loan, which was ntadleis joint venture by a wholly owned affiliatéthe
Company, Highwoods Finance, LLC, had an intergsto&LIBOR plus 200 basis points and was paidilhdn July 29, 2003 in connection with the assigni

On July 29, 2003, the Company entered into an n@@greement with its partner, Miller Global, to airg Miller Global's 50.0% interest in the assets
encompassing 87,832 square feet of property andcres of development land (zoned for the developmied0,000 square feet of office space) of MG-HIW
Metrowest |, LLC and MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC for3$2 million.

On March 2, 2004, the Company exercised its ogtiaacquire its partner’s 50.0% equity interesthia &ssets of MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC and MG-
HIW Metrowest II, LLC for $3.2 million, to bring stownership interest in these entities to 100.0%hat time, the Company consolidated the assets an
liabilities and recorded revenues and expensedsesktentities on a consolidated basis. A $7.4aniltionstruction loan to fund the development of thioperty,
of which $7.3 million was outstanding at Decemb&r 2003, was paid in full by the Company at closing
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Plaza Colonnade, LLC

On June 14, 2002, the Company contributed $1.1amilh cash to Plaza Colonnade, LLC, a limitediligbcompany, for the construction of a 285,000
square foot multi-tenant office property. The Comphas retained a 50.0% interest in this joint uemtOn February 12, 2003, Plaza Colonnade, LL@esiga
$61.3 million construction loan to fund the devetamt of this property. The Company and its jointtuee partner each guaranteed 50.0% of the lozaddiitior
to the construction loan, the partners collectiy@igvided $12.0 million in letters of credit, $6rdllion by the Company and $6.0 million by its paat. In
December 2004, the joint venture secured a $5dImnon-recourse permanent loan and the construdban was paid off. The related letters of credére
cancelled and the aforementioned guarantee oldiggterminated when the construction loan was pidSee Note 15 for further discussion).

Highwoods KC Glenridge, LP

On February 25, 2004, the Company and Kapital-CarestEuropean investment firm, formed Highwoods &@nridge, LP, which on February 26, 2004
acquired from a third party Glenridge Point Offleark, consisting of two office buildings aggreggtit85,100 square feet and 2.9 acres of developlauecht
located in the Central Perimeter sub-market of klaAt December 31, 2005, the buildings were 93ot%upied. The Company contributed $10.0 milliotht
joint venture in return for a 40.0% equity interastd Kapite-Consult contributed $14.9 million for a 60.0% agunterest in the partnership. The joint venture
entered into a $16.5 million ten-year secured lmathe assets. The Company is the manager anddeageént for this property and receives customary
management fees and leasing commissions.

The Vinings at University Center, LLC

On December 22, 2004, the Company and Easlan meestGroup, Inc. (“Easlan”) formed The Vinings atitersity Center, LLC. The Company
contributed 7.8 acres of land at an agreed uparevefl $1.6 million to the joint venture in DecemB@&04 in return for a 50.0% equity interest andi&as
contributed $1.1 million, in the form of non-intstéearing promissory notes, for a 50.0% equitgragt in the entity. Upon formation, the joint weetentered
into a $9.7 million secured construction loan tonptete the construction of 156 apartment unitshen 8 acres of land. Easlan has guaranteed thstroation
loan, and at December 31, 2005, $7.7 million hashdeorrowed on the loan. The construction of thertapents was completed in the first quarter of 2@slar
is the manager and leasing agent for these apartmés and receives customary management feekasithg commissions. The Company has received
development fees throughout the construction pt@jed will receive management fees of 1.0% of gresenues at the time the apartments are 80.0%pimxztu
The Company is currently consolidating this joietiture under the provisions of FIN 46(R) becaussdiahas no at-risk equity and accordingly the Camyp
absorbs the majority of the joint venture’s expddtesses. Accordingly, the Company’s ConsolidatathBce Sheet at December 31, 2005 includes $9lipmil
of development in process and a $7.7 million carcsion note payable.
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2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED AND O THER A FFILIATES — Continued
HIW -KC Orlando, LLC

On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a European tnvest firm, bought a 60% interest in HIW-KC Orland®.C, an entity formed by the Company. HIW-
KC Orlando, LLC owns five office properties in Ondo, Florida which had an agreed upon value atdag of $212.0 million, including amounts relatedhe
Company'’s guarantees described below, and whick wdject to a $136.2 million secured mortgage.|&apital-Consult contributed $42.1 million in cashd
received a 60.0% equity interest in HIW-KC OrlandbC. The joint venture borrowed $143.0 million wmda ten-year fixed rate mortgage loan from a third
party lender and repaid the $136.2 million loard 8.9 million of unamortized deferred financingtowas written off in connection with the early
extinguishment of the existing $136.2 million semitoan. The Company retained a 40.0% equity isténethe joint venture and received net cash mdsef
$46.6 million, of which $33.0 million was used taypdown the Company’s revolving credit facility 8#i3.6 million was used to pay down additional débt
connection with this transaction, the Company agjteeguarantee rent to the joint venture for 3,@8%8able square feet commencing in August 2004eapiing
in April 2011. In connection with this guarantee,cd June 30, 2004, the Company included $0.6anilin other liabilities and reduced the total antafrgain tc
be recognized by the same amount. Additionally Gbepany agreed to guarantee re-tenanting costépfmoximately 11% of the joint venture’s total atp
footage. The Company recorded a $4.1 million ligbivith respect to such guarantee as of June @4 2nd reduced the total amount of gain to begrized
by the same amount. During 2004 and 2005, the Coynpaid $3.5 million in re-tenanting costs relatedhis guarantee. The contribution was accourteds a
partial sale as defined by SFAS No. 66 and the Gompecognized a $16.3 million gain in June 200dc&the Company has an ongoing 40.0% financial
interest in the joint venture and since the Compamgngaged by the joint venture to provide managerand leasing services for the joint venturewhbich the
Company receives customary management fees anddeasmmissions, the operations of these propent@e not reflected as discontinued operations
consistent with SFAS No. 144 and the related gaisale was included in continuing operations insgbeond quarter of 2004.

Weston Lakeside, LLC

On September 27, 2004, the Company and an affdia@rosland, Inc. (“Crosland”) formed Weston Lakies LLC, in which the Company has a 50.0%
ownership interest. On June 29, 2005, the Companiributed 22.4 acres of land at an agreed upamevai $3.9 million to this joint venture, and Ciarstl
contributed approximately $2.0 million in cash; imdiately thereafter, the joint venture distribusggbroximately $1.9 million to the Company and ang#i$0.5
million was recorded. Crosland will develop, managd operate this joint venture, which is now carging approximately 332 rental residential uaits total
estimated cost of approximately $33 million expddtebe completed by the second quarter of 2003slénd, Inc. will receive 3.25% of all project costher
than land as a development fee and 3.5% of gressve of the joint venture in management fees.ddmpany is providing certain development servicegte
project and will receive a fee equal to 1.0% ofpadlject costs excluding land. The joint venturériancing the development with a $28.4 million staction
loan that is guaranteed by Crosland, Inc. The Cappas accounted for this joint venture using tipeity method of accounting.

Development, Leasing and Management Fees

As discussed above, the Company receives develdpmanagement and leasing fees for services prdvmeertain of its joint ventures. These fees are
recognized as income to the extent of the othet j@nture partner’s interest and are shown irateartd other revenues. They are as follows for 22084, and
2003:

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Development fee $ 42 $ 171 $ 20%
Management and leasing fe 1,96° 1,631 1,22¢

Total fees $2,00¢ $1,80z $1,43¢
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3. FINANCING AND P ROFIT -SHARING A RRANGEMENTS

The following summarizes sale transactions in 2890 2002 that were accounted for as financing anmidit-sharing arrangements under paragraphs 25
through 29 of SFAS No. 66.

SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, the Company contributeddthadw Plaza, an office building located in Tampkrida, to SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP
(“Harborview LP"), a newly formed entity, in exchgafor a 20.0% limited partnership interest and.438illion in cash. The other partner contributd® $
million of cash and a new loan was obtained bypenership for $22.8 million. In connection witfig disposition, the Company entered into a mastse
agreement with Harborview LP for five years on tihen vacant space in the building (approximateB62{ the building); occupancy was 99.6% at
December 31, 2005. The Company also guaranteedro/iew LP the payment of tenant improvementslaase commissions of $1.2 million. The
Company’s maximum exposure to loss under the miesise agreement was $2.1 million at Septembe2d2 and was $0.7 million at December 31, 2005.
Additionally, the Company’s partner in Harborview was granted the right to put its 80.0% equitgre@st in Harborview LP to the Company in excharmge f
cash at any time during the one-year period comimgran September 11, 2014. The value of the 80.G@ttyeinterest will be determined at the time thath
partner elects to exercise its put right, if ebsed upon the then fair market value of Harbon\li®s assets and liabilities less 3.0%, which aniovas
intended to cover the normal costs of a sale tcimsa

Because of the put option and the master leasemgm, this transaction is accounted for as a €imgrtransaction as described in Note 1. Accordingl
the assets, liabilities and operations relatedablrview Plaza, the property owned by HarborvieRy including any new financing by the partnershimain in
the financial statements of the Company. As a tethd Company has established a financing obbgatgual to the net equity contributed by the opf@tner.
At the end of each reporting period, the balanctheffinancing obligation is adjusted to equal¢heent fair value, which is $15.0 million at Dedeen 31, 200E
but not less than the original financing obligati®his adjustment is amortized prospectively thio@gptember 2014 as interest expense on financing
obligations. Additionally, the net income from tbeerations before depreciation of Harborview Prliacable to the 80.0% partner is recorded aseaster
expense on financing obligation. The Company comtirto depreciate the property and record all®figgpreciation on its books. Any payments made thge
master lease agreement were expensed as incu@rddn($lion, $0.1 million and $0.4 million was expsed during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively) and any amounts paid uthéetenant improvement and lease commission gueeare capitalized and amortized to expense oger th
remaining lease term. At such time as the put aptixpires or is otherwise terminated, the Compailiyecord the transaction as a sale and recogysae on
sale.

Eastshore

On November 26, 2002, the Company sold three mgikliocated in Richmond, Virginia (the “Eastshar@hsaction) for a total price of $28.5 million in
cash, which was paid in full by the buyer at clgsiBach of the sold properties is a single tenailtling leased on a triple-net basis to Capital Geevices, Inc.,
a subsidiary of Capital One Financial Services, Inc
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3. FINANCING AND P ROFIT -SHARING A RRANGEMENTS - Continued

In connection with the sale, the Company enteramarrental guarantee agreement for each buildinthe benefit of the buyer to guarantee any saitstf
that may be incurred in the payment of rent anttnanting costs for a five-year period from theedzftsale (through November 2007). The Company’s
maximum exposure to loss under the rental guarageEements was $18.7 million at the date of sadeneas $8.4 million as of December 31, 2005. No
payments were made by the Company during 2003 @02 i respect of these rent guarantees. Howavdyre 2004, the Company began to make monthly
payments to the buyer at an annual rate of $0.lomiks a result of the existing tenant renewitgase in one building at a lower rental rate. Tbhenfany
expects to make additional payments beginning e 2006 of approximately $0.1 million per month doi¢he tenant vacating space in one of the thoddibgs
as of May 31, 2006. These payments will continuid thre earlier of the end of the guarantee pedodntil replacement tenants are in place and gegmounts
equal to or more than the current tenant.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinglwevoent as discussed in paragraph 28 of SFAS NdBé€ause the guarantees cover the entire space
occupied by a single tenant under a triple-netdeasangement, the Company’s guarantees are coadidguaranteed return on the buyer’s investnoerarf
extended period of time. Therefore, through Jul§2the transaction has been accounted for as rcfimgtransaction, following the accounting method
described in Note 1. Accordingly, through July 2008 assets, liabilities and operations were irsilith these Consolidated Financial Statementsaand
financing obligation of $28.8 million was recordetlich represented the amount received from the hayhusted for subsequent activity. The incomenftbe
operations of the properties, other than deprexciatvas allocated 100.0% to the owner as intesgstrese on financing obligations. Payments madenthde
rent guarantees were charged to expense as inclilvisdtransaction was recorded as a completedrsaisaction in July 2005 when the maximum exposure
loss under the guarantees became less than thedreieferred gain; accordingly, $1.7 million inga&ias recognized in the last six months of 2005aattitional
gain will be recognized in 2006 and 2007 as theimam exposure under the guarantees is reduced.dtdgmade under rent guarantees after July 2005 are
recorded as a reduction of the deferred gain.

MG-HIW, LLC

On December 19, 2000, the Company formed a jointwe with Miller Global, MG-HIW, LLC, pursuant which the Company sold or contributed to
MG-HIW, LLC 19 in-service office properties in Ral, Atlanta, Tampa (the “Non-Orlando City Groufd Orlando (collectively the “City Groups”) for an
agreed upon value of $335.0 million. As part of fimenation of MG-HIW, LLC, Miller Global contribut$85.0 million in cash for an 80.0% ownership iag
and the joint venture borrowed $238.8 million frarthird-party lender. The Company retained a 2000#ership interest and received net cash procefeds o
$307.0 million. During 2001, the Company contrilsligee39,000 square foot development project to M&/HLLC in exchange for $5.1 million. The joint
venture borrowed an additional $3.7 million undereixisting debt agreement with a third party drel@ompany retained its 20.0% ownership interedt an
received net cash proceeds of $4.8 million. Thetassf each of the City Groups were legally acglibg four separate LLC's for which MG-HIW, LLC wése
sole member.

The Non-Orlando City Group consisted of 15 propsréncompassing 1.3 million square feet and wesgdd in Atlanta, Raleigh and Tampa. Based on
the nature and extent of certain rental guaranteste by the Company with respect to these progettie transaction did not qualify for sale treaimender
SFAS No. 66. The transaction has been accounteasfarprofit-sharing arrangement, and accordiriglyassets, liabilities and operations of the pribgse
remain on the books of the Company and a co-vewtdiigation was established for the amount of ggcidntributed by Miller Global related to the N@rtandc
City Group properties. The income from operatiohthe properties, excluding depreciation, was ated 80.0% to Miller Global (which represents iitterest ir
the joint venture) and reported as “co-venture azp&in these Consolidated Financial Statements.ddmpany continued to depreciate the propertids an
record all of the depreciation on its books. Inifidd to the co-venture expense, the Company rembeckpense of $1.3 million related to payments meuder
the rental guarantees for the year ended Decenih&083.
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3. FINANCING AND P ROFIT -SHARING A RRANGEMENTS - Continued

On July 29, 2003, the Company acquired its parsn®®.0% equity interest in the N@rando City Group. The Company paid Miller GloB2B.1 million
repaid $41.4 million of debt related to the prosrind assumed $64.7 million of debt. The Compeaaggnized a $16.3 million gain in 2003 on thelegtént
of the $43.5 million co-venture obligation; $2.4llion of this gain is included in discontinued opBons as a result of reclassifying prior periogisdertain
properties sold in the current period under FAS Ngt.

With respect to the Orlando City Group, which cetesil of five properties encompassing 1.3 millionasg feet located in the central business disfict
Orlando, the Company assumed obligations to makeowements to the assets as well as master lefigat@ns and guarantees on certain vacant space.
Additionally, the Company guaranteed a leveragéstial rate of return (“IRR”) of 20.0% on Miller @bal’s equity. The contribution of these Orlando praps
was accounted for as a financing arrangement UBBAS No. 66. Consequently, the assets, liabildies$ operations related to the properties remaindti®
books of the Company and a financing obligation established for the amount of equity contributgdviller Global related to the Orlando City Groughe
income from operations of the properties, excludiegreciation, was allocated 80.0% to Miller Gloaadl reported as “interest on financing obligatidnghese
Consolidated Financial Statements. This financipiggation was also adjusted each period by acaetie obligation up to the 20.0% guaranteed inteate of
return by a charge to interest expense, suchhiedtriancing obligation equaled at the end of gamfiod the amount due to Miller Global including th0.0%
guaranteed return. The Company recorded inter@&rese on financing obligations of $3.2 million &id..6 million, which includes amounts related tis iRR
guarantee and payments made under the rental geesafor the years ended 2004 and 2003, resplyctivee Company continued to depreciate the Orlando
properties and record all of the depreciationsrfiltancial statements.

On July 29, 2003, the Company also entered intopgion agreement to acquire Miller Global's 80.08terest in the Orlando City Group. On
March 2, 2004, the Company exercised its optionagiired its partner’'s 80.0% equity interest ia @rlando City Group of MG-HIW, LLC. At the closirg
the transaction, the Company paid its partner,eéviiBlobal, $62.5 million, assumed the existing $238illion loan and a $7.5 million letter of cregiteviously
delivered to the seller in connection with the optivas cancelled. Since the initial contributiorttadse assets was accounted for as a financinggameent and
since the financing obligation was adjusted eactogdor the IRR guarantee, no gain or loss wasgaeized upon the extinguishment of the financintigalion.
In June 2004, the Company contributed these assetBV-KC Orlando, LLC as described in Note 2.

4. A sseTD ISPOSITIONS

Gains and impairments on disposition of properties$, excluding impairments of assets held foramtgains, losses and impairments from discontinued
operations, consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Gains on disposition of lar $ 8,60 $ 4,72¢ $1,79¢
Impairments on lan (2,124) (1,972) (477)
Gains on disposition of depreciable proper 7,692 18,88( 8,57
Impairments of depreciable propert — — (344)

Total $14,17. $21,63¢ $9,55:

Net gains on sale and impairments of discontinyetations, net of minority interest, consistedhaf tollowing:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Gains on sales of depreciable proper $34,12¢ $ 9,38( $10,87¢
Impairments of depreciable propert (8,379 (6,274 (12¢)
Allocable minority interes (2,52%) (323 (929)

Total $23,22¢ $ 2,78¢ $ 9,817
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4. A sseTD IsposiTIONS - Continued
2005 and First Quarter 2006 Dispositions

During 2005, the Company sold approximately 4.9iomlsquare feet of office and industrial propesténd 29 apartment units for gross proceeds of
approximately $386 million (including the Eastshtansaction recognized as a completed sale in 20@% Note 3) and also sold or contributed tard jo
venture approximately 200 acres of development fandross proceeds of $25.1 million. Certain prtips and development land were also classifiguke#s for
sale as of December 31, 2005. The resultant gaishsnapairments, including recognition of certainngadeferred in prior years, are shown in the mtegetable.
The significant 2005 transactions are describedvibedll of which except the Eastshore transactienewecorded as discontinued operations.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Company sold Hite® building in Raleigh, North Carolina to an ogrfuser for gross proceeds of approximately $27.3
million. In the first and second quarters, the Campsold industrial buildings in Winston-Salem, No€arolina for gross proceeds of approximately.$27
million, as more fully described in Note 8. In thecond quarter, the Company sold two vacant bgitdin Highwoods Preserve, Tampa, Florida to an oluser
for gross proceeds of approximately $24.5 millionthe third quarter, the Company sold all of ifemting properties and certain vacant land in IBtter North
Carolina and certain operating properties in Tarfib@ida in a single transaction for gross procesfdgpproximately $228 million. In connection withis sale,
the Company closed its division office in Charlaited incurred employee severance costs of approsiyn®0.6 million, which were charged to generad an
administrative expenses during the second and tfuadters. In the third quarter, the Company at®ognized as a completed sale a transaction imgthiree
office buildings in Richmond, Virginia (the Eastsbdransaction) that were sold in 2002; Eastshadelteen accounted for as a financing due to afsigni
guarantee of rent under leases in the sold pra@satiat was made by the Company when the saleredcinr2002, as more fully described in Note 3.

In the first quarter of 2006, the Company soldagffand industrial properties in Atlanta, Georgialutbia, South Carolina and Tampa, Florida in glsin
transaction for gross proceeds of approximatelyl$bdlion. These properties were classified as lietdale as of December 31, 2005 and an impairiosatof
$7.7 million was recorded in the fourth quarte2665. The properties subject to this sale wererdszbas discontinued operations in fourth quar®@52

2004 Dispositions

During 2004, the Company sold approximately 1.3iamlrentable square feet of office, industrial aathil properties and 88 apartment units for gross
proceeds of $96.5 million and also sold 213.7 acfefevelopment land for gross proceeds of $35llfami The Company also contributed approximately
1.3 million square feet of buildings and land tmfosrentures. Certain properties and developmenrd l@ere also classified as held for sale as of
December 31, 2004. The resultant gains and impaiisnacluding recognition of certain gains defdrire prior years, are shown in the preceding tabfe
larger 2004 transactions are described below falhich except the HIW-KC Orlando, LLC transactiaere recorded as discontinued operations.
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4. A sseTD IsposiTIONS - Continued

Late in the second quarter 2004, the Company sbldlding located in Highwoods Preserve, Tamparififoto an owner/user for approximate gross
proceeds of $20.2 million. The Company recognizedpairment loss of $3.0 million in discontinueglesations in April 2004 when the planned sale met t
criteria to be classified as held for sale. As nfatly described in Note 2, in second quarter 26841Company sold a 60% interest in HIW-KC OrlandoC,
which owns five office buildings in Orlando, FloaidThe contribution was accounted for as a pastild, and the Company recognized a $16.3 million iga
June 2004. The operations of these properties mareeflected as discontinued operations consist@éhtSFAS No. 144, and the related gain on sale wa
included in continuing operations in the secondriguabf 2004. In the fourth quarter of 2004, ther@any sold office and industrial buildings in fafrits
markets and one 88 unit apartment building in KarGity, Missouri for gross proceeds of $37.5 millitn the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company alsid a
building located in Orlando, Florida for gross preds of approximately $6.8 million, and an impainiriess of approximately $3.2 million was recoguize the
fourth quarter 2004 prior to the closing of thees&@uring 2004, the Company also contributed 7r8saof land to The Vinings at University Center,G.In
which the Company has a 50.0% equity interest.\8#e 2 for further discussion of this joint venture

2003 Dispositions

During 2003, the Company sold approximately 3.3iamirentable square feet of office, industrial aathil properties in multiple transactions, mast o
which were recorded as continued operations, a@Bl&res of revenue-producing land for aggregaissgproceeds of $202.9 million and also sold 1@8rés
of non-core development land for gross proceed 8f7 million. In addition, the Company contributbdee office properties to Highwoods-Markel Assoes,
LLC in which the Company has a 50.0% equity intefescorded as continued operations). Certain ptigseand development land were also classificets
for sale as of December 31, 2003. The resultamisgand impairments are shown in the preceding.table
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5. M ORTGAGES , N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS
The Company’s consolidated mortgages and notesbpmgansisted of the following at December 31, 2808 2004:

2005 2004
Mortgage loans payable:
9.0% mortgage loan due 20 $ — $ 34,16
8.1% mortgage loan due 20 — 26,44¢
8.2% mortgage loan due 20 63,40( 65,22:
7.8% mortgage loan due 20 84,67: 86,56"
7.9% mortgage loan due 20 65,17¢ 77,24"
7.8% mortgage loan due 20 135,22¢ 137,96¢
6.0% mortgage loan due 20 139,89° 141,86
5.7% mortgage loan due 20 125,44¢ 127,54:
5.2% to 9.0% mortgage loans due between 2005 ahid @) 53,31: 58,98:
Variable rate mortgage loan due 2( — 46,98¢
Variable rate mortgage loan due 2( 3,47¢ 3,745
Variable rate construction loans due 2006 and ZQp 50,49¢ 15,84:
721,11¢ 822,57:
Unsecured indebtedness

7.0% notes due 20( 110,00( 110,00
7.125% notes due 20( 100,00( 100,00(
8.125% notes due 20( 50,00( 50,00(
7.5% notes due 201 200,00( 200,00(
Term loan due 200 — 20,00(
Term loan due 200 100,00( 100,00t
Revolving credit facility due 200 190,50( 170,00(
750,50( 750,00(

Total $1,471,61 $1,572,57

(1) Includes $22.8 million of mortgage debt relate®E-HIW Harborview, LP. See Note
(2) Includes a $7.7 million construction loan held beTVinings at University Center, LLC, a consolidhf®.0% owned joint venture. See Not¢
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5. M ORTGAGES, N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS - Continued
The following table sets forth the principal payrtseincluding amortization, due on the Companyiortgages and notes payable as of December G%;

Amounts due during year ending December 31,

Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt:
Unsecurec(1) :
Notes $ 460,000 $110,00( $ — $100,00C $ 50,000 $ — $200,00(
Secured
Mortgage loans payab(2) 667,13¢ 16,087 81,18" 16,16¢ 148,35¢ 128,40t 276,93’
Total Fixed Rate Det 1,127,13" 126,08’ 81,187 116,16t 198,35t 128,40t 476,93
Variable Rate Debt:
Unsecured
Term loan(3) 100,00 100,00( — — — — —
Revolving credit facility(3) 190,50 190,50( — — — — —
Secured
Mortgage loans payab(2) 3,47¢ 31C 3,16¢ — — — —
Construction loan 50,49¢ — 50,49¢ — — — —
Total Variable Rate Del 344,47 290,81( 53,66 — — — —
Total Mortgages and Notes Payabl: $1,471,61 $416,89; $134,85: $116,16¢ $198,35¢ $128,40t $476,93"

(1) The $460.0 million of unsecured notes bear@#eat rates ranging from 7.0% to 8.125% withregepayable semi-annually in arrears. Any preméunt
discount related to the issuance of the unsecustgbntogether with other issuance costs, is baingrtized to interest expense over the life of the
respective notes as an adjustment to interest egpéii of the unsecured notes are redeemableydirae prior to maturity at the Company’s option,
subject to certain conditions including the paymafmake-whole amounts. As of the date of thisfjlithe Operating Partnership has not yet satigfed
requirement under the indenture governing its wnggtnotes to file timely SEC reports, but expéetdo so as soon as practicable after filing of the
Company’s 2005 Annual Report on Form KOUnder the indenture, the notes may be acceltifitbe trustee or 25% of the holders provide t@ritnotice
of a default and such default remains uncured &fdedays. If the Operating Partnership failed l®ifs delinquent SEC reports prior to expiratidrire
60-day cure period after receipt of any such defaatice, the lender under our revolving crediilfacwould also have the ability to accelerate amts
outstanding under the revolving credit facility. @ate, neither the trustee nor any holder hasteerffompany or the Operating Partnership any such
default notice. The Operating Partnership is in pliemce with all other covenants under the indenturd is current on all payments required thereu

(2) The mortgage loans payable are secured byestatle assets with an aggregate undepreciatedviabakof $1.2 billion at December 31, 2005. The
Company'’s fixed rate mortgage loans generally @heelocked out to prepayment for all or a portafrtheir term or are prepayable subject to certain
conditions including prepayment penalti

(3) In May, July, August and September 2005 anduraly 2006, the Company obtained waivers from émelérs under its previous $250.0 million unsecured
revolving credit facility and its various bank tetoans related to timely reporting to the lenddrarmual and quarterly financial statements and to
covenant violations that could arise from futurdemaptions of Preferred Stock due to the reclasgifio of the Preferred Stock from equity to a lidpi
during the period of time from the announcemerthefredemption until the redemption is completeue &forementioned modifications did not change
economic terms of the loans. In connection witlséhmodifications, the Company incurred certain loasts that are capitalized and amortized over the
remaining term of the loans. In November 2005,Gbenpany amended its previous $100.0 million bank tean to extend the maturity date to
July 17, 2006 and reduce the spread over the LIB@HRest rate from 130 basis points to 100 basistpoThese loans were paid off in May 2006 in
connection with the closing of the Comp’s new revolving credit facility described belc
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5. M oRTGAGES, N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS - Continued
Refinancings in 2005 and 2006

During 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, usingcgeds from its disposition activities describetlate 4, the Company paid off $196.2 million of
outstanding loans, excluding any normal debt amatitin, which included $176.2 million of securedti®ith a weighted average interest rate of 6.9%$20.0
million of unsecured floating rate debt with areirgst rate of 4.9%. Included in the $176.2 milkeas $89.8 million of floating rate secured debtpApximately
$350 million of real estate assets (based on uedegied cost basis) became unencumbered aftergpaffithe secured debt. The Company incurred $0l%om
loss on debt extinguishments in 2005 in conneatiith these loan pay-downs.

On May 1, 2006, the Company obtained a new $35@ldm three-year unsecured revolving credit fagifrom Bank of America, N.A. The Company
used $273.0 million of proceeds from the new rewgj\credit facility, together with available cash,pay off the remaining outstanding balance of@Qillion
under its previous revolving credit facility ané200.0 million bank term loan, both of which hawewbeen terminated. Loss on debt extinguishments of
approximately $0.5 million will be recorded in sadoquarter 2006. The Company and Bank of Ameriaa @ syndicate the new revolving credit faciliéyer in
2006.

The new revolving credit facility is initially schaled to mature on May 1, 2009. The Company haspéion to extend the maturity date by one additiona
year assuming no default exists and, at any tinwe fir May 1, 2008, may request increases in theolong availability under the credit facility bypuo an
additional $100.0 million. The increases in bornogvavailability are subject to approval by the ler{d). The interest rate has been reduced from Rp@s 10!
basis points to LIBOR plus 80 basis points ancatireual base facility fee has been reduced froma2&lpoints to 20 basis points.

Other Information

The terms of the Company’s revolving credit fagibind the indenture that governs the Company’sandéng notes require the Company to comply with
certain operating and financial covenants and perdoce ratios. No circumstance currently existswaald result in an acceleration of any of thi®de

In 1997, the Operating Partnership issued $100lbmbf Exercisable Put Option Notes due June28,1 (the “Put Option Notes”). The Put Option
Notes bore an interest rate of 7.19% from the dhissuance through June 15, 2004. After June Q84 2the interest rate to maturity on the Put Qphimtes wa
required to be 6.39% plus the applicable spreagraéned as of June 10, 2004. In connection withrhigl issuance of the Put Option Notes, a couptety
was granted an option to purchase the Put Optided\un June 15, 2004 at 100.0% of the principaltarad he counter party exercised this option arglised
the Put Option Notes on June 15, 2004. On that states the Company exercised its option to acqbgeéPut Option Notes from the counter party fouechase
price equal to the sum of the present value oféheaining scheduled payments of principal and @siefassuming an interest rate of 6.39%) on thedption
Notes, or $112.3 million. The difference betweea $112.3 million and the $100.0 million was chargetbss on extinguishment of debt in the quarteteel
June 30, 2004. The Company borrowed funds fromeitslving credit facility to make the $112.3 miligpayment.

93



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

5. M oRTGAGES, N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS - Continued

On February 2, 1998, the Company (through the Qipgr&artnership) issued $125.0 million of Mandat®ar Put Remarketed Securities (‘MOPPRS")
which were originally expected to mature on Febydar2013. The fixed interest rate was 6.835% thhodanuary 31, 2003, and would be reset at thatatat
5.715% plus a spread as determined under the tdrthe MOPPRS. In connection with the original msce, the Company granted a remarketing optioméo o
of the underwriters for the MOPPRS, the consideratdor which was reflected in the premium priceted bonds and aggregated $3.5 million. This comat
was deferred and included in deferred financing and was amortized to income over the term oMIZPPRS. The option, if exercised, allowed the aptio
holder to purchase the MOPPRS on January 31, 2068the holders for $125.0 million and then retiel MOPPRS in a new offering to new investors at th
reset interest rate (5.715% plus the spread)elbition holder did not exercise the option, thenfany would have been required to repurchase thERIS fo
$125.0 million plus any accrued interest. The Comypelso had a one-time right to redeem the MOPRBS the option holder on January 31, 2003 for $1.25.
million plus the then present value of the remarigeoption.

On January 28, 2003, the Company, the option helddran intermediary entered into an agreementrwaldieh the option holder agreed to exercise its
option to acquire the MOPPRS on January 31, 2083tenintermediary agreed to acquire the MOPPR& fie option holder for $142.7 million. The
intermediary and the Company also agreed to exehtrggMOPPRS for new Company debt instrumentsariuture, subject to certain terms and conditidite
MOPPRS transaction between the option holder améhtiermediary occurred on January 31, 2003 anéhteeest rate on the MOPPRS was reset at 8.975%. O
February 4, 2003, a new $142.8 million mortgage leéth a third party, secured by 24 of the Comparproperties, was executed; this loan bears a fixedest
rate of 6.03% and matures in February 2013. Trerimediary received the proceeds from the new mgetd@an, and the mortgage loan and the MOPPRS were
then exchanged between the Company and the intearje@he Company then retired the MOPPRS. Theersient of the MOPPRS has been accounted for as
an extinguishment and accordingly, $14.7 milliorswharged to loss on extinguishment of debt irgtrerter ended March 31, 2003.

Total interest capitalized was $2.9 million, $1.ilion, and $1.4 million for the years ended DecemB1, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Deferred Financing Costs

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, deferred financosts were $12.5 million and $16.7 million, regpely, and related accumulated amortization was
$5.8 million and $6.6 million, respectively. Defedrfinancing costs include loan fees, loan closiogts, premium and discounts on bonds, notes paaiol dek
issuance costs. Amortization of bond premiums ascodints is included in contractual interest expeAdl other amortization is shown as amortizatidn
deferred financing costs. The scheduled future imation of these deferred financings costs wilklsefollows:

Contractual

Deferred

Interest Financing Total

2006 $ 23¢ $ 1,90¢ $2,14¢
2007 111 84¢ 95¢
2008 70 66C 73C
2009 37 501 53¢
2010 36 367 40z
Thereaftel 262 1,70¢ 1,96¢

$  75€ $ 5,99( $6,74¢
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5. M ORTGAGES, N OTES P AYABLE AND F INANCING O BLIGATIONS - Continued
Financing Obligations
The Company'’s financing obligations consisted effitilowing at December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31 December 31

2005 2004
SF-HIW Harborview, LP financing obligatio(1) $ 14,98 $ 14,80¢
Eastshore financing obligatic(1) — 28,77
Capitalized ground lease obligati(2) — 1,77¢
Tax increment financing obligatic(3) 19,17 19,94¢
Total $ 34,15¢ $ 65,30¢

(1) See Note 3 for further discussion of these finagahbligations

(2) This liability represents a capitalized leabéigation to the lessor of land on which the Compeawned a building. The Company was obligated tkena
fixed payments to the lessor through March 201@ fiét present value of these payments discounfed 2% was shown as a liability in the balance &
which accreted each month for the difference betvike interest on the financing obligation andftked payments. The accretion would continue until
the liability equals the residual value of the la@ah March 31, 2005, this liability was settledaa®sult of the sale of the building and assumptipthe
buyer of the Compar’s ground lease¢

(3) Inconnection with tax increment financing mmstruction of a public garage related to an efbiailding constructed by the Company in 2000, the
Company is obligated to pay fixed special assestsyser a 20ear period. The net present value of these assedsnuiscounted at 6.93%, is shown
financing obligation in the balance sheet. The Canypalso receives special tax revenues and profsertyebates which are intended, but not guaranteed
to provide funds to pay the special assessm

6. EMPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS
Management Compensation Program

The Companys officers participate in an annual bonus progrdmereby they are eligible for bonuses based on@eptage of their annual base salary
the prior December. In addition to considering g practices of the Company’s peer group in deténg each officer’s bonus percentage, the offability
to influence the Company’s overall performancess @onsidered. Each officer has a target anngahitive bonus percentage that ranges from 30.085.0%6
of base salary depending on the officer’s positidre officer’s actual incentive bonus for the yisathe product of the target annual incentive bgrersentage
times a performance ‘factor,” which can range froemo to 200.0%. This performance factor depends tipe relationship between how various performance
criteria compare with predetermined goals. Forffiney who has division responsibilities, goals éartain performance criteria are based on thesidinis
budget for the year, and goals for other criter&éfexed objectives that are the same for all dovis. For corporate officers, the performance faistdased on th
average of the factors achieved by the divisiorcetiees. Bonuses are accrued and expensed in @negened and are generally paid in the first guarftthe
following year.

Certain other members of management participad® iannual cash incentive bonus program wherebsgattannual cash bonus is established based upor
the job responsibilities of their position. Casmbs eligibility ranges from 10.0% to 40.0% of annb@se salary as of the prior December. The actgt bonus
is determined by the overall performance of the @any and the individual’'s performance during eaghryThese bonuses are also accrued and expertbed in
year earned and are generally paid in the firsttquaf the following year.

In addition to the annual bonus and as an incemdivetain officers, the Company’s officers genlgregceive annual grants of stock options and ietstt
stock under the Amended and Restated 1994 StodkrOplan (the “Stock Option Plan”). The compengsatiad governance committee of the Company’s board
of directors has retained the authority to pay lseswand issue long-term incentive awards at itsetisn.
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6. EMPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS - Continued

Stock options issued prior to 2005 vest ratablyr der years and remain outstanding for 10 yeaisckSoptions issued in 2005 continue to vest rgtabl
over a four-year period, but remain outstandingsfren years. The value of all options as of the digrant is calculated using the Black-Scholgtson-pricing
model. The exercise price per share for optiongeidsn 2005 was based on the average of the dasjng prices for Common Stock over the 10-dayqukri
preceding the date of grant. The exercise pricespare for options issued prior to 2005 was equtie closing price for Common Stock on the dateédiately
preceding the date of grant.

As described in Note 1 and below, the Company $mseid restricted stock with varying vesting critewhich are accounted for as described in Note 1.
SEC rules have prohibited the Company from issuisgricted stock to employees who are not execufifieers under the Company’s Form S-8 registration
statement since the beginning of 2005 becausesalélay in the filing of the ComparsySEC reports. As a result, the issuance of sludnestricted stock earn:
by such employees has been temporarily deferreg. A million liability for the future issuance dfdse shares is recorded as of December 31, 2065. Ca
payments are being made in lieu of the dividendswould have been paid on the shares had sucasshaen issued when earned, and such payments are
charged to expense when made. The Company intensisuie such shares as soon as practicable.

The following table summarizes activity by year &irrestricted stock grants:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Restricted shares outstanding at Janue 307,64 334,18: 252,35!
Number of restricted shares awarded and is 117,00¢ 118,25 104,07¢
Number of restricted grants awarded, but sharegetdssuec 20,39 — —
Restricted shares vested (102,61Y) (137,93) (21,699
Restricted shares forfeited or surrendered for patrof withholding taxes upon vesti (11,45)) (6,859) (556)
Restricted shares outstanding at Decembe 330,98! 307,64t 334,18:.
Annual expense (1 $ 2,18¢ $ 3,721 $ 1,937
Average grant date market value per share foeatticted shares outstandi $ 24517 $  24.07 $ 24.0¢

(1) Vested shares for 2004 include 106,059 shheesdsting of which was accelerated upon the ratire of the Company’s former Chief Executive Office
on June 30, 2004; annual expense for 2004 incl@itigsmillion related to these accelerated vestedes!

Shares of time-based restricted stock that wereé 2005 under the Stock Option Plan will vest-third on the third anniversary, one-third on the
fourth anniversary and one-third on the fifth aremsary of the date of grant.

Total return-based restricted stock was issueduhée2005 Shareholder Value Plan to executiveefi in 2005 that will vest if the Company'’s total
shareholder return exceeds the average total setidra selected group of peer companies over a-ygar period. Except as otherwise described béfdhe
Company'’s performance is not at least 100% of twr group index, none of the restricted stock vaBt at the end of the three-year period. To thergx
performance equals or exceeds the peer groupgpttiemof shares that vest can range from 50% @%4,0and for exceptional levels of performance, toial
shares can be granted at the end of the threepgeiad up to 100% of the original restricted sttitht was issued. These additional shares, if anyldwbe fully
vested when issued. If issuance of such additisinales is expected, the related expense wouldcbededd during the term of the grants; no additienglense
was recorded during 2005.
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6. EMPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS - Continued

In addition, shares of performance-based restristeck were issued to executive officers in 20Ga thill vest pursuant to Company-wide performance-
based criteria. For 2005, the performance-bas¢etierivas based on whether or not the Company reetsceeds operating and financial goals estadish
under its Strategic Management Plan for the folloiong areas relative to established goals byetheé of 2007: average occupancy rates; long-terrhplab
preferred equity as a percentage of total asseex] Eharge coverage ratio; and ratio of dividetadsash available for distribution. To the extectual
performance equals or exceeds the threshold pesfurengoals, the portion of shares of restricteckstioat vest can range from 50% to 100%, and foeptiona
levels of performance, additional shares can betgdaat the end of the three year period up to 60#be original restricted shares that were isslibése
additional shares, if any, would be fully vestedewlissued.

Dividends received on restricted stock under atipaind current grants are non-forfeitable andpaie at the same rate and on the same date asmssh
of Common Stock on all shares held, whether owested.

In 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 PerformamaadPlan under which 349,990 nonqualified stodkoms granted to certain executive officers v
accompanied by a dividend equivalent right (“DERIh other options granted by the Company since 128 been accompanied by a DER. The plan provided
that if the total return on a share of Common Stateeded certain thresholds during the five-yeating period ending in 2002, the exercise pricguch
options with a DER would be reduced under a fornbalsed on dividends and other distributions madie respect to such a share during the period begjron
the date of grant and ending upon exercise of staxtk option. At the end of the five-year vestirggipd, the total return performance resulted ieduction in
the option exercise price of $6.098 per share.elegcise price per option share was further redbgehl.96 as of December 31, 2004 as a resulteodlitfidend
payments on Common Stock from January 1, 2003 gfir@ecember 31, 2004. Because of the exercise mitection feature, the stock options accompanyed b
a DER were accounted for using variable accourgipgrovided in FASB Interpretation No. 44, “Accangtfor Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation.” In December 2004, the Company ethiete an agreement with the participants to célaseadditional reduction in the option exerciseri
which fixed the exercise price per share reduciio$9.06. As a result, variable accounting is my&r required after December 31, 2004 as bothuhger of
options and the amount required to exercise is kndlie Company recorded compensation expense @6 $illion and $1.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Becdugsexercise price was not reduced after Decemhe2C®Y, no expense was required to be recognizttin
year ended December 31, 2005. As of December 3B, 20ere were 118,948 outstanding options whosecese price had been reduced in prior periods as a
result of the DERs.

The 1999 Shareholder Value Plan was intended tangthe executive officers of the Company whentti@ shareholder returns measured by increas
the market value of Common Stock plus dividendsers a comparable index of the Company’s peersetreeeyear period. A payout for this program, wh
is in cash, is determined by the Company’s pergenthange in shareholder return compared to theasite index of its peer group. If the Company’s
performance is not at least 100% of the peer groagayout is made. To the extent performance ebscé® peer group, the payout increases. No nemsgra
were made under the 1999 Shareholder Value PIa@db. There were no cash payouts for grants uhéeplan for the years ended December 31, 2005} 200
2003, respectively. The 1999 Shareholder Value Rlagcounted for under variable plan accountirdyastordingly, at each period-end, a liability dgoghe
current computed fair value under the plan fooatstanding plan units, adjusted for the three-yeating period, is recorded with correspondinggés or
credits to compensation expense. No compensatipense was required to be recognized during 2003 202003 for grants under this plan.
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6. EMPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS - Continued

The Company has a deferred compensation plan pitrsuahich each executive officer can elect teedef portion of his base salary and/or annual bonus
for investment in various unrelated mutual fund$oriRo January 1, 2006, executive officers alsold@lect to defer cash compensation for investrirennits of
phantom stock. At the end of each calendar quatsr executive officer who deferred compensatida phantom stock was credited with units of phansbock
at a 15.0% discount. Dividends on the phantom amg¢sassumed to be issued in additional units affm stock at a 15.0% discount. If an officer theferred
compensation under this plan leaves the Compamyfsay voluntarily or for cause within two yearsefthe end of the year in which such officer deferr
compensation for units of phantom stock, at a mimmthe 15.0% discount and any deemed dividend®disted. Over the two-year vesting period, the
Company records additional compensation expensa égithe 15.0% discount, the accrued dividendsaamydchanges in the market value of Common Stock
from the date of the deferral, which aggregated $fillion, $0.5 million and $0.7 million for the ges ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respect

401(k) Savings Plan

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan coveringtantially all employees who meet certain age angleyment criteria. The Company contributes
amounts for each participant at a rate of 75% efaimployee’s contribution (up to 6% of each empddyesalary). During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Compan
contributed $1.1 million, $1.2 million and $1.0 fiwh, respectively, to the 401(k) savings plan. Adiistrative expenses of the plan are paid by the@amny.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plafi fotive employees under which employees cast &econtribute up to 25.0% of their base
compensation for the purchase of Common Stockhéend of each three-month offering period, therdmutions in each participant’s account balanceiciv
includes accrued dividends, are applied to acahieges of Common Stock at a cost that is calcuktt&8.0% of the lower of the average closing poicghe
New York Stock Exchange on the five consecutivesdangceding the first day of the quarter or the fiays preceding the last day of the quarter. DQutie
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Conmgrared 33,693 and 50,812 new shares of Commotk,Stspectively, under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. SEC rules have prohibited the Coyripam issuing shares of Common Stock pursuartiégotan under the Company’s Form S-8 registration
statement since the beginning of 2005 becausesadéhay in the filing of the Company’s SEC repofs.a result, no shares were issued during 2006ruhe
plan. The administrator for the plan and the Corggseid $638,657 in cash at December 31, 2005 reptieg the participants’ deferrals that will be dise the
future to acquire newly issued shares for the gigaints’ accounts in accordance with the termé&eflan when such shares can be issued under thpadg's
Form S-8 registration statement. The discount smeid shares is expensed by the Company as additmmaensation and aggregated $0.2 million in edche
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 ctesie.
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7. RENTAL | NcOME A ND R ENTAL P ROPERTY A ND O THER E XPENSES

The Company'’s real estate assets are leased tasamader operating leases, substantially all aElvbxpire over the next 10 years. The minimumakent
amounts under the leases are generally eitherctubjecheduled fixed increases or adjustmentsdbais¢he Consumer Price Index. Generally, the kat®
require that the tenants reimburse the Companinéoeases in certain costs above the base-yea. ¢0sttal and other revenues from continuing ojoersit

consist of the following:

Contractual rent

Straigh-line rental income ne

Lease incentive amortizatic

Property operating cost recovery inco
Lease termination fee

Fee income

Other miscellaneous operating inco

Rental property and other operating expenses fiamtirtuing operations consist of the following:

Maintenance, cleaning and general builc
Utilities, insurance and real estate ta
Division and allocated administrative expen
Other miscellaneous operating exper

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
$350,90¢ $349,29¢ $371,80(
6,97¢ 6,604 8,03¢
(86€) (727) (604)
36,03t 32,93 35,59¢
5,97¢ 3,53( 5,82(
4,95( 4,63¢ 3,42¢
6,721 7,85¢ 5,96¢
$410,70:  $404,13.  $430,04

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
$ 52,08: $ 51,12¢ $ 53,14:
76,71¢ 75,14¢ 78,38:
10,97¢ 9,62( 10,32«
7,14¢ 7,27 6,34¢
$146,92!  $143,16¢  $148,19

Expected future minimum base rents to be received e next five years and thereafter from tenfortteases in effect at December 31, 2005 for the

Company’s Wholly Owned Properties are as follows:

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereaftel
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$ 336,42
313,65
269,06:
219,84:
174,46¢
507,11

$1,820,56:
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8. RELATED P ARTY T RANSACTIONS

The Company has previously reported that it hadrdract to acquire development land in the Bluegkéalley office development project from GAPI,
Inc., a corporation controlled by Gene H. Andersamexecutive officer and director of the Compauiyder the terms of the contract, the development laas
purchased in phases, and the purchase price forpdese or parcel was settled in cash and/or Contunds. The price for the various parcels was basedn
initial value for each parcel, adjusted for antiaest factor, applied up to the closing date and fds changes in the value of the Common Units. On
January 17, 2003, the Company acquired an additRha acres of this land from GAPI, Inc. for 8505hares of Common Stock and $384,000 in castofak t
consideration of $2.3 million. In May 2003, 4.0 exof the remaining acres not yet acquired by tmgany was taken by the Georgia Department of
Transportation to develop a roadway interchangedosideration of $1.8 million. The Department odfisportation took possession and title of the @rygn
June 2003. As part of the terms of the contraateen the Company and GAPI, Inc., the Company wateghto and received in 2003 the $1.8 million ggeds
from the condemnation. In July 2003, the Compameated the condemnation and is currently seekidgiadal payment from the state; the recognitiomoy
gain has been deferred pending resolution of tpeapmprocess. In April 2005, the Company acquioectésh an additional 12.1 acres of the Bluegradiey
land from GAPI, Inc. and also settled for cashfthal purchase price with GAPI, Inc. on the 4.0ezcthat were taken by the Georgia Department of
Transportation, which aggregated approximately $&llfon, of which $0.7 million was recorded asaypble to GAPI, Inc. on the Company’s financial
statements as of December 31, 2004. In August 26@5Company acquired 12.7 acres, representin@sh@arcel of land to be acquired, for cash o2 $8illion.
The Company believes that the purchase price wihect to each land parcel was at or below magdaevThese transactions were unanimously approyed
the full Board of Directors with Mr. Anderson akisiag from the vote. The contract provided that ldred parcels could be paid in Common Units oraslt at
the option of the seller. This feature constittaacembedded derivative pursuant to SFAS No. 138¢6anting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” The embedded derivative feature wascamted for separately and adjusted based on chamgee fair value of the Common Units. This résaiin
decreases to other income of $0.7 million, $0.4ioniland $0.2 million in 2003, 2004 and 2005, retely. The embedded derivative expired upon thsing
of the final land transaction in August 2005.

On February 28, 2005 and April 15, 2005, the Comgsaid through a third party broker three non-dadhustrial buildings in Winston-Salem, North
Carolina to John L. Turner and certain of his &ifés for a gross sales price of approximately G#iillion, of which $20.3 million was paid in caahd the
remainder from the surrender of 256,508 CommondJiiihe Company recorded a gain of approximatel $4llion upon the closing of these sales. Mr. Tarrn
who was a director at the time of these transastietired from the Board of Directors effectived@mber 31, 2005. The Company believes that thehpeec
price paid for these assets by Mr. Turner and ffiisades was equal to their fair market value. T8aes were unanimously approved by the full Badidirectors
with Mr. Turner not being present to discuss oevait the matter.
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9. STOCKHOLDERS ' E QuITY
Common Stock Dividends

Dividends paid per share of Common Stock aggredbitedD, $1.70, and $1.86 for the years ended DeeeB1h 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table summarizes the estimated tditgtuf dividends paid for federal income tax puses:

2005 2004 2003

Per share
Ordinary income $0.6€ $0.3C $0.3¢
Capital gains 0.9¢ 0.1C 0.2¢
Return of capita 0.05 1.3C 1.1¢
Total $1.7C $1.7C $1.8€

The Company'’s tax returns have not been examingdéiRS and, therefore, the taxability of dividensl subject to change.

On January 23, 2006, the Board of Directors dedlareash dividend of $0.425 per share of CommookSiayable on March 3, 2006 to stockholders of

record on February 7, 2006. On April 27, 2006,Bloard of Directors declared a cash dividend of 38.gder share of Common Stock payable on June & @200
stockholders of record on May 10, 2006.

Preferred Stock
Below is a tabular presentation of the Companyé&fé?red Stock as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Annual
Number Liquidation Dividends
of Shares Number Optional
Issue Issued of Shares Carrying Preference Redemption Payable
Preferred Stock Issuances Date Originally Outstanding Value Per Share Date Per Share

(in thousands,  (in thousands;

December 31, 200!

8 5/ 8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/199° 12t 105 $104,94¢ $ 1,00C 02/12/202 $ 86.2¢
8% Series B Cumulative Redeema 9/25/199° 6,90( 5,70 $142,50( $ 25 09/25/200; $ 2.0C
December 31, 200-

8 5/ 8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/199° 12t 105 $104,94¢ $ 1,00C 02/12/202 $ 86.2¢
8% Series B Cumulative Redeema 9/25/199° 6,90( 6,90 $172,50( $ 25 09/25/2000 $ 2.0C
8% Series D Cumulative Redeema 4/23/199¢ 40C 40C $100,000 $ 25C 04/23/200. $ 20.0C

The net proceeds raised from Preferred Stock isgsanwere contributed by the Company to the Opeyd&artnership in exchange for Preferred Units in

the Operating Partnership. The terms of each sefiBseferred Units generally parallel the termshef respective Preferred Stock as to distributibgsidation
and redemption rights.

Of the $86.25 dividend paid per Series A Prefe8kdre in 2005, $34.34 was taxable as ordinary iecand $51.91 was taxable as capital gain. Of the
$2.00 dividend paid per Series B Preferred Sha2®@b, $0.80 was taxable as ordinary income an2D3das taxable as capital gain. Of the $1.62 divideaid
per Series D Preferred Share in 2005, $0.64 wabtevas ordinary income and $0.98 was taxable@tatgain.
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9. STOCKHOLDERS ' E QuiTy - Continued

The Company used some of the proceeds from it®slispn activities described in Note 4 to redeemAugust 2005, all of the Company’s outstanding
Series D Preferred Shares and 1.2 million of itstanding Series B Preferred Shares, aggregati®@.$illion plus accrued dividends and, in Febyu2006,
2.0 million of its outstanding Series B Preferrdthfes aggregating $50.0 million plus accrued divitde In connection with these redemptions of PrefeStock
the excess of the redemption cost over the neyiogramount of the redeemed shares was recordadeiction to net income available for common
shareholders in accordance with EITF Topic D-42skhreductions amounted to $4.3 million and $1lifamifor the third quarter 2005 and first quar906,
respectively.

Stockholder Rights Plan

The Company has in effect a stockholder rights,phdrich is currently scheduled to expire on Octadhe2007, pursuant to which existing stockholders
would have the ability to acquire additional Comn&inck at a significant discount in the event aperor group attempts to acquire the Company onstef
which the Company’s board does not approve. Thighésrare designed to deter a hostile takeoventneasing the takeover cost. As a result, suchsigbuld
discourage offers for the Company or make an attguiof the Company more difficult, even when amguaisition is in the best interest of the Company’s
stockholders. The rights plan should not interfeith any merger or other business combination therd of directors approves since the Company magrady
terminate the plan at any time at nominal cost.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company has instituted a Dividend ReinvestraadtStock Purchase Plan under which holders of GamBtock may elect to automatically reinvest
their dividends in additional shares of Common Btaed may make optional cash payments for additisimares of Common Stock. The administrator of the
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan éas instructed by the Company to purchase Comnmuok $t the open market for purposes of satisfyire
Company'’s obligations thereunder. However, the Camgpmay in the future elect to satisfy such obl@at by issuing additional shares of Common Stock.

10. DERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 149, reqtiiee€ompany to recognize all derivatives on tharmag sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not
hedges must be adjusted to fair value through ircdfithe derivative is a hedge, depending on titane of the hedge, changes in the fair value ®tidrivative
will either be offset against the change in failuesof the hedged assets, liabilities or firm cotnmeints through earnings or will be recognized icuaulated
Other Comprehensive Loss (“AOCL") until the heddfedn is recognized in earnings. The ineffectivetiporof a derivative's change in fair value is rgnzed
in earnings.

The Company’s interest rate risk management objstare to limit the impact of interest rate change earnings and cash flows and to lower overall
borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, ftiome to time the Company may enter into interet& heedge contracts such as collars, swaps, capseastiry
lock agreements in order to mitigate its interag risk with respect to various debt instrumefte Company does not hold these derivatives falirigaor
speculative purposes.

The interest rate on all of the Company’s variabte debt is adjusted at one to three month inkergabject to settlements under any outstanditegest
rate hedge contracts. The Company did not receiyeraterial payments from counter parties underést rate hedge contracts in 2005.
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10. DERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS - Continued

The Company is exposed to certain losses in thet@fenonperformance by the counter party underangtanding hedge contracts. The Company
expects the counter parties, which are major firsastitutions, to perform fully under any suobntracts. However, if any counter party was to diefan its
obligation under an interest rate hedge contrhetQompany could be required to pay the full rate#s debt, even if such rates were in exceskefdte in the
contract.

On the date that the Company enters into a devivatintract, the Company designates the derivasv@) a hedge of the variability of cash flows e
to be received or paid in connection with a recpegdiliability (a “cash flow” hedge), (2) a hedgecbfnges in the fair value of an asset or a lighdlitributable
to a particular risk (a “fair value” hedge) or @) instrument that is held as a non-hedge deriwa@hanges in the fair value of highly effectiveltiow hedges,
to the extent that the hedges are effective, aerded in AOCL, until earnings are affected by lleelged transaction (i.e., until periodic settleraeaita variable-
rate liability are recorded in earnings). Any hedgffectiveness (which represents the amount higlwthe changes in the fair value of the derivatixeeed the
variability in the cash flows of the transactiosy&corded in current-period earnings. For deneatdesignated as fair value hedges, changes faithalue of
the derivative and the hedged item related to gughd risk are recognized in current-period eami@anges in the fair value of non-hedging insemis are
reported in current-period earnings.

The Company formally documents all relationshipsveen hedging instruments and hedged items asawé riskmanagement objective and strategy
undertaking various hedge transactions. This peotesudes linking all derivatives that are desigdaas cash flow hedges to (1) specific assetdianitities on
the balance sheet or (2) forecasted transactidrss Cbmpany also assesses and documents, bothtetdgieg instrument’s inception and on an ongoiagit
whether the derivatives that are used in hedgigstictions are highly effective in offsetting ches@n cash flows associated with the hedged it¥vien the
Company determines that a derivative is not (ordeased to be) highly effective as a hedge, thegaomdiscontinues hedge accounting prospectively.

The AOCL balance at December 31, 2005 and 2004p&&smillion and $2.8 million, respectively, anche@sted of deferred gains and losses from past
cash flow hedging instruments which are being raezegl as interest expense over the terms of théekdebt (see Note 11). The Company expectstbat t
portion of the cumulative loss recorded in AOCIDatcember 31, 2005 associated with these derivatsteuments, which will be recognized as interegtense
within the next 12 months, will be approximately. Bénillion.

In 2003, the Company also entered into two intenast swaps related to a floating rate credit figciThe swaps effectively fixed the one-month LIRO
rate on $20.0 million of floating rate debt at @®@%om August 1, 2003 to January 1, 2004 and @%.fom January 2, 2004 until June 1, 2005. Thesps
agreements were designated as cash flow hedgese $heps expired May 31, 2005.

As described in Note 8, the land purchase agreemiémiGAPI, Inc. included an embedded derivativatfiee due to the price for the land parcels being
determined by the fair value of Common Units, whigds accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133.

103



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

11. OTHER C OMPREHENSIVE | NCOME

Other comprehensive income represents net incooetipé changes in certain amounts deferred in adetied other comprehensive income/(loss) related
to hedging activities not reflected in the Consal@l Statements of Income. The components of atraprehensive income are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003

Net income $62,45¢ $41,577 $42,64¢
Other comprehensive incorr

Realized derivative gains/(losses) on «flow hedges (101) 79 3,86€

Amortization as interest expense of hedging ganuslasses included in other comprehensive inc 703 757 1,68¢

Total other comprehensive incor 602 83¢€ 5,55/

Total comprehensive incon $63,06( $42,41: $48,20:

12. DISCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND THE | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG -L IVED A SSETS

As part of its business strategy, the Companyfvaglh time to time selectively dispose of non-coregerties in order to use the net proceeds for
investments or other purposes. The table belowfsgtsthe net operating results and net carryialge of those assets classified as discontinuetipes in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Thesets classified as discontinued operations cemptb million square feet of office and industrial
properties, 121 apartment units and 122.8 acresvehue-producing land sold during 2003, 2004 &@52nd 1.9 million square feet of property heldsale at
December 31, 2005. These long-lived assets ralalesposal activities that were initiated subseqtethe effective date of SFAS No. 144, or that oegtain
stipulations prescribed by SFAS No. 144. The opamnatof these assets have been reclassified frerartgoing operations of the Company to discontinued
operations, and the Company will not have any ficant continuing involvement in the operationseathe disposal transactions:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Rental and other revenues $ 39,98 $ 69,15« $77,60:
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 17,80¢ 29,67 31,01%
Depreciation and amortizatic 11,96¢ 20,76 23,61:
Impairment of assets held for L — 1,77C —
General and administratiy 85¢ 49¢ 284
Total operating expens 30,63: 52,70¢ 54,91:
Interest expense 591 83¢ 1,75C
Other income 161 182 2,60¢4
Income before c-venture expense, minority interest in the Operatindgartnership and net gains on sales an
impairments of discontinued operations 8,92¢ 15,79( 23,54+
Cc-venture expens — — (1,227)
Minority interest in discontinued operatio (865) (1,639 (2,495
Income from discontinued operations, before net gas on sales and impairments of discontinued operatns 8,061 14,157 19,82¢
Gains on sales, net of impairments, of discontimygerations 25,75¢ 3,10¢ 10,74¢
Minority interest in discontinued operatio (2,52¢) (329 (929)
Gains on sales and impairments of discontinued opations, net of minority interest in the Operating Rartnership 23,22¢ 2,78 9,81
Total discontinued operations $ 31,28 $16,94( $29,64¢
Carrying value of assets held for sale and assédsdsiring the yea $433,03:  $531,36!
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12. DiscoNTINUED O PERATIONS AND THE | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG - LIVED A sseTs- Continued

SFAS No. 144 also requires that a long-lived aslsessified as held for sale be measured at therloihe carrying value or fair value less cossédl. As
a result, the Company recorded impairments witheesto certain properties sold or held for salgregating $8.4 million, $6.3 million and $0.1 nolti during
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 28§3ctively. These impairments were included inaliinued operations.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had 1.9 millemtable square feet of properties and 96 acreendfdlassified as held for sale. As of April 30080
most of these properties have been sold.

The following table includes the major classessseds and liabilities of the properties held fde ss of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31,

2005 2004
Land $ 25,25¢ $ 28,07¢
Land held for developmel 10,05¢ 15,18¢
Buildings and tenant improvemet 141,53: 169,09:
Development in proces (28) (90)
Accumulated depreciatic (32,97Y) (30,129
Net real estate asse¢ 143,84: 182,13t
Deferred leasing costs, r 2,07t 1,607
Accrued straight line rents receival 2,08t 2,022
Prepaid expenses and ot 28 11
Total asset $148,02¢ $185,77¢
Tenant security deposits, deferred rents and adaosts(1) $ 1,00% $ 1,41
Mortgages payabl(2) $ 1,87 $ 15,34¢

(1) Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthed liabilities.
(2) Included in mortgages and notes paya

SFAS No. 144 also requires that if indicators op&nment exist, the carrying value of a long-liabet classified as held for use be compared tsutime
of its estimated undiscounted future cash flowthéfcarrying value is greater than the sum airidiscounted future cash flows, an impairment &ssuld be
recognized for the excess of the carrying amoutti®@fsset over its estimated fair value. During=2@ne land parcel and one office property whiehnev
classified as held for use had indicators of impaint where the carrying value exceeded the sumdiSoounted future cash flows. Accordingly, the @amy
recognized impairment losses of $7.6 million whigére included in impairment of assets held forfese¢he year ended December 31, 2005. During 20t@&te
were two properties held for use, one of which lager sold in 2004 and the other was sold in 2088 indicators of impairment where the carryinduea
exceeded the sum of undiscounted future cash fléasordingly impairment losses of $1.6 million weezognized during the year ended December 31,.2004
Since these properties subsequently were soldmhairment losses have now been classified in irerom discontinued operations. For the year ended
December 31, 2003, there was no impairment lossseats held for use.
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13. EARNINGS P ER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation aéie and diluted earnings per share:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $31,17: $24,637 $ 13,00«
Non-convertible preferred stock dividen(1) (27,23%) (30,857) (30,857)
Excess of preferred stock redemption value oveyiray value(1) (4,277) — —
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per st(3)

(Loss) from continuing operations attributable éanenon stockholder (339 (6,21%) (17,849

Income from discontinued operatio 31,28" 16,94( 29,64¢

Net Income $30,94¢ $10,72¢ $11,79

Denominator:
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings pere—weightec-average shares (in thousan(2), (3) 53,73. 53,32! 52,95(

Basic earnings per shal

Loss from continuing operatiol $ (0.0)) $ (019 $ (0.39
Income from discontinued operatio 0.5¢ 0.32 0.5¢€
Net income $ 058 $ 02 $ 0.22

Diluted earnings per sha(3) :
Loss from continuing operatiol $ (0.0)) $ (019 $ (0.39
Income from discontinued operatio 0.5¢ 0.32 0.5¢€
Net income $ 0568 $ 020 $ 0.27

(1)
@)

For additional disclosures regarding outstandirgfdé?red Stock, see Note 9 included her

Weighted average shares exclude shares of unvesteitted stock pursuant to SFAS 1

Pursuant to SFAS No. 128, income from contigwperations, after preferred dividends and preéestock redemption charge, is the controlling nemb
in determining whether potential common sharesldngive or antidilutive. Because such potentiairtoon shares would be antidilutive to income from
continuing operations allocable to common sharedrsldiluted earnings per share is the same as ®asiings per share for the years ended Decenit
2005, 2004 and 2003. Potential common shares iadtatk options, warrants, shares issuable upovecsion of Common Units and unvested restricted
shares, and would have amounted to approximatélynélion shares, 6.7 millions shares, and 7.0ionllshares for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, potergt@hmon shares that would have been antidilutiveetduhe option or warrant exercise price being les
than the average stock price for the periods regdostere 1.6 million shares, 2.6 million shares, ardidmillion shares at December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively

The number of shares of Common Stock reservedifard issuance is as follows:

December 31 December 31

2005 2004
Outstanding warran 766,71! 921,71!
Outstanding stock optior 5,153,64 4,632,69.
Possible future issuance under stock option 1,731,83 2,531,33

7,652,19i 8,085,73

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had 145,18&&maining shares of Common Stock authorized tissheed under its charter.
As of December 31, 2005, 9.0 million shares of CamrBtock were authorized for issuance under thentieé and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan.
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14. Stock O PTIONS AND W ARRANTS

In 1995, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123, which recemas the use of a fair value based method of atioguior an employee stock option whereby
compensation cost is measured at the grant dagel lmasthe fair value of the award and is recognaest the service period (generally the vestingaekeof the
award). However, SFAS No.123 specifically allowsestity to continue to measure compensation cod¢iuAPB Opinion No. 25, so long as pro forma
disclosures of net income and earnings per sharmade as if SFAS No. 123 had been adopted. Thideghmber 31, 2002, the Company elected to follow
APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretationsdnaunting for its employee stock options.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148dvige alternative methods of transition for a viary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensatioaddlition, the statement amends the disclosurgramgents of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent
disclosures in both annual and interim financiateshents about the method of accounting for stadet employee compensation and the effect of thieatie
used on reported results. On January 1, 2003, dnep@ny adopted the fair value method of accourfongtock-based compensation provisions of SFAS
No. 123. The Company applied the prospective metfi@tcounting and expenses all employee stockepifand similar awards) issued on or &

January 1, 2003 over the vesting period basedefathvalue of the award on the date of grantgi#iire Black-Scholes valuation model. The adoptiithis
statement did not have a material impact on the @myi's results of operations.

As more fully described in Note 1, SFAS No. 123 @) become effective January 1, 2006 and willuieg recognition of compensation costs for unve
options the Company granted before January 1, 2003.

Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of a stock apt®estimated by using an option-pricing modet thkes into account as of the grant date the &eerc
price and expected life of the option, the curgite of the underlying stock and its expected tiliths expected dividends on the stock and thk-fige interest
rate for the expected term of the option. SFAS MR provides examples of possible pricing modetsiacludes the Black-Scholes pricing model, whioé t
Company used to develop its pro forma disclosures.Black-Scholes model was developed for usetimasng the fair value of traded options that have
vesting restrictions and are fully transferabléaeathan for use in estimating the fair value optayee stock options subject to vesting and traabibty
restrictions.

The following table summarizes information abowtcktoptions outstanding at December 31, 2005, 22043 and 2002:

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average

Number of
Shares Exercise Price
Balances at December 31, 2( 3,531,05! $ 23.9¢
Options grante: 756,95! 21.0%
Options terminate: (2,250 30.3¢
Options exercise (56,300 19.0¢
Balances at December 31, 2( 4,229,46. 23.4¢
Options grante: 834,07¢ 25.81
Options terminate: (257,00 23.5¢
Options exercise (173,84) 19.1¢
Balances at December 31, 2( 4,632,69: 2451
Options grante: 662,32t 26.2¢
Options terminate: (40,36¢) 24.2¢
Options exercise (101,000 17.3¢
Balances at December 31, 2(C 5,153,64: $ 24.2¢
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14. Stock O PTIONS AND W ARRANTS - Continued

Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted Average

Number

of Shares Exercise Price
December 31, 200 2,478,78. $ 23.6(
December 31, 200 3,343,741 $ 24.1:
December 31, 200 3,741,211 $ 23.8(

The following table summarizes information abowtcktoptions outstanding and exercisable at Deceibe2005.

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted

Number Average Weighted Weighted
Outstanding Remaining Average Number Average
Exercise Exercisable Exercise

Exercise price of Stock Options (000) Life (years) Price (000) Price
$10.00 to $15.00 104,58: 4.2 $ 11.62 104,85: $ 11.6¢
$15.01 to $20.00 39,00( 4.2 $ 18.3¢ 39,00( $ 18.3¢
$20.01 to $25.00 2,590,01 4.7 $22.3( 2,346,58! $ 22.4:
$25.01 to $30.0r 2,296,53! 6.C $ 26.6¢€ 1,127,26: $ 27.0¢
$30.01 to $35.0 123,51( 1.7 $32.3¢ 123,51( $ 32.3¢

Using the Black-Scholes options valuation moded, wleighted average fair values of options grantethd 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $1.92, $1.50, and
$0.19, respectively, per option.

Warrants
The following table sets forth information regamgliwarrants outstanding as of December 31, 2005:

Number of Exercise
Date of Issuance Warrants Price
April 1996 30,00( $28.0(
October 199° 626,71! $32.5(
December 199 110,00( $34.1:
Total 766,71!

All warrants are exercisable from the dates ofasse. The warrants granted in April 1996 and DeeertB97 expire 10 years from the respective ddtes o
issuance. The warrants granted in October 199tbave an expiration date. February 1995 warraggsegating 35,000 shares with an exercise pri§2bfoC
per share were fully exercised in February 2009uime and September 2005, 120,000 of the April 1g®6ants were exercised and the remaining 30,000
warrants were exercised after December 31, 2005.

15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES
Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equiveleastments and its restricted cash at financitititions. The combined account balances at each
institution typically exceed FDIC insurance coveramd, as a result, there is a concentration diitaigk related to amounts on deposit in excedsRIC
insurance coverage.
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued
Land Leases

Certain properties in the Company’s wholly ownedfiotio are subject to land leases expiring thro@§B2. Rental payments on these leases are adjusted
annually based on either the consumer price in@&t)(or on a predetermined schedule. Land leadgecuo increases under a pre-determined schedele
accounted for under the straight-line method. Texglense recorded for land leases was $1.4 millibrg million and $1.5 million for the 2005, 2004da2003,
respectively.

For three properties, the Company has the optiguutohase the leased land during the lease tetine afreater of 85.0% of appraised value or $0.03
million per acre.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company’s paymengabbns for future minimum payments on operatiragés (which include scheduled fixed increases,
but exclude increases based on CPI) were as fallows

2006 $ 99¢
2007 1,011
2008 1,027
2009 1,067
2010 1,08t
Thereaftel 35,787

$40,97¢

In addition, the Company has recorded $0.3 millionapitalized lease obligations as of Decembe805, which is reflected in other liabilities.

Capital Expenditures

The Company incurs capital expenditures to leaaeesfp its customers, maintain the quality of Xisting properties and build new properties. Cdpita
expenditures include tenant improvements, buildmgrovements, new building completion costs andl lafrastructure costs. Tenant improvements are the
costs required to customize space for the spauifiels of first-generation and secageheration customers. Building improvements ararrégy capital costs nt
related to a specific customer to maintain exisbogddings. New building completion costs are exggnfor the construction of new buildings. Landasfructur:
costs are expenses to prepare development larfigtfive development activity that is not specifigaklated to a single building. At December 31,200
remaining commitments under contractual purchasigaitons for these capital expenditures aggregapgtoximately $17.8 million.

Excluding recurring capital expenditures for legsiosts and tenant improvements and for normatiimgjlimprovements, the Company’s expected future
capital expenditures for started and/or committent development projects as of May 15, 2006 arecqiprately $200 million, which includes several s
started or committed after December 31, 2005. Aiiggant portion of these future expenditures argently subject to binding contractual arrangeraent

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company’s in-service pntigs have been subjected to Phase | environmassalssments (and, in certain instances, Phase Il
environmental assessments). Such assessments apdates have not revealed, nor is management afyaaey environmental liability that management
believes would have a material adverse effect eratfitompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

Joint Ventures

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withftiiated parties have buy/sell options that mayelxercised to acquire the other partner’s intevgst

either the Company or its joint venture partneeiftain conditions are met as set forth in theeesye joint venture agreement.

Guarantees and Other Obligations

The following is a tabular presentation and relatsgussion of various guarantees and other oiigeias of December 31, 2005:

Amount Date
Recorded/ Guarantee
Entity or Transaction Type of Guarantee or Other Obligation Deferred Expires
Des Moines Joint Venturgs),(6) Debt $ — Various througt
11/2015
RRHWoods, LLC(2),(7) Debt $ — 8/2006
Plaza Colonnad(2),(8) Indirect Debi(4) $ 51 12/2009
SF-HIW Harborview, LP(3),(5) Rent and tenant improveme(4) $ — 9/2007
Eastshore (Capital On(3),(9) Rent(4) $ 8,431 11/2007
Capital One(3),(10) Rent(4) $ — 10/2009
Industrial(3),(11) Rent(4) $ 50€ 12/2006
Industrial Environment&(3),(11) Rent(4) $ 12E Until
Remediatet
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L(2),(12) Rent(4) $  79€ 6/2008
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partn(2),(13) Indirect Debi(4) $ 104 6/2014
RRHWoods, LLC(2),(15) Indirect Debi(4) $ 63 11/2009
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(3),(14) Rent(4) $ 51z 4/2011
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(3),(14) Leasing Cost $ 61C 12/2024
(1) Represents guarantees entered into prior tdgheary 1, 2003 effective date of FASB InterpretalNo. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirectr@oi@es of Indebtedness of Ott” (“FIN 4£”) for initial recognition and measureme
(2) Represents guarantees that fall under the ing@dgnition and measurement requirements of FIN
(3) Represents guarantees that are excluded freffaihvalue accounting and disclosure provisidhBIN 45 since the existence of such guaranteegepts
sale treatment and/or the recognition of profibfrthe sale transactio
(4) The maximum potential amount of future paymeligslosed below for these guarantees assumesotin@&y pays the maximum possible liability under
the guaranty with no offsets or reductions. If $ppace is leased, it assumes the existing tenamtlteefit December 31, 2005 and the space remains
unleased through the remainder of the guaranty. téfme space is vacant, it assumes the spacememacant through the expiration of the guaranty.
Since it is assumed that no new tenant will ocdigyspace, lease commissions, if applicable, aleiéad.
(5) As more fully described in Note 3, in 2002 ®empany granted its partner in SF-HIW Harborvie®,d put option and also entered into a master lease

arrangement for five years covering vacant spadledrbuilding owned by the partnership and agregehy certain tenant improvement costs. The
maximum potential amount of future payments the gamy could be required to make related to thegeatantees and tenant improvements is $0.7
million as of December 31, 200
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

(6)

@)

®)

©)

(10)

The Company has guaranteed certain loans inemtion with the Des Moines joint ventures. The imasm potential amount of future payments the
Company could be required to make under the guaearwas $20.1 million at December 31, 2005. Ofdhisunt, $8.6 million arose from housing
revenue bonds that require credit enhancementditi@n to the real estate mortgages. The bondsd#aating interest rate, which at December 3N
averaged approximately 3.01%, and mature in 201gudantee of $5.5 million will expire upon an isthial building becoming 95.0% leased or when
related loan matures. As of December 31, 2005 hthisling was 87.0% leased. The remaining $6.0ionilin guarantees relate to loans on four office
buildings that were in the lease-up phase at the the loans were initiated. Each of the loansmdture by May 2008. The average occupancy ofdbe f
buildings at December 31, 2005 is 90.0%. If thetjgentures are unable to repay the outstandirenbab under the loans, the Company will be required
under the terms of the agreements, to repay thetamding balances. Recourse provisions exist tblehe Company to recover some or all of such
payments from the joint ventures’ assets and/opther partners. The joint ventures currently gateesufficient cash flow to cover the debt service
required by the loans. As a result, no liability leeen recorded in the Comp’s Consolidated Balance She

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint verg, the Company renewed its guarantee of $6.20milb a bank in July 2003; this guarantee exgites
August 2006 and may be renewed by the Companyb@hk provides a letter of credit securing industéaenue bonds, which mature in 2015. The
Company would be required to perform under the gntae should the joint venture be unable to repaybnds. The Company has recourse provisions in
order to recover from the joint venture’'s assets tae other partner for amounts paid in excesh@flompany’s proportionate share. The property
collateralizing the bonds is 100.0% leased andecuilyr generates sufficient cash flow to cover tebtdservice required by the bond financing. Assalte

no liability has been recorded in the Comf’s Consolidated Balance She

On December 9, 2004, the Plaza Colonnade, ldifi yenture refinanced its construction loan vet$50.0 million non-recourse permanent loan, thereb
releasing the Company from its former guaranteesadnstruction loan agreement and a constructiarptetion agreement, which arose from the
formation of the joint venture to construct an aéfibuilding. The $50.0 million mortgage bears adiinterest rate of 5.72%, requires monthly priatip
and interest payments and matures on January 37, Zbe Company and its joint venture partner tegred a contingent master lease limited to 30,772
square feet for five years. The Company’s maximuposure under this master lease was $1.7 millidbeaember 31, 2005. However, the current
occupancy level of the building is sufficient toveo all debt service requiremen

On March 30, 2004, the Industrial Development Autlymf the City of Kansas City, Missouri issued8$ million in nonrecourse bonds to finance put
improvements made by the joint venture for the Een&the Kansas City Missouri Public Library. $mthe joint venture leases the land for the office
building from the library, the joint venture wasligated to build certain public improvements. T bhond proceeds were $18.1 million and will beduse
for project and debt service costs. The joint venhas recorded this obligation on its balancetsi@sesh proceeds from tax increment financing reeen
generated by the building and its tenants are agdeo be sufficient in the future to pay the regdidebt service on the bonds.

As more fully described in Note 3, in connentigith the sale of three office buildings to a thiarty in 2002 (the “Eastshore” transaction),teenpany
agreed to guarantee rent shortfalls and re-termnotsts for a five-year period of time from theedat sale (through November 2007). The Company’s
maximum exposure to loss under these agreemenfseember 31, 2005 is $8.4 million. These thneiédings are currently leased to a single tenant,
Capital One Services, Inc., a subsidiary of Cafitaé Financial Services, Inc., under leases thaitetrom May 2006 to March 2010. This transactiaul
been accounted for as a financing transaction axgdrecorded as a completed sale transaction ihitidequarter of 2005 when the maximum exposure to
loss under these guarantees became less tharatesl r@eferred gain; gain will be recognized irufetperiods as the maximum exposure under the
guarantees is reduce

In connection with an unrelated dispositior288,000 square feet of property in 2003 (the “@d@ne” transaction), which was fully leased tita

One Services, Inc., a subsidiary of Capital Onekamal Services, Inc., the Company agreed to gteean the buyer, over various contingency periods
through October 2009, any rent shortfalls on cerspiace. Because of this guarantee, in accordaititSWAS No. 66, the Company deferred $4.4 million
of the total $8.4 million gain. The deferred pontiof the gain is recognized when each contingercipg is concluded. As a result, the Company
recognized $1.3 million of the deferred gain in 2091.7 million during 2004 and an additional $tilion in 2005. As of July 2005, there were no
remaining circumstances under which the Companyjddoei required to make payments under this guagaitecordingly, the remaining deferred gain:
recognized in the third quarter of 20!
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

(11)

(12)

(13

(14)

(15

In December 2003, the Company sold 1.9 miliqnare feet of industrial property for $58.4 mitliin cash, a $5.0 million note receivable tharbea
interest at 12.0% and a $1.7 million note receigdbht bears interest at 8.0%. In addition, the gamy agreed to guarantee, over various contingency
periods through December 2006, any rent shortfell$6.3% of the rentable square footage of thestnil property, which is occupied by two tenants.
The total gain as a result of the transaction v&8 #illion. Because the terms of the notes reguingly interest payments to be made by the buygr un
2005, in accordance with SFAS No. 66, the entir® $dillion gain was deferred and offset againstrtbte receivable on the balance sheet and the cost
recovery method was being used for this transac@@mnJune 30, 2005, the Company agreed to modifytte receivable to reduce the amount due by
million. The modified note balance and all accrugdrest aggregating $6.2 million was paid in farll July 1, 2005. Because the maximum exposurest
from the rent guarantee at July 1, 2005 was $0lBmithat amount of gain was deferred and $4.Bioni of the deferred gain was recognized at thsed
As of December 31, 2005, $0.5 million remains defgrwhich represents the Compasngbntingent liability with respect to the guarantadditionally, a:
part of the sale, the Company agreed to indemmifl/leold the buyer harmless with respect to envirmtial concerns on the property of up to $0.1 nmill
As a result, $0.1 million of the gain was deferatdhe time of sale and will remain deferred uili@ environmental concerns are remedie

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joirnture, a single tenant currently leases aneshtilding under a lease scheduled to expire on

June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases space inttidings owned by the Company. In conjunctiothvén overall restructuring of the tenant’s leases
with the Company and with this joint venture, thengpany agreed to certain changes to the leasehdtioint venture in September 2003. The
modifications included allowing the tenant to vactite premises on January 1, 2006, and reducingthebligation by 50.0% and converting the “net”
lease to a “full servicelease with the tenant liable for 50.0% of thesdsasthat time. In turn, the Company agreed topemsate the joint venture for &
economic losses incurred as a result of these haasifications. As of December 31, 2005, the Conypzes recorded approximately $0.8 million in other
liabilities and $0.8 million as a deferred chamy®@iher assets on its Consolidated Balance Sheectunt for the lease guarantee. However, shaid n
tenants occupy the vacated space during the twa dxadf year guarantee period, the Company'’s ltghihder the guarantee would diminish. The
Company’s maximum potential amount of future payrsevith regard to this guarantee as of Decembe2@a5 is $1.1 million. No recourse provisions
exist to enable the Company to recover any amaaitsto the joint venture under this lease guamateangemen

RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners esmreloped a new office building in Des Moines, lo®a June 25, 2004, the joint ventures financed
both buildings with a $7.4 million ten-year loanrn a lender. As an inducement to make the loar6e2% long-term rate, the Company and its partner
agreed to master lease the vacant space and eaentred $0.8 million of the debt with limited racge. As leasing improves, the guarantee obligation
under the loan agreement diminish. As of DecemteB05, the Company expensed its share of theemlasise payments totaling $0.02 million and
recorded $0.1 million in other liabilities and $0rlllion as a deferred charge included in otheetsen its Consolidated Balance Sheet with regpetbis
guarantee. The maximum potential amount of futaynpents that the Company could be required to rbaked on the current leases in place is
approximately $3.3 million as of December 31, 20D%e likelihood of the Company paying on its $0.@ion guarantee is remote since the joint venture
currently satisfies the minimum debt coverage raftid should the Company have to pay its porticin@fguarantee, it would recover the $0.8 milliamir
other joint venture asse’

As more fully described in Note 2, in connenotwith the formation of HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, theo@pany agreed to guarantee rent to the joint ventur
for 3,248 rentable square feet commencing in AugQ6# and expiring in April 2011. Additionally, ti@mpany agreed to guarantee the initial leasing
costs, originally estimated at $4.1 million, fopapximately 11% of the joint venture’s total squéoetage. The Company has paid $1.1 million in 2005
and $2.4 million in 2004 under this guarantee, @ million is estimated to remain under the gosra at December 31, 20(

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint vere, the Company and its partner each guarant2&dniillion to a bank in August 2005, effective
November 2005. This guarantee expires in Novem0@® 2nd can be renewed, at the joint ver's option, through November 2011. The bank provies
letter of credit securing industrial revenue bomdsich mature in November 2015. The joint ventuiatustrial building secures the bonds. The Company
would be required to perform under the guaranteelshthe joint venture be unable to repay the bofitie Company has recourse provisions to recover
from the joint ventures assets. The property collateralizing the bondegges sufficient cash flow to cover the debtiservequired by the bond financii
In addition to the direct guarantee, the Comparmpmmitted to a master lease for 50.0% of the dehtice should the cash flow from the propertybet
able to pay the debt service of the bonds. Asaltresthis master lease, the Company has recad@e@b million in other liabilities and $0.06 millicas a
deferred charge in other assets on its Consoliddémhce Sheet at December 31, 2(
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15. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued
Litigation, Claims and Assessments

The Company is from time to time a party to a vgr@ legal proceedings, claims and assessmergis@iin the ordinary course of its business. The
Company regularly assesses the liabilities andimgencies in connection with these matters baseti@fatest information available. For those mattehere it
is probable that the Company has incurred or wdlr a loss and the loss or range of loss candsnably estimated, reserves are recorded in thedlidated
Financial Statements. In other instances, becdube aincertainties related to both the probable@ue and amount or range of loss, a reasonalieagstof
liability, if any, cannot be made. Based on the@oir expected outcome of any such matters, notteesé proceedings, claims or assessments is edgedtave
a material adverse effect on the Company’s busifiessicial condition or results of operations.

Notwithstanding the above, the SEC’s Division of&nement has issued a confidential formal ordeneéstigation in connection with the Company’s
previous restatement of its financial results. Etieugh the Company is cooperating fully, it canm@vide any assurances that the SEC’s Division of
Enforcement will not take any action that would exbely affect the Company.

16. DiscLOSURE A BOUT F AIR V ALUE OF F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The following disclosures of estimated fair valuerevdetermined by management using available marketnation and appropriate valuation
methodologies. Considerable judgment is used &ypneét market data and develop estimated fair saldecordingly, the estimates presented hereimare
necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Camyrould realize upon disposition of the finanaistruments. The use of different market assumptand/or
estimation methodologies may have a material efiedhe estimated fair values. The carrying amoantkestimated fair values of the Company’s finainci
instruments at December 31, 2005 and 2004 werellasvt:

Carrying Fair
Amount Value
December 31, 200!
Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,21: % 1,212
Accounts and notes receival $ 3343: $ 3550¢
Mortgages and notes payal $1,471,611 $1,562,99
Financing obligation $ 34,15« $ 34,23t
December 31, 200.
Cash and cash equivalel $ 2448. $ 24,48
Accounts and notes receival $ 2387 $ 23,87(
Mortgages and notes payal $1,572,57. $1,670,07.
Financing obligation $ 6530¢ $ 66,71¢

The fair values of the Company’s fixed rate morgmgnd notes payable and financing obligations estimmated using discounted cash flow analysis
based on the Company’s estimated incremental bargorate at December 31, 2005 for similar typebafowing arrangements. The carrying amounts of the
Company'’s variable rate borrowings approximateValue.

Disclosures about the fair value of financial instents are based on relevant information avaitebtee Company at December 31, 2005. Although
management is not aware of any factors that woale la material effect on the fair value amountemeg herein, such amounts have not been revaloed s
that date and current estimates of fair value nigryificantly differ from the amounts presented liere
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17. SEGMENT | NFORMATION
The sole business of the Company is the acquisitienelopment and operation of rental real estaipgsties. The Company operates office, indusaral
retail properties and apartment units. There armaterial inter-segment transactions.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CDMSsesses and measures operating results basegroperty level net operating income. The
operating results for the individual assets withéth property type have been aggregated sinceDM&valuates operating results and allocates resswn a
property-by-property basis within the various pntpéypes.

The accounting policies of the segments are the senthose described in Note 1 included hereirthBuyrall operations are within the United Stated, a
at December 31, 2005, no tenant of the Wholly OwPegperties comprised more than 5.7% of the Conipamonsolidated revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental inconet,aperating income and assets for each reporsagiglment for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Rental and Other Revenues (1)
Office segmen $ 339,90 $ 335,64t $ 355,12
Industrial segmer 28,67¢ 29,01¢ 35,89¢
Retail segmer 41,01¢ 38,40: 38,00°
Apartment segmer 1,10¢ 1,063 1,022
Total Rental and Other Revent $ 410,70 $ 404,13. $ 430,04
Net Operating Income (1):
Office segmen $ 213,70¢ $ 211,80: $ 226,55¢
Industrial segmer 21,64 22,321 28,62¢
Retail segmer 27,91t 26,31 26,19:
Apartment segmer 512 521 471
Total Net Operating Incomr 263,77¢ 260,96 281,85:
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proerty, cc-venture expense, minority interest and equity ir
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortizatic (114,49) (113,419 (119,80
Impairment of assets held for L (7,587 — —
General and administrative expen (33,069 (41,485 (25,739
Interest expens (207,709 (119,189 (140,929
Interest and other incon 7,11z 6,14: 5,322
Settlement of bankruptcy clai — 14,43t —
Loss on debt extinguishme (453) (12,457 (14,659
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior — — 13,94(
Income before disposition of property, eenture expense, minority interest and equity imiegs of unconsolidate
affiliates $ 758 $ (5009 $ (15)
December 31
2005 2004 2003
Total Assets:
Office segmen $2,245,59! $2,529,57 $2,763,14
Industrial segmer 226,19¢ 256,34( 269,87¢
Retail segmer 259,54« 262,51t 279,73
Apartment segmer 21,12: 12,207 14,04(
Corporate and othe 156,51¢ 179,01¢ 186,42¢
Total Asset: $2,908,97¢  $3,239,65!  $3,513,22.

(1) Net of discontinued operatior

114



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

18. QUARTERLY F INANCIAL D ATA (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth quarterly finandiaflormation for the Company’s fiscal years endea@mgber 31, 2005 and 2004 and have been adjusted tc
reflect the reporting requirements of discontinogédrations under SFAS No. 144:

For the Year Ended December 31, 200

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Rental and other revenu(1) $102,55¢ $101,82¢ $101,84« $104,47' $410,70:
Income from continuing operatioi(1) 4,057 8,52¢ 11,40¢ 7,18: 31,17:
Income/(loss) from discontinued operati«(1) 17,097 2,90¢ 11,46¢ (184) 31,28
Net income 21,15« 11,43« 22,87: 6,99¢ 62,45¢

Dividends on preferred stou (7,713) (7,713) (6,699 (5,119 (27,239

Excess of preferred stock redemption cost oveytayvalue — — (4,277) — (4,272)
Net income available for common stockhold $ 1344 $ 3,721 $ 11,900 $ 1,886 $ 30,94¢
Net (loss)/income per shar-basic:

(Loss)/income from continuing operatia $ (007 $ 00z $ 001 $ 00 $ (0.0

Discontinued operatior 0.32 0.0t 0.21 — 0.5¢

Net (loss)/incom $ 028 $ 007 $ 022 $§ 00¢£ $ 0.5¢
Net (loss)/income per shar-diluted:

(Loss)/income from continuing operatio $ (0.07) $ 00z $ 001 $ 0.0 $ (0.0)

Discontinued operatior 0.32 0.0t 0.21 — 0.5¢

Net (loss)/incom $ 028 $ 007 $ 022 $§ 0.0 $ 0.5¢

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Rental and other revenu(1) $104,59: $101,73« $ 97,58¢ $100,21° $404,13:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatio(1) (1,349 6,007 16,65¢ 3,315 24,63"
Income from discontinued operatio(1) 7,481 461 4,45¢ 4,54( 16,94(
Net income 6,13¢ 6,46¢ 21,11 7,851 41,577

Dividends on preferred stou (7,719 (7,719 (7,719 (7,719 (30,85)
Net (loss attributable to)/income available for coamn stockholder $ (1579 $ (1,245 $ 13,400 $ 144 $ 10,72t
Net (loss)/income per shar-basic:

(Loss)/income from continuing operatia $ (017 $ (003 $ 017 $ (0.0 $ (0.19

Discontinued operatior 0.14 0.01 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.32

Net (loss)/incom $ (009 $ (002 $ 022§ — $ 0.2
Net (loss)/income per shar-diluted:

(Loss)/income from continuing operatia $ (017 $ (003 $ 017 $ (0.0 $ (0.19

Discontinued operatior 0.1 0.01 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.32

Net (loss)/incom $ (009 $ (002 $ 022§ — $ 0.2

(1) The amounts presented for the first three gusidre not equal to the same amounts previoustyrted in Form 10-Q for each period as a result of
discontinued operations. Below is a reconciliatiothe amounts previously reported in Forn-Q:

115



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

18. QUARTERLY F INANCIAL D ATA (Unaudited) — Continued

Total rental and other revenues previously repc
Discontinued operatior
Revised total rental and other reven
Income from continuing operations previously repd
Discontinued operatior
Revised income from continuing operatic
Income from discontinued operations previously regat
Additional discontinued operations from propersetd subsequent to the respective reporting
period
Revised income from discontinued operati

For the Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 3C
2005 2005 2005
$115,52° $ 106,70 $ 106,52
(12,97)) (4,879 (4,680)
$102,55¢ $ 101,82¢ $ 101,84«
$ 5,681 $ 8,882 $ 12,14«

(1,622) (356) (739
$ 4,057 $ 8,52¢ $ 11,40t
$ 15,47: $ 2,55 $ 10,727

1,62¢ 35€ 73¢

$ 17,09: $  2,90¢ $  11,46¢

For the Quarter Ended

September 3C
March 31, June 30, December 31
2004 2004 2004 2004

Total rental and other revenues previously repc $117,92: $106,50¢ $ 102,02¢ $ 115,30¢

Discontinued operatior (13,32) (4,779 (4,440 (15,089

Revised total rental and other reven $104,59: $101,73¢ $ 97,58¢ $ 100,21

Income from continuing operations previously repd $ 1,19¢ $ 6,80¢ $ 17,32« $  5,53(

Discontinued operatior (2,5472) (797) (66€) (2,217)

Revised income from continuing operatic $ (1,349 $ 6,007 $ 16,65¢ $ 3,31i

Income from discontinued operations previously regt $ 4,93¢ $ (336 $ 3,79 $ 2,32%
Additional discontinued operations from propersetd subsequent to the respective reporting

period 2,54z 797 66€& 2,21

Revised income from discontinued operati $ 7,481 $ 461 $  4,45¢ $  4,54(
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19. OTHER E VENTS
Retirement of Former Chief Executive Officer

The Company’s former Chief Executive Officer retiren June 30, 2004. In connection with his retinetnhe Company’s Board of Directors approved a
retirement package for him that included a lump sash payment, accelerated vesting of stock optiadgestricted stock, extended lives of stockarstiand
continued coverage under the Company’s healthifmthsurance plan for three years at the Compaeyfense. Under GAAP, the changes to existing stock
options and restricted stock give rise to new mesasant dates and revised compensation computafitvestotal cost recognized under GAAP for the sonths
ended June 30, 2004 was $4.6 million, compriseal$2.2 million cash payment, $0.6 million relatedhe vesting of stock options, $1.7 million rethte the
vesting of restricted shares and about $0.1 milicorcontinued insurance coverage. Certain compsnefrthis retirement package were required todzegnizes
as of the Board’s approval date, which was in tfst quarter 2004, while other components wereirequo be amortized from that date until his J88e2004
retirement date. Accordingly, $3.2 million was emped in the first quarter of 2004 and the remaidihgl million was expensed in the second quart@06#.

WorldCom/MCI Settlement

On July 21, 2002, WorldCom filed a voluntary petitiwith the United States Bankruptcy Court seekéii@f under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code. In connection with the bankrugiliyg, WorldCom rejected leases with the Compang@npassing 819,653 square feet, including theeenti
816,000 square foot Highwoods Preserve office canmplampa, Florida. The Company submitted banksuplaims against WorldCom aggregating $21.2
million related to these rejected leases and ottadters. WorldCom emerged from bankruptcy (now M@d,) on April 20, 2004. On August 27, 2004, the
Company and various MCI subsidiaries and affilithe “MCI Entities”) executed a settlement agreetipursuant to which the MCI Entities paid the Camp
$8.6 million in cash and transferred to it approxiaty 340,000 shares of new MCI, Inc. stock in 8eyiter 2004. The Company subsequently sold the &ock
net proceeds of approximately $5.8 million, andbrded the full settlement of $14.4 million as Otherome in the third quarter of 2004.

Casualty from Hurricane and Related Insurance Claim

In the fourth quarter of 2005, one of the Compamyfge properties located in southeastern Flosidstained damage in a hurricane. The damages are
insured except for a $341,000 deductible, which @qensed in the fourth quarter 2005. The Compahyat incur any significant loss of rental incoasea
result of the damages. In the fourth quarter 20@5Qompany wrote off $0.5 million representing éisémated net book value of the fixed assets tlea¢w
destroyed and therefore no longer in service. Thm@ny is making temporary repairs and is devetppimestimate of the cost of permanent repairfsdo t
building. The Company also accrued a corresponaimgunt of insurance proceeds, a portion of whichbdeen received from the insurance company. The
Company believes that receipt of all of the accrinsdrance proceeds is probable.
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For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2008 2002
A summary of activity for Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Additions: Deductions:
Charged tc Adjustments and
Balance at Balance at
December 31, 20C Expense Settlements December 31, 20C
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Straightline Rent Receivab $ 1,422 $ 1,52¢ $ (2,339 $ 60¢
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Accounts Receivabl 1,171 2,557 (2,110 1,61¢
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Notes Receivabl 122 294 (1593 263
Disposition Reserve 18C 1,38¢ (1,46%) 10C
Total Allowances $ 2,89t $ 5,76F $ (6,070 $ 2,59(
Additions: Deductions:
Charged tc Adjustments and
Balance at Balance at
December 31, 20C Expense Settlements December 31, 20C
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Straightline Rent Receivab $ — $ 1,70¢ $ (28€) $ 1,422
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Accounts Receivabl 1,23t 2,74 (2,806 1,171
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Notes Receivabl — 122 — 122
Disposition Reserve 75C 162 (732 18C
Total Allowances $ 1,98¢ $ 4,73¢ $ (3,829 $ 2,89t
Additions: Deductions:
Charged tc Adjustments and
Balance at Balance at
December 31, 20C Expense Settlements December 31, 20C
Allowance for Doubtful Accoun—Accounts Receivabl $ 1,457 $ 1,51¢ $ 1,74)) $ 1,23t
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SCHEDULE IIl - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION
12/31/2005

(In Thousands)

Cost Capitalized Subsquent tc

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total  Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
Description City Encumberance  Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Atlanta, GA
1700 Century Centce Atlantz 1,117 3,16¢ — 69C 1,117 3,85¢ 4,97¢ 1,147 1972 5-40 yrs.
1700 Century Circl Atlante 2,482 2 227 2 2,70¢ 2,711 194 1983 5-40 yrs.
1800 Century Boulevar Atlantz 1,44% 29,08: 1 9,597 1,44¢ 38,67 40,117 9,16C 1975 5-40 yrs.
1825 Century Centse Atlante 864 — 302 15,18¢ 1,167 15,18¢ 16,35 1,67C 2002 5-40 yrs.
1875 Century Boulevar Atlante — 8,92¢ — 1,71¢ — 10,64 10,64 2,41C 1976 5-40 yrs.
1900 Century Boulevar Atlantz — 4,74¢ — 41¢€ — 5,16C 5,16( 1,26¢ 1971 5-40 yrs.
2200 Century Parkwa Atlante — 14,43 — 1,912 — 16,34¢ 16,34« 3,93C 1971 5-40 yrs.
2400 Century Cente Atlantz — — 40¢€ 14,97¢ 40€ 14,97 15,38: 2,707 1998 5-40 yrs.
2500 Century Cente Atlante — 32¢ 20,60¢ 32&¢ 20,60¢ 20,93¢ 61 2005 5-40 yrs.
2600 Century Parkwa Atlante — 10,67¢ — 1,362 — 12,04: 12,04 2,72¢ 1973 5-40 yrs.
2635 Century Parkwa Atlantz — 21,64 — 2,18¢ — 23,83 23,83: 5,452 1980 5-40 yrs.
2800 Century Parkwa Atlante — 20,44¢ — 394 — 20,84: 20,84: 4,748 1983 5-40 yrs.
400 North Business Pa Atlantz 97¢ 6,23¢ — 70& 97¢  6,94( 7,91¢ 1,55¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
50 Glenlake Atlante 2,50C 20,00¢ — 285 2,500 20,29: 22,79: 4,10C 1997 5-40 yrs.
6348 Northeast Expressw Atlante 275 1,65 0 187 278 1,84z 2,113 40¢ 1978 5-40 yrs.
6438 Northeast Expressw  Atlante 18C 2,21¢ (@) 117 17¢ 2,33: 2,517 56C 1981 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valley Lan Atlante 19,71: — (947) — 18,77( — 18,77( — N/A N/A
Bluegrass Lakes Atlantz 81¢€ — 33¢ 3,35¢ 1,15z 3,35¢ 4,50¢ 87t 1999 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Place Atlante 491 2,061 — 55 491 2,11€¢ 2,607 467 1995 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Place Atlante 41z  2,58: — 18 41z 2,601 3,01: 544 1996 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valle Atlantz 1,50( — 40¢ 4,23¢ 1,90¢ 4,23¢ 6,147 1,21t 2000 5-40 yrs.
Century Plaza Atlante 1,29C 8,567 — 1,382 1,29C 9,94¢ 11,23¢ 1,812 1981 5-40 yrs.
Century Plaza | Atlantz 1,38C 7,73¢ — 1,137 1,38( 8,87C 10,25( 1,41¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Atlantz 451 — 341 3,121 79z 3,121 3,91: 67C 1997 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place Atlante 59¢ — 194 1,50¢ 79z  1,50€ 2,29¢ 30z 1998 5-40 yrs.
Chastain Place I Atlantz 53¢ — 17z 1,10: 71z 1,10¢ 1,81f 20C 1999 5-40 yrs.
Chattahoochee Avent Atlante 24€ 1,861 (24€) (1,867 — — — — 1970 5-40 yrs.
Corporate Lake Atlantz 1,268 7,24: 0 26C 1,268 7,50 8,76¢ 1,68¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Cosmopolitan Nortl Atlante 2,83: 4,147 (2,83) (4,147 — — — — 1980 5-40 yrs.
Deerfield | Atlante 1,20¢  3,90(C 14¢ 29z 1,35¢ 4,192 5,54t 1,56¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Deerfield Il Atlante 1,708 5,521 20z (626) 1,907 4,89: 6,80C 1,782 1999 5-40 yrs.
Deerfield Il Atlante 1,01 — 161 3,78¢ 1,171  3,78¢ 4,957 49z 2001 5-40 yrs.
EKA Chemical Atlante 1) 60¢ 9,88¢ — — 60¢ 9,88¢ 10,49¢ 1,92¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Gwinnett Distribution Cente  Atlantz 1,11¢ 5,96( 0) 1,381 1,11¢ 7,347 8,46¢ 1,712 1991 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Center | at
Tradepor Atlantz 1) 307 — 13¢ 3,15¢ 44¢ 3,15¢ 3,60( 1,15¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Center Il at
Tradepor Atlante (1) 641 — 162 3,35¢ 80z 3,35¢ 4,157 85€ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Center Il at
Tradepor Atlante (1) 40¢ — 13C 2,15¢ 53¢ 2,15¢ 2,697 22€ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Kennestone Corporate Cen Atlants 51¢ 4,92 (51¢) (4,92 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
La Vista Business Pai Atlante 81t 5,22¢ (815) (5,229 — — — — 1973 5-40 yrs.
National Archives and Recor
Administration Atlantz 17,87: 1,48¢ — — 17,68: 1,48¢ 17,68 19,16 605 2004 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place Atlante 81¢ — 35€ 2,69¢ 1,17t 2,69¢ 3,87¢ 51C 1998 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place | Atlantz 1,49¢ — 394 4,08¢ 1,89 4,08/ 5,977 1,34¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place Il Atlante 66¢& — 252 2,117 921 2,117 3,03¢ 29€ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place I\ Atlante 98¢ — 40€ 4,53¢ 1,39t 4,53¢ 5,93« 56C 2001 5-40 yrs.
Newpoint Place Lan Atlantz 2,112 — 12) 10 2,10 10 2,11 — N/A N/A
Norcross | & Il Atlante 32z 2,00 0) 151 32z 2,151 2,47« 504 1970 5-40 yrs.
Nortel Atlante 3,34: 32,11: — 12 3,34: 32,12: 35,46¢ 6,26( 1998 5-40 yrs.
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Cost Capitalized Subsquent tc

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total  Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
Description City Encumberance  Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Oakbrook | Atlanta 88C 4,99¢ 0 652 88C 5,64t 6,52¢ 1,437 1981 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Il Atlanta 1,591 9,03( ) (44€) 1,591 8,58¢ 10,17t 2,39¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Il Atlanta 1,491 8,46: ©) (2,000 1,491 7,46: 8,95¢ 2,10z 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook IV Atlanta 96C 5,44¢ ©) 234 96C 5,687 6,647 1,44C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook V Atlanta 2,22: 12,61 0 88¢  2,22¢ 13,50: 15,72¢ 2,90¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Summi Atlanta 94z 6,63¢ @) 42¢ 94z 7,06z 8,00 1,681 1981 5-40 yrs.
Oxford Lake Business Cent Atlanta 85t  7,15¢ — 414 858 7,56¢ 8,42¢ 1,758 1985 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners Atlanta 1,92 7,992 (665) (32) 1,25¢ 7,96( 9,21¢ 2,961 1999 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners | Atlanta 88C 2,01¢ — 2,772 88C 4,78t 5,66¢ 381 2002 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners La Atlanta 1,221 — (1,227) — — — — — N/A N/A
South Park Residential Lai  Atlanta 50 — 7 — 57 — 57 — N/A N/A
South Park Site Lan Atlanta 1,20« — 752 — 1,95¢ — 1,95¢ — N/A N/A
Southside Distribution Cent:  Atlanta 804 4,55: 0 1,21% 804 5,77C 6,57¢ 1,14¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport | Atlanta 557 — 261 2,58¢ 81¢ 2,58¢ 3,40¢ 434 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Il Atlanta 557 — 261 2,60(C 81 2,60C 3,41¢ 774 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport IlI Atlanta 672 — 37C 2,26¢ 1,04z 2,26t 3,30¢ 16 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport IV Atlanta 667 — 36E 3,41 1,032 3,41 4,44« 77z 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport V Atlanta 463 — 18C 2,171 64: 2,177 2,82 20¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Lanc Atlanta 5,24: — (99) — 5,14¢ — 5,14¢ — N/A N/A
Two Point Roya Atlanta 2) 1,79¢ 14,96¢ — (54) 1,79¢ 14,91( 16,70: 2,85: 1997 5-40 yrs.
Baltimore, MD — — — — — — —
Sportsman Club Lan Baltimore 24,93 — (11,829 — 13,10: — 13,10 — N/A N/A
Charlotte, NC — — — — — — — —
4601 Park Squat Charlotte 2,601 7,80¢ (2,60)) (7,80¢) — — — — 1972 5-40 yrs.
First Citizens Buildinc Charlotte 647 5,50¢ (647) (5,50%) — — — — 1989 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek | Charlotte 1,248 4,18/ (1,249 (4,184 — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek 11l Charlotte 84t 4,81( (845) (4,810 — — — — 1990 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek IV Charlotte 34¢ 1,16« (34¢) (1,164 — — — — 1993 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek Vv Charlotte 1,66 — (1,66%) — — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek VI Charlotte 84t — (84E5) — — — — — N/A N/A
Oakhill Business Park
English Oak Charlotte 75€  4,28¢ (75€) (4,28¢) — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oaknhill Business Park Laurel
Oak Charlotte 478 2,69t (475) (2,695 — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park Live
Oak Charlotte 1,40 5,620 (1,409 (5,620 — — — — 1989 5-40 yrs.
Oaknhill Business Park Scarlet
Oak Charlotte 1,081 6,13: (1,08)) (6,137) — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park
Twin Oak Charlotte 1,252 7,111 (1,259 (7,11) — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park Water
Oak Charlotte 1,63t 9,27¢ (1,63% (9,279 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oaknhill Business Park Willo
Oak Charlotte 44E  2,52¢ (445) (2,529 — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Land Charlotte 3,89¢ — (3,899 — — — — — N/A N/A
Pinebrook Charlotte 84€ 4,63( (84¢€) (4,630 — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
One Parkway Plaza Buildir Charlotte 1,11C 4,748 (1,110 (4,74%) — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Two Parkway Plaza Buildin Charlotte 1,69¢ 6,78: (1,699 (6,78%) — — — — 1983 5-40 yrs.
Three Parkway Plaza
Building Charlotte 1,57C 6,28 (1,570 (6,282) — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
Six Parkway Plaza Buildin  Charlotte — — — — — — — — 1996 5-40 yrs.
Seven Parkway Plaza
Building Charlotte — 4,64¢ — (4,64¢) — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Eight Parkway Plaza Buildir Charlotte — 4,69¢ — (4,699 — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
Eleven Parkway Plaz Charlotte 16C — (160) — — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Twelve Parkway Plaz Charlotte 112 — (112) — — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Fourteen Parkway Plaza
Building Charlotte 482 — (487) — — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
University Cente Charlotte 1,24t — (1,245 — — — — — 2001 5-40 yrs.
University Cente- Land Charlotte 7,12 — (8949) — 6,22¢ — 6,22¢ — N/A N/A
Columbia, SC — — — — — — — —
Centerpoint Columbie 1,32 7,50¢ 0 57 1,32z 7,56¢ 8,88¢ 1,80¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
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Description

Centerpoint ||
Centerpoint v
Centerpoint VI
Fontaine |
Fontaine Il
Fontaine IlI
Fontaine V

Greenville, SC
385 Building 1
385 Land

770 Pelham Roa
Brookfield Plaze

Brookfield-Jacob-Sirrine

MetLife @ Brookfield

Patewood Business Cen

Patewood
Patewood |
Patewood I
Patewood IV
Patewood \
Patewood V

Jacksonville, FL
Belfort Park VII- Land

Kansas City, MO
Country Club Plaz:
Des Moines Lant
Colonial Shop:t

Corinth Executive Building

Corinth Office Building

Corinth Shops Sout

Corinth Square North
Shops

Fairway North

Fairway Shop:

Fairway Wes

Residentia- Land

Land - Hotel Land -
Valencia

Land - JCN Parkway
450z-1

Land - JCN Parkway
4510 & 451¢

Land- Lionsgate

Neptune Apartment

Rental House

St. Charles Apartmen

Wornall Road Apartment

Nichols Building
One Ward Parkwa
Parkway Building

Prairie Village Rest & Bar

Prairie Village Shop

Shannon Valley
Shopping Cente

Somerse

Two Brush Creel

Cost Capitalized Subsquent tc

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total  Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
City Encumberance Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Columbia 1,192 8,09¢ 24¢ 10¢ 1,43¢ 8,20t 9,64: 1,85¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Columbia 265 — 59 1,33 324 1,337 1,661 298 1997 5-40 yrs.
Columbia 27¢ — — — 27¢ — 27¢ — N/A N/A
Columbia 1,22¢  6,96( (0) (942) 1,22¢ 6,016 7,24¢ 2,24¢ 1985  5-40yrs.
Columbia 94  5,37¢ 1 (772) 94¢  4,60¢ 5,55¢ 1,34¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Columbia 85¢  4,86¢ (0) (1,115 85¢ 3,75 4,61: 1,26¢ 1988  5-40yrs.
Columbia 39 2,257 (0) (184 396 2,07: 2,471 526 1990  5-40yrs.
Greenville 1,417 — — 3,514 1,41 3,514 4,927 1,06(C 1998 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 1,80( — 27 — 1,821 — 1,821 — N/A N/A
Greenville 708 2,81: — 49¢ 708 3,311 4,01¢ 80¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 2 1,50C 8,51« 0) 227 1,50C 8,741 10,24: 2,03t 1987 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 3,05C 17,28( (23) 3,30t 3,027 20,58¢ 23,61: 3,99 1990 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 1,03¢ — 352 10,56¢ 1,391 10,56¢ 11,96( 1,847 2001 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 1,322 7,504 0 197 1,32z 7,701 9,02 1,83( 1983 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 94z 5,117 — 1,03t 94z 6,152 7,09« 1,32¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 94z 5,17¢ — 71€ 94z 5,89¢ 6,83¢ 1,382 1987 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 2 841 4,77¢ 1 25¢ 84z 5,03t 5,87% 1,14 1989 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 2 1,21¢  6,91¢ 0) 217 1,21¢ 7,13t 8,35¢ 1,66: 1989 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 2 1,69C 9,58¢ 0 15¢ 1,69C 9,74¢ 11,43¢ 2,25¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Greenville 2,36( — 321 7,38¢ 2,681 7,38¢ 10,07( 1,431 1999 5-40 yrs.
Jacksonville 1,85¢ — (1,859 — — — — — N/A N/A
Kansas City 3) 17,24¢ 153,28 79 129,15¢ 17,32% 282,44% 299,77( 50,08¢ 192(-200z 5-40 yrs.
Des Monine — 2,451 — 2,451 — 2,451 — N/A N/A
Kansas City 141 657 0) 99 141 75€ 897 155 1907 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 52¢ 2,341 0) 651 52€ 2,99 3,51¢ 675 1973 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 541  2,19¢ (0) 33¢ 541 253t 3,07¢ 50z 1960  5-40yrs.
Kansas City 1,04: 4,44 — 18t 1,04° 4,632 5,67 89¢ 1953 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 2,75€ 11,49( 0) 97%  2,75€¢ 12,46 15,21¢ 2,35 1962 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 771 3,28¢ 0 30¢ 771 3,59z 4,36: 804 1985 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 68¢  3,21¢ 0 (121) 68¢ 3,09¢ 3,78: 687 1940  5-40yrs.
Kansas City 871 3,52% 0 33¢€ 871 3,86: 4,73¢ 765 1983 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 484 — 354 — 83¢ — 83¢ — N/A N/A
Kansas City 97¢ — 187 — 1,16 — 1,16 — N/A N/A
Kansas City 50 — (50 — — — — — N/A N/A
Kansas City 11¢ — (11¢ — — — — — N/A N/A
Kansas City 3,50¢ — (11) — 3,49t — 3,49t — N/A N/A
Kansas City 3,91¢  1,09¢ 6,282 0) 45 1,09¢ 6,74C 7,83¢ 1,26z 1988 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City — 764 — 74 — 83¢€ 83¢€ 15¢ 1960 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 30 16¢ (30) (aes) — — — — 1922 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 187 177 (187) @7y — — — — 1918 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 50z 2,03( 1) 40¢ 501 2,43t 2,93¢ 484 1978 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 68z 3,93% 2 (163 681 3,77/ 4,45 1,112 1980 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 404 2,04« (0) (2) 404 2,04: 2,44¢ 49C 1906-191C 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City  (4) — — — 1,37: — 1,37 1,37 258 1948  5-40yrs.
Kansas City  (4) 3,36€ 14,68¢ 1 3,341 3,367 18,027 21,39 3,52: 1948  5-40yrs.
Kansas City 519¢ 1,93 7,62t 1 1,39¢ 1,931 9,021 10,95: 2,12 1988 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 31 12t 0 — 31 12t 15€ 23 1998 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City 984 4,40: 0 19¢ 984 4,60( 5,58¢ 1,06¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
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Description

Memphis, TN

3400 Players Club Parkwi
6000 Poplar Ave

6060 Poplar Av¢

Atrium | & I

Centrum

Hickory Hill Medical Plaze
International Place |
Shadow Creek

Shadow Creek |
Southwind Office Center ,
Southwind Office Center |
Southwind Office Center !
Southwind Office Center |
The Colonnad:

Nashville, TN

3322 West Enu

3401 West En

5310 Maryland Wa
BNA Corporate Cente
Century City Plaza
Cool Springs

Cool Springs I

Cool Springs Lant
Eastpark I, II, & Il
Harpeth on the Green
Harpeth on the Green |
Harpeth on the Green |
Harpeth on The Green
Hickory Trace
Highwoods Plaza
Highwoods Plaza |
Lakeview Ridge
Lakeview Ridge
Lakeview Ridge Il
Seven Springs

Seven Spring-Land |
Seven Spring- Land Il
SouthPointe

Southwind Lanc
Sparrow Building

The Ramparts at Brentwot
Westwood Sout|
Winners Circle

Orlando, FL

Capital Plaza Il

In Charge Institut

Lake Mary Lanc
Metrowest Cente
Windsor at Metro Cente
MetroWest Lanc

Cost Capitalized Subsquent tc

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
City Encumberance  Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Memphis 2 1,00t — 207 4,90¢ 1,21z 4,90t 6,117 97t 1997 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 2,34C 11,38t — 2,07C 2,34C 13,45¢ 15,79t 1,927 1985 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 1,98( 8,671 — 1,247 1,98 9,92¢ 11,904 1,46¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 1,57C 6,25 — 1,22C 1,57C 7,47% 9,04: 1,69¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 1,01 5,58( — 1,22¢ 1,01: 6,79¢ 7,81 1,241 1979 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 401 2,27¢  (401) (2,27 — — — — 1988  5-40yrs.
Memphic  (5) 4,88 27,78: 0 2,497 4,88¢ 30,27 35,15¢ 7,26( 1988  5-40 yrs.
Memphis 924 — 242 7,148 1,16€¢ 7,14t 8,311 1,68t 2000 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 734 — 242 6,78¢ 977 6,78t 7,76t 661 2001 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 1,00¢ 5,69¢ (1) 701 1,005 6,398  7,39¢ 1,53¢ 1991  5-40yrs.
Memphis 1,36€ 7,75¢ 0) 62¢ 1,36¢ 8,38 9,74¢ 1,98t 1990 5-40 yrs.
Memphic  (2) 1,07 — 221 5,80 1,291 5,80 7,09 1,63t 1998  5-40yrs.
Memphis 744 — 19z 5,28: 937 5,28. 6,21¢ 1,15¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Memphis 1,30C 6,481 267 1,01z 1,567 7,497 9,06( 2,165 1998 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 2 3,028 27,49( — 1,58¢ 3,02t 29,07¢ 32,104 4,02¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 586¢ 22,917 (1,27%) 434 4,58¢ 23,35! 27,93% 6,028 1982 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1,86: 7,201 (401) (944 1,46z 6,257 7,71¢ 1,65¢ 1994 5-40 yrs.
Nashville — 18,50¢ — 2,30¢ — 20,80¢ 20,80¢ 5,53¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 90%  6,91¢ — (2,540) 90: 4,37¢ 5,28 1,12C 1987 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1,58: — (815 12,99¢ 76€ 12,99¢ 13,76 2,91¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1,82¢ — 91 21,96( 1,91t 21,96( 23,87¢ 4,371 1999 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 7,63¢ — (1,280 — 6,35¢ — 6,35¢ — N/A N/A
Nashville 2,84C 10,99: (609) 80¢ 2,231 11,80: 14,03 3,34¢ 1978 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 1,41¢ 5,677 — 1,041 1,41¢ 6,71¢ 8,13 1,707 1984 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 1,66( 6,64¢ — 1,197 1,66C 7,84¢ 9,50¢ 1,93: 1987 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 1,71 6,842 — 708 1,71t 7,54%  9,25¢ 1,82( 1989 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 662 — 197 4,36: 85¢ 4,36z 5,221 964 1998 5-40 yrs.
Nashville (5) 1,164 — 164 571t 1,328 5,71t 7,04: 1,165 N/A N/A
Nashville 1) 1,552 — 307 8,291 1,85¢ 8,291 10,15( 2,952 1996 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 1,44¢ — 307 6,65¢ 1,75¢ 6,65¢ 8,40¢ 1,568 1997 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 2,06¢ 7,267 (409) (1,00¢ 1,668 6,25¢ 7,92« 1,62( 1986 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 605 — 187 3,992 79z 3,99z 4,78¢ 77€ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 1,07: — 40C 10,55¢ 1,47¢ 10,55¢ 12,03 2,15C 1999 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 2,07¢ — 38¢ 13,85: 2,46f 13,85: 16,317 1,64C 2002 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 3,12: — 1,19: — 4,31t — 4,31¢ — N/A N/A
Nashville 3,71t — (1,069 241 2,651 241 2,89 — N/A N/A
Nashville 1,65t — 31C 7,114 1,96 7,11¢ 9,07¢ 1,83t 1998 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 3,662 — 58¢ 44 4,251 44€  4,69¢ — N/A N/A
Nashville 1,26z 5,047 — 738 1,26z 5,78( 7,04Z 1,372 1982 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 2,39¢ 12,80¢ — 60¢ 2,39¢ 13,41f 15,80¢ 1,937 1986 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 2,10¢ — 382 9,98C 2,48¢ 9,98( 12,46¢ 2,55¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Nashville 1) 1,497 7,25¢ — 69¢ 1,497 7,957 9,45¢ 1,64C 1987 5-40 yrs.
Orlando 2,99¢ — 26 — 3,02( — 3,02( — N/A N/A
Orlando 501 — 95 2,68: 59¢ 2,68: 3,27¢ 735 2000 5-40 yrs.
Orlando 9,80¢ — (9,809 — — — — — N/A N/A
Orlando 1,35¢ 7,68 18 1,34€ 1,372 9,03% 10,40¢ 2,12¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Orlando — — 2,06( 9,33t 2,06 9,33t 11,39t 50C 2002
Orlando 2,03¢ — 1,367 — 3,401 — 3,401 — N/A N/A
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Description

Pine Street |
MetroWest 1 Lanc

Piedmont Triad, NC
101 Stratforc

150 Stratforc

160 Stratforc- Land
500 Radar Roa

502 Radar Roa

504 Radar Roa

506 Radar Roa

531 Northridge Office

531 Northridge Warehous

6348 Burnt Popla

6350 Burnt Popla

7341 West Friendly
Avenue

7343 West Friendly
Avenue

7345 West Friendly
Avenue

7347 West Friendly
Avenue

7349 West Friendly
Avenue

7351 West Friendly
Avenue

7353 West Friendly
Avenue

7355 West Friendly
Avenue

7906 Industrial Village
Road

7908 Industrial Village
Road

7910 Industrial Village
Road

Airpark Eas-Building 1

Airpark Eas-Building 2

Airpark Eas-Building 3

Airpark Eas-Building A

Airpark Eas-Building B

Airpark Eas-Building C

Airpark Eas-Building D

Airpark East-Copier
Consultant:

Airpark East-
HewlettPackart

Airpark Eas-Highland

Airpark East-Inacom
Building

Airpark East-Service
Center 1

Airpark East-Service
Center 2z

Airpark East-Service
Center &

Airpark East-Service
Center 4

Airpark East-Service
Court

Airpark Eas-Simplex

Airpark Eas-Warehouse
Airpark Eas-Warehouse :
Airpark Eas-Warehouse
Airpark Eas-Warehouse -

Cost Capitalized Subsquent t

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot

Final Final Life on Which

2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total Accumulated Date of Depreciation is

City Encumberance Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Orlando 3,03C 48,04: (3,030 (48,04) — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.

Orlando 1,10 — 51 3 1,151 3 1,15¢ — N/A N/A
Piedmont Tria 1,208  6,91¢ — 1,14: 1,208 8,05¢ 9,26¢ 1,698 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria ) 2,78¢ 11,51: 0 717 2,78¢ 12,22¢ 15,01¢ 3,441 1991 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 96€ — 11 — 977 977 N/A N/A

Piedmont Tria 20z 1,50% — 21€ 20z 1,72¢ 1,92t 525 1981 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 39 28t — 62 39 347 38¢€ 97 1986  5-40yrs.
Piedmont Tria 39 29z — 13C 39 422 461 124 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 39 28t — 15 39 30C 33¢ 79 1986  5-40yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,60z 3,811 (1,602 (3,81) — — — — 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 4,548 10,82¢ (4,545 (10,82) — — — — 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 724  2,90(C 0 267 724 3,167 3,891 81¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 34C 1,37« 1 16 341 1,39C 1,731 381 1992 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 11z 841 — 21z 11z 1,05¢ 1,16¢ 297 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 72 55E — 134 72 68¢ 761 225 1988  5-40yrs.
Piedmont Tria 66 492 — 51 66 542 60¢ 14z 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 97 71¢ — 68 97 787 884 211 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 53 393 — 53 53 44¢ 49¢ 13C 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 10€ 78¢ — 12& 10€ 91z 1,01¢ 26 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 12z 912 — 52 12z 964 1,087 265 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 72 53¢ — 43 72 581 658 171 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 62 46C — 41 62 501 563 12¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 62 47E — 84 62 55¢ 621 17¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 62 46C — 42 62 50z 564 135 1985  5-40yrs.
Piedmont Tria 37¢  1,51¢ 1 162 37¢ 1,67¢ 2,05% 437 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 465 1,84¢ (@) 18€ 46z 2,03t 2,497 60z 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 322 1,29 0) 10¢ 32z 1,401 1,72¢ 397 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 50¢ 2,921 1 72t 51C 3,64¢ 4,15¢ 1,061 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 73¢ 3,231 0) 624 73¢ 3,861 4,60( 1,09¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 2,39: 9,57¢ 0) 2,05¢ 2,39 11,63t 14,02¢ 3,49z 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 85C — 69¢ 4,357 1,54¢ 4,357 5,90¢ 1,097 1997 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 224  1,06¢ 0 34z 224  1,41C 1,63¢ 55¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 46E — 38C 1,084 84t 1,082 1,92¢ 38% 1996 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 14€ 1,081 (@) (4 145 1,077 1,227 284 1990  5-40yrs.
Piedmont Tria 265 — 27C 76€ 53t 76€ 1,301 19 1996 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 237 1,10 0) 137 237 1,24C 1,47 373 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 19¢ 94¢€ (@) 30z 19z  1,24¢ 1,441 525 1985  5-40yrs.
Piedmont Tria 308 1,21¢ 0) 31¢ 308 1,537 1,84: 53z 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 22t 92¢ 0 134 225 1,06z 1,287 32€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 171 777 0 66 171 845 1,01« 25C 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 271 — 23¢ 727 51C 727 1,237 178 1997 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 35E  1,61: 1 19z 35€ 1,80¢ 2,162 57¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 37 1,52t 1 11C 374 1,63 2,00% 48€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 341 1,48¢ 0) 48€ 341 1,97¢ 2,31 62 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 66C 2,67¢ Q) 23t 65¢ 2,911 3,57(C 814 1988 5-40 yrs.



Airpark North- DC1
Airpark North- DC2
Airpark North- DC3 Piedmont Tria
Airpark North- DC4 Piedmont Tria
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria

Piedmont Tria
Piedmont Tria

552
584

11z
2,68
2,491
2,27:
2,04:

86C
1,30z
45C
452
54€
74¢
602
49¢

3,471
4,97¢
1,60¢
1,62¢
2,68:
2,491
2,272
2,04:

4,331
6,27¢
2,05¢
2,07¢
3,22¢
3,24(
2,87¢
2,54:

39C

1986
1987
1988
1988
1998
1999
1999
1999

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
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Description

Airpark South
Warehouse |

Airpark West 1

Airpark West 2

Airpark West 4

Airpark West E

Airpark West €

ALO

Brigham Roac- Land

Chesapeak

Chimney Rock A/E

Chimney Rock C

Chimney Rock

Chimney Rock E

Chimney Rock F

Chimney Rock C

Consolidated Center/
Building |

Consolidated Center/
Building 1l

Consolidated Center/
Building 1l

Consolidated Center/
Building IV

Deep River Corporate
Center

Enterprise Warehouse

Forsyth Corporate
Center

Highwoods Park
Building |

Highwoods Square Lar

Highwoods Square
Shops

Highwoods Square CV

Jefferson Pilot Lan

Madison Park - Building
5620

Madison Park - Building
5630

Madison Park - Building
5635

Madison Park -Building
5640

Madison Park - Building
5650

Madison Park - Building
5655

Madison Park - Building
5660

Madison Parking Dec

Cost Capitalized Subsquent tc

Regency One-Piedmont

Center

Regency Two-Piedmont

Center
Sears Cenfac
The Knollwoo-370
The Knollwoo-380
The Knollwood -380
Retail
University Commercial
Cente-Archer 4
University Commercial
Cente-Landmark &
University Commercial
Center-Service

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total  Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
City Encumberance  Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Piedmont Tria 1,732 — — 5,561 1,73 5,561 7,29¢ 1,74¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 944 3,831 0 60€ 944 4,437 5,381 1,46 1984 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 887 3,55( 0) 311 887 3,861 4,74¢ 1,08z 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 227 907 0 32¢ 227 1,23t 1,46: 33€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 242 971 0 31¢€ 24z 1,287 1,53( 41C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 327 1,30¢ ©) 11¢ 327 1,42¢ 1,75¢ 40z 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 177 — 80 91¢ 257 91¢ 1,17¢ 126 1998 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 7,05¢ — 68 — 7,127 — 7,127 — N/A N/A
Piedmont Tria 1,241 4,96: 0 16 1,241 4,97¢ 6,22( 1,355 1993 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,61 4,04t 0 62 1,61: 4,107 5,72 76€ 1981 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 60t 1,51« 0 (8) 605 1,50¢ 2,111 245 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 23€ 592 ©) 50 23€ 64z 87¢ 157 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,69¢ 4,26 @ 32 1,69t 4,297 5,997 82z 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,43¢  3,60¢ Q) (263) 1,43: 3,348 4,77¢ 681 1987 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,04 2,62 1 (17z) 1,04¢ 2,45 3,49¢ 49t 1987 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 62 2,18t — 21z 625 2,39t 3,02 447 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 625 4,43t — 344 625  4,77¢ 5,40¢ 95¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 68C 3,572 — 14z 68C 3,71¢ 4,39« 74C 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 37€¢ 1,65°¢ — 21¢ 37€¢ 1,877 2,24¢ 412z 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,041 5,89 0 441 1,041 6,33:  7,37¢ 1,791 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 45% — 36(C 3,16¢ 81z 3,166 3,97¢ 59¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 32¢€ 1,867 1 484 32¢ 2,351 2,68( 621 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,99: — (517) 8,36( 1,47¢ 8,36( 9,83¢ 745 2001 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,811 — 2 — 1,81: — 1,81: 2004
Piedmont Tria 1,031 — 30 1,38 1,061 1,38 2,441 26
Piedmont Tria 1,41¢ — 537 — 1,95¢ 1,95¢ —
Piedmont Tria 11,75¢ —  (4,25)) — 7,50z — 7,50z N/A N/A
Piedmont Tria 94z 2,22( ©) (20) 94z 2,200 3,14z 41¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,48¢ 3,507 0 (9) 1,48¢ 3,49¢ 4,98¢ 661 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 894 2,10¢ 0 17¢& 894 2,281 3,17¢ 407 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,831 6,531 0 (41) 1,831 6,49C 8,321 1,24t 1985 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,082 2,551 ©) 25 1,08z 2,57¢ 3,65¢ 50€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,947 7,12¢ ©) 157 1,947 7,280 9,227 1,39¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 1,91: 4,50¢ (0) (34 1,91z 4,47: 6,38¢ 84¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 5,75t 8,82 — 49€ 5,75 9,31¢ 15,07: 1,60¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 51t — 382 2,517 89¢ 2,517 3,41t 1,00¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 43E — 28¢ 1,67¢ 72z 1,67¢ 2,39¢ 405 1996 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 2) 834 3,45¢ ©) (315) 834 3,14¢ 3,97¢ 81z 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 2 1,82¢ 7,49¢ (0) 62€¢ 1,82¢ 8,121 9,947 2,427 1994 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 2) 2,98¢ 12,02¢ 0 1,48¢ 2,98¢ 13,517 16,50¢ 3,81€ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 2 — 1 — 14¢ — 14¢ 14¢ 83 1995 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 51€ 2,06¢ (0) 28¢€ 51€ 2,35 2,86¢ 65€ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Tria 431 1,78t 0 601 431 2,38¢ 2,817 69t 1985 5-40 yrs.



Center 1 Piedmont Tria

University Commercial
Center-Service
Center z

University Commercial
Center-Service
Center &

University Commercial
Cente-Warehouse

University Commercial
Cente-Warehouse ; Piedmont Tria

US Airways

Piedmont Tria
Piedmont Tria

Piedmont Tria

Piedmont Tria
Westpoint Business Pa

Land Piedmont Tria
Westpoint Business
Park-BMF Piedmont Tria

Westpoint Business
Parl-Luwabahnsot

Westpoint Business
Park-Wp 13

Piedmont Tria
Piedmont Tria

Research Triangle, N

271

21¢

16€
204
197
1,451
86¢
79¢€
347

29¢

1,15¢

862

70z

3,19:
1,38¢

1,21¢

() 117 277

@) 88 21
@) 37¢ 167
0 132 204
0 42 197
@) (29 1,45
(457) —
(798) (3199 —
) 48 347
(29¢) 1219 —

124

1,27¢

95C

1,081

947

831

11,34¢

1,55¢

1,16¢

1,24¢
1,151
1,02¢
12,79¢

411

1,78¢

1983

1983

1984
1983
1983
1970-
1987
N/A
1986
1990

1988

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.



Table of Contents

Cost Capitalized Subsquent t

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Perio
Final Final Life on Which

2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total Accumulated Date of Depreciation is
Description City Encumberance Land  Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Research Triangle, NC — — — — —
3600 Glenwood Avenu Research Triang — 10,99¢ — 17 - 11,017 11,01 2,417 1986  5-40yrs.
3737 Glenwood Avenu Research Triang — — 31¢ 16,64: 31€ 16,64: 16,95¢ 3,632 1999 5-40 yrs.
4101 Research Commo Research Triang 1,34¢  8,34¢ 22C (37€) 1,56¢ 7,97C 9,53¢ 1,54C 1999  5-40yrs.
4201 Research Commo Research Triang 1,20¢ 11,85¢ — (28) 1,20¢ 11,83( 13,03: 4,62F 1991 5-40 yrs.
4301 Research Commo Research Triang 90C 8,237 — 29 90C 8,26¢ 9,16¢ 2,172 1989 5-40 yrs.
4401 Research Commo Research Triang 1,24¢ 9,387 — 2,807 1,24¢ 12,19¢ 13,44: 4,08¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
4501 Research Commo Research Triang 785 5,85¢ — 85 785 5,941 6,72¢ 2,23¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
4800 North Parl Research Triang 2,67¢ 17,63( — 1,00¢ 2,67¢ 18,63¢ 21,31 5,50¢ 1985  5-40yrs.
4900 North Parl Research Triang 96¢ 77C 1,98t — 571 77C 2,55¢ 3,32¢ 725 1984  5-40yrs.
5000 North Parl Research Triang 2 1,01C 4,61 — 1,92¢ 1,01C 6,541 7,551 2,12C 1980 5-40 yrs.
3645 Trust Drive -

One North Commerce

Center Research Triang 798 2,97¢ Q) 84¢€ 79z 3,82z 4,61« 981 1984  5-40yrs.
5200 Greens Dairy-One

North Commerce CeniResearch Triang 17C 96¢ 1 15C 171 1,11¢ 1,28¢ 25¢€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
5220 Greens Dairy-One

North Commerce CeniResearch Triang 38t 2,18 0 34z 38t 2,52¢ 2,91t 66€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Phase | -One North

Commerce Cente Research Triang 774  4,49¢ 0 822 774 5,31¢ 6,09¢ 1,14C 1981 5-40 yrs.
W Building - One North

Commerce Cente Research Triang 1,172 6,86¢ 0 2,08C 1,17z 8,94t 10,117 3,028 1983 5-40 yrs.
801 Corporate Cent Research Triang 82¢ — 272 10,19¢ 1,10C 10,19¢ 11,29¢ 87z 2002 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge | Research Triang (1) 722  4,60¢€ — 612 72z 5,21¢ 5,94( 1,62 1982  5-40yrs.
Blue Ridge Il Research Triang (1) 46z 1,41C — 48¢€ 46z 1,89¢ 2,35¢ 875 1988  5-40yrs.
BTI Research Triang — — — — — — — — 1979  5-40yrs.
Cape Fea Research Triang 131 1,63( — 80z 131 2,43z 2,56: 1,75C 1979 5-40 yrs.
Catawbe Research Triang 125 1,63¢ — 1,021 128 2,65¢ 2,781 1,55¢ 1980 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen On- Westor Research Triang (5) 1,52¢ — (392) 9,55¢ 1,137 9,55¢ 10,69 1,89: 2000 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Tw- Westor Research Triang (5) 1,658 — (399) 10,24¢ 1,26( 10,24¢ 11,50¢ 1,89¢ 2001  5-40yrs.
CentreGreen Three Land -

Weston Research Triang 1,87¢ — 801 — 2,671 — 2,67 — N/A N/A
CentreGreen Fol Research Triang (5) 1,77¢ — (399 12,68: 1,38t 12,68: 14,06¢ 1,47¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Five Land -

Weston Research Triang 3,06z — (1,639 — 1,43( —  1,43( — N/A N/A
Concourse Research Triang 98¢ 15,12¢ — 552 98€ 15,67¢ 16,66 5,75¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Cottonwooc Research Triang 60¢ 3,24¢ — 201 60€ 3,44t 4,05¢ 977 1983 5-40 yrs.
Creekstone Crossing Research Triang 72¢ 3,841 (728§ (3,84)) — — — — 1990 5-40yrs.
Day Tract Residentic Research Triang 7,66¢ — (2,929 17 4,74C 17 4,757 — N/A N/A
Dogwood Research Triang 76€ 2,76¢ — 464 76€ 3,23: 3,99¢ 912 1983  5-40yrs.
EPA Research Triang 2,601 — 4 1,65¢ 2,60F 1,65¢ 4,25¢ 111 2003 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Lanc Research Triang 5,33t — 5,87 — 11,20: — 11,20° 11€  N/A N/A
GlenLake Bldg | Research Triang (5) 924 — 68€ 21,88¢ 1,61C 21,88¢ 23,49¢ 2,52: 2002  5-40yrs.
Global Software Research Triang ) 465 — 27¢ 7,06¢ 744 7,06 7,801 2,79¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Hawthorn Research Triang 904 3,76¢ (9049 (3,769 — — — — 1987  5-40 yrs.
Healthsourct Research Triang 1,30¢ — 54C 11,71 1,84¢ 11,71: 13,55¢ 3,53¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Cent-Westor Research Triang (1) 531 — (267) 7,351 264 7,351 7,61t 1,768 1998  5-40yrs.
Highwoods Office Center

North Land Research Triang 35¢E 49 2 — 357 49 40¢€ 22 N/A N/A
Highwoods Office Center

South Lanc Research Triang 2,411 —  (2,41) — — — — — N/A N/A
Highwoods Tower On  Research Triang (2) 203 16,74+« — 1,45¢ 203 18,20: 18,40¢ 6,797 1991  5-40yrs.
Highwoods Tower Tw«  Research Triang 36E — 503 22,46 86€ 22,46 23,33: 3,65¢ 2001  5-40yrs.
Holiday Inn Reservations

Center Research Triang 867 2,727 — 1,10: 867 3,83( 4,697 961 1984 5-40 yrs.
Inveresk Land Parcel Research Triang 657 — — — 657 — 657 — N/A N/A
Inveresk Land Parcel Research Triang 54¢ — — — 54¢ — 54¢ — N/A N/A
Ironwood Research Triang 31¢ 1,337 (319 (1,337) — — — — 1978  5-40 yrs.
Magnolia Research Triang 13z 3,57¢ — 764 132 4,34( 4,47: 2,132 1988 5-40 yrs.
Lake Plaza Eas Research Triang 85€ 6,32t  (85€) (6,325 — — — — 1984  5-40 yrs.
Laurel Research Triang 884 2,517 — 84¢ 884 3,36: 4,24 1,19¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Leatherwooc Research Triang 212 891 (213 (891) — — — — 1979  5-40yrs.
Maplewood Research Triang (1) 14¢ — 107 2,80¢ 25€ 2,80¢ 3,062 334 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Northpark Lanc- Wake

Forest Research Triang 1,58¢€ — (85€) — 73C — 73C — N/A N/A
Overlook Research Triang 39¢ — 29z 9,59¢ 691 9,59 10,28¢ 1,621 1999 5-40 yrs.



Pamlico Research Triang 28¢ — — 11,99: 28¢ 11,99: 12,28: 5,96¢ 1980  5-40yrs.
ParkWest On- Weston Research Triang 383 — (147 4,08¢ 24z 4,08¢ 4,331 917 2001  5-40yrs.
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Description

ParkWest Two -
Weston

ParkWest Three -
Land- Weston

Progress Center
Renovatior

Raleigh Corp Center

Lot D
Red Oak
Rexwoods Center
Rexwoods Center
Rexwoods Center |
Rexwoods Center I
Rexwoods Center '
Riverbirch
Situs |
Situs 1l
Situs 1l
Six Forks Center
Six Forks Center |
Six Forks Center I
Smoketree Towe
Sycamore
Weston Lanc
Willow Oak
Other Property

Richmond, VA
4900 Cox Roa
Colonade Building
Dominion Place -
Pitts Parce
Grove Park
Hamilton Beact
Highwoods
Commons
Highwoods Five
Highwoods One
Highwoods Plaz
Highwoods Twc
Innslake Cente
Liberty Mutual
North Park
North Shore
Commons A
North Shore
Commons B -
Land
North Shore
Commons C -
Land
North Shore
Commons D -
Land
One Shockoe Pla:
Pavillion Land
Saxon Capital
Building
Sadler & Cox Lanc
Stony Point F Lani
Stony Point |
Stony Point Il
Stony Point Il
Technology Park
Technology Park
Vantage Place /

Cost Capitalized Subsquent tc

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total  Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
City Encumberance  Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Research Triang 503 — (147) 3,99t 35€ 3,99t 4,351 42¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 834 — (227) — 607 — 607 1 NA N/A
Research Triang — — — 362 — 362 362 24 2003 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 1,211 — 8 — 1,21¢ — 1,21¢ — N/A N/A
Research Triang 38¢ — 19& 5,80: 584 5,80 6,38 2,048 1999 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 87¢ 3,73( — 644 87¢ 4,37¢ 5,25 1,75¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 36z 1,81¢ — 522 36z 2,34( 2,70z 614 1993 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 91¢ 2,81¢ — 1,02¢ 91¢ 3,841 4,76( 1,368 1992 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 58€ — — 3,37¢ 58¢ 3,37¢ 3,96 924 1995 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang ) 1,301 — 184 5,13¢ 1,48 5,13¢ 6,62¢ 1,00¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 2) 46¢  4,03¢ — 19t 46S 4,23 4,702 1,342 1987 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 69z 4,64¢ 17¢ 84 87C 4,73( 5,60( 1,84¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 71€ 6,25¢ 181 68 89¢ 6,32: 7,221 2,532 1998 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 44C 4,07¢ 11¢ (4439) 55¢ 3,63t 4,19« 35€ 2000 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 66€ 2,66°F — 1,12¢ 66€ 3,791 4,457 1,06( 1982 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 1,08¢ 4,53: — 1,08¢ 1,08¢ 5,62 6,70¢ 1,52: 1983 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 2) 86z 4,411 — 54¢ 86z 4,95¢ 5,821 1,421 1987 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 2,35¢ 11,74: — 2,32¢ 2,357 14,06¢ 16,42: 4,427 1984 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 2) 25E — 217 4,87¢ 47z  4,87¢  5,35( 1,141 1997 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 22,77 —  (8,47)) — 14,29 — 14,29 — N/A N/A
Research Triang 2) 45¢ — 26¢& 4,88: 72€ 4,88: 5,60¢ 1,247 1995 5-40 yrs.
Research Triang 47 9,49¢ 3,03: 26,94¢  3,07¢ 36,44: 39,52 12,44¢ N/A N/A
Richmond 1,32¢ 5,311 — 181 1,32¢ 5,49. 6,81¢ 1,451 1991 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (5) 1,36¢ 6,10t — 18¢ 1,36« 6,291 7,65t 82t 2003 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 1,101 — (15%) 51 94¢€ 51 997 — N/A N/A
Richmond 713 — 377 4,751  1,09C 4,751 5,841 97C 1997 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 1,08¢ 4,34t — 48¢ 1,08¢ 4,831 5,917 1,29¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 521 — 1,001 3,36t 1,522 3,36t 4,887 60¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 80€ — (23) 5,96¢ 78 5,96¢ 6,74¢ 1,177 1998 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 2) 1,84¢ — (15€) 9,907 1,68¢ 9,907 11,59¢ 2,17C 1996 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 90¢ — 17¢ 5,66¢ 1,088 5,66¢ 6,75¢ 1,087 2000 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (5) 78€ — 21z 6,11( 99¢ 6,11C 7,10¢ 1,182 1997 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 2) 84t — 19t 6,651 1,04( 6,651 7,691 1,17¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 1,208 4,82¢ — 76E 1,208 5,59( 6,79 1,50¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 2,16 8,65¢ (14 86¢ 2,14¢ 9,52¢ 11,67 2,462 1989 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (5) 1,34¢ — (399 12,44t 951 12,44 13,39¢ 2,498 2002 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 2,067 — — — 2,067 — 2,067 — N/A N/A
Richmond 1,90z — (40t — 1,497 — 1,497 — N/A N/A
Richmond 1,261 — — — 1,261 — 1,261 — N/A N/A
Richmond — — 35€ 15,05:¢ 35€ 15,05¢! 15,40¢ 3,872 1996 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 181 46 20 (46) 201 — 201 — N/A N/A
Richmond (5) 1,91¢ — 337 13,85: 2,25t 13,85: 16,107 27z 2005 N/A
Richmond 1,827 — 70 — 1,897 — 1,897 — N/A N/A
Richmond 2,07¢ — (222) — 1,85¢ — 1,85¢ — N/A N/A
Richmond (5) 1,38¢ 11,63( 59 1,16¢ 1,44 12,79¢ 14,24: 2,95¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 1,63¢ — (392 11,81: 1,24C 11,81: 13,05: 2,271 1999 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (5) 1,19¢ — (29¢ 10,40 99t 10,40: 11,39¢ 1,98¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 541 2,16¢ — 83z 541 2,99¢ 3,53¢ 1,03¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 264 1,05¢ — 35 264 1,09: 1,357 28z 1991 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (5) 203 811 — 97 20z 90¢ 1,111 24z 1987 5-40 yrs.



Vantage Place | Richmond (5) 23¢ 931 — 137 23 1,06¢ 1,301 294 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place ! Richmond (5) 23t 94C — 111 235 1,051 1,28¢ 286 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place | Richmond 5) 21¢ 872 — 11z 21¢ 98t  1,20: 265 1988 5-40 yrs.
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Description

Vantage Point
Virginia Mutual
Waterfront Plazi
West Shore
West Shore |
West Shore Il

South Florida
The 1800 Eller Drive
Building

Tampa, FL

380 Park Plac

Anchor Glass

Atrium

Bay Vista Office Cente

Bay Vista Garden

Bay Vista Gardens

Bayshore

Cypress Center

Cypress Center |l

Cypress Center - Land

Cypress Commor

Cypress Wes

Feathersound Corporate
Center Il

FBI Field Office

Cypress Center

Harborview Plazi

Highwoods Preserve

Highwoods Preserve

Highwoods Preserve I

Highwoods Preserve

Highwoods Preserve VI -
Land

Highwoods Preserve Lar

Horizon

LakePointe Il

LakePointe

Lakeside

Lakeside/Parkside Gara

Northside Square Offic

Northside Squar
Office/Retail

One Harbour Plac

Parkside

Pavilion

Pavilion Parking Garag

Registry |

Registry Il

Registry Squar

Sabal Business Cente

Sabal Business Center

Sabal Business Center

Sabal Business Center

Sabal Business Center

Sabal Business Center’

Sabal Business Center \

Sabal Industrial Park Lar
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Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total  Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
City Encumberance  Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets  Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Richmond (5) 1,08¢  4,50C — 57¢ 1,08¢ 5,07¢ 6,167 1,471 1990 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 1,301 6,03¢ — 331 1,301 6,367 7,66¢ 91& 1996 5-40 yrs.
Richmond 588 2,34 — 47: 588 2,82( 3,40t 79C 1988 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (1) 35¢ 1,431 (26) 55 33z 1,48¢ 1,81¢ 366 1995  5-40 yrs.
Richmond 1) 54t 2,181 (56) 22C 48¢ 2,401  2,89( 628 1995 5-40 yrs.
Richmond (1) 961 — 141 3,76: 1,10: 3,76: 4,86¢ 81C 1997  5-40 yrs.
South Florid. — 9,851 — (282) — 9,56¢  9,56¢ 2,38¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,50z — 24C 7,62¢ 1,74z 7,628 9,37( 1,747  N/A N/A
Tampa 1,287 11,31¢ — 757 1,281 12,07% 13,35¢ 2,41¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,36: 9,377 (1,363) (9,379 — — — — 1989  5-40yrs.
Tampa — 93t 5,50¢ 93t 5,50 6,44( 1,28¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 445 4,80¢ 9 88C 43¢ 5,68t 6,12¢ 1,02C 1982  5-40yrs.
Tampa 1,32 7,07 13¢ (42) 1,46z 7,032 8,49¢ 1,28C 1997 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 2,27¢ 11,81: — 237 2,27¢ 12,05¢ 14,33( 2,544 1990 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 3,172 12,76¢ — 91 3,172 12,85¢ 16,027 2,158 1982 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,19¢ 7,61: — 834 1,19¢ 8,447 9,641 1,461 1983 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 3,087 301 (1,072 (301) 2,01f — 2,01 — NA N/A
Tampa 1,211 11,471 — 1,12¢ 1,211 12,60! 13,81« 2,248 1985 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,87 617 5,14¢ 0 89¢ 617 6,047 6,66¢ 1,567 1985 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 2,14¢ 80z 7,461 ©) 82t 80z 8,28t 9,09( 1,757 1986 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 24,90: 4,05¢ — 41F 28,38. 4,46¢ 28,38. 32,85! 77 2005 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 50C 4,192 — 50 50C 4,24: 4,74 88€ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 22,80 3,537 29,94 97C (587) 4,507 29,357 33,86¢ 3,89: 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,61¢ — (627) 25,89: 991 25,89 26,88 5,278 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 27¢€ — (27€) — — — — — 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,63¢ — (1,639 — — — — — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,44( — (559) 24, 71( 881 24,71( 25,59 2,88¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 63¢ — 348 — 982 — 982 — N/A N/A
Tampa 1,80z — 94¢ — 2,751 — 2,751 — N/A N/A
Tampa (6) — 6,257 — 1,747 — 8,00¢ 8,00/ 1,655 1980 5-40 yrs.
Tampa (6) 2,000 15,84¢ 672 9,44: 2,67z 25,29( 27,96 504z 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tampa (6) 2,10¢ 89 0 33,38¢ 2,106 33,47¢ 35,58 7,23¢ 1986  5-40yrs.
Tampa (6) — 7,36¢ — 13z — 7,50z 7,502 1,528 1978 5-40 yrs.
Tampa — — — 3,207 — 3,207 3,207 93 2004 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 59¢  3,62¢ (599 (3629 — — — — 1986  5-40yrs.
Tampa 797 2,828 (797) (2,82 — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 2,01€¢ 25,25: — 3,68( 2,01¢ 28,93. 30,94¢ 3,88¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Tampa (6) — 9,407 — 2,24¢ — 11,65¢! 11,65: 2,19¢ 1979 5-40 yrs.
Tampa (6) — 16,39 — 1,986 — 18,38( 18,38( 4,20; 1982  5-40yrs.
Tampa (6) — — — 560 — 5,600 5,60( 866 1999  5-40yrs.
Tampa 75C 4,25¢  (750) 4,259 — — — — 1985 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 91t 5,194  (91f 5,199 — — — — 1987 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 347 1,96¢  (347) (1,969 — — — — 1988  5-40yrs.
Tampa 37¢ 2,147 (379 2,14 — — — — 1982 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 34 1,95 (34F) (1,959 — — — — 1984  5-40yrs.
Tampa 29z 1,65¢  (292) (1,650 — — — — 1984  5-40yrs.
Tampa 82t 4,68(  (82f 4,68) — — — — 1984 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,03¢ 5,86¢ (1,039 (5,86 — — — — 1988  5-40yrs.
Tampa 1,621 9,19¢ (1,62)) (9,199 — — — — 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tampa 1,531 8,687 (1,531 (8,689 — — — — 1990  5-40yrs.
Tampa 32 — (329) — — — — —  NA N/A
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Cost Capitalized Subsquent to

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Periot
Final Final Life on Which
2005 Beginning Beginning Building & Final Bldg- Total Accumulated Date of  Depreciation is
Description City  Encumberance Land Building Land Improvements Land Final Assets Depr-Final Construction Calculated On
Sabal Lake Building Tamp: 57¢€ 3,271 (57€) (3,27)) — — — — 1986 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Park Plaz Tamp: 61€ 3,491 (61€) (3,49)) — — — — 1987 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Pavilion Tamp: 964 — (9649) — — — — — 1998 5-40 yrs.
Spectrurr Tamp: (6) 1,45¢ 14,50: ©) 2,70¢ 1,45¢ 17,21: 18,66¢ 3,73¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Tower Place Tamps 3,21¢  19,89¢ — 1,64 3,21¢  21,54f  24,76¢ 5,52¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
St. Paul Building Tamp: 1,37¢ 7,81F (1,376 (7,819 — — — — 1988 5-40 yrs.
Watermark 10,14,1 Tamp: 4,79: — (40) 56 4,752 56 4,80¢ 7 N/A N/A
Watermark 11 Tamps 2,23: — 10c 6 2,33¢ 6 2,34z 9 NA N/A
Westshore Squal Tampe 1,12¢ 5,18¢ 0 232 1,12¢ 5,41¢ 6,54¢ 1,127 1976 5-40 yrs.
608,70: 1,880,79. (76,527) 788,74¢ 532,18: 2,669,53! 3,201,721  579,62!

(1) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $939@ first mortgage loa
(2) These assets are pledged as collateral for an88@,900 first mortgage loa
(3) These assets are pledged as collateral for a 1RB@0 first mortgage loa
(4) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $8@3@rst mortgage loal

(5) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $1860Q0 first mortgage loa
(6) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $BB3@Mfirst mortgage loal
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC.

NOTE TO SCHEDULE Il
(In Thousands)

As of December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
A summary of activity for Real estate and accunadatepreciation is as follows

December 31

2005 2004 2003
Real Estate
Balance at beginning of ye 3,529,201 3,782,35. 3,938,72
Additions
Acquisitions, Development and Improvme 152,81( 103,18° 98,90
Cost of real estate sold and reti (480,29f) (356,337 (255,279
Balance at close of year ( 3,201,721 3,529,201 3,782,35:
Accumulated Depreciaitio
Balance at beginning of ye 483,44¢ 535,36 455,66°
Depreciation expens 108,21! 115,60 121,35
Real estate sold and retir (112,039 (67,517 (41,659
Balance at close of year ( 579,62! 583,44¢ 535,36
(@) Reconciliation of total cost to balance sheet capéit December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 (in Thals).
2005 2004 2003
Total per schedule | 3,201,721 3,529,201 3,782,35:
Construction in progress exclusive of land includedchedule I 28,72" 26,43¢ 9,637
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 22,46" 22,40 22,12«
Property held for sal (181,009 (215,909 (76,859
Reclassification adjustment for discontinued operet 3,33( 99z
Total real estate assets at ¢ 3,071,911 3,365,471 3,738,25:

(b) Reconciliation of total Accumulated Depreciatiorblance sheet caption at December 31, 2005, 20@42003 (in Thousand

2005 2004 2003
Total per Schedule | 579,62! 583,44 535,36
Accumulated Depreciatic- furniture, fixtures and equipme 18,17° 16,34 13,92:
Property held for sal (32,97Y (30,129 (6,839
Total accumulated depreciati 564,82 569,66 542,44!
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyidthas duly caused this report to be signedson it
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrizethe City of Raleigh, State of North Carolioa, June 2, 2006.

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC

By: /s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of the Registra
and in the capacity and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl O. Temple Sloan, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors June 2, 20C

O. Temple Sloan, Jr.

/s/ Edward J. Fritsch President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director June 2, 20C

Edward J. Fritsch

/sl Gene H. Anderson Senior Vice President and Director June 2, 20C

Gene H. Anderson

/s/ Thomas W. Adler Director June 2, 20C

Thomas W. Adler

/sl Kay N. Callison Director June 2, 20C
Kay N. Callison
/s/ Lawrence S. Kaplan Director June 2, 20C

Lawrence S. Kaplan

Isl Sherry A. Kellett Director June 2, 20C

Sherry A. Kellett

/sl L. Glenn Orr, Jr. Director June 2, 20C
L. Glenn Orr, Jr.
/s/ F. William Vandiver, Jr. Director June 2, 20C

F. William Vandiver, Jr.

/sl Terry L. Stevens Vice President and Chief Financial Officer June 2, 20C

Terry L. Stevens
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-38838;12117, 333-29759 and 333-55901) pertaining¢o t
Employee Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plansgifibods Properties, Inc. of our report dated RyriZ006, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements and schedules of Highwoods Properties,ihcluded in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) floe year ended December 31, 2005.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLFP

Raleigh, North Carolina
June 2, 2006



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniR®egion Statements No. 333-38878, 333-12117, 3859 and 333-55901 on Form S-8 of (1) our report
dated June 2, 2006 relating to the consolidateahfiral statements and financial statement schedfildgghwoods Properties, Inc., and (2) our reporinternal
control over financial reporting dated June 2, 200Bich report expresses an adverse opinion oeffieetiveness of the Company’s internal controlrove
financial reporting because of material weaknessgg)earing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K afitivoods Properties, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2005.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLF

Raleigh, North Carolin
June 2, 200!



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Properties Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact or éngttate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances wtieeh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cigivs of the Registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15
() for the Registrant and hav

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgiReant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidhig report is being prepare

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitoe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principle

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiaisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regmt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thethaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Registris internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluationernal control over financial reporting, toet
Registrar’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the Regis's Board of Directors (or persons performing thehejant functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weegses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmanhcial information; ani

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that inesvmanagement or other employees who have a si@mifiole in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: June 2, 2006

/s/ EbDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl
President and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Highwoods Properties Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact or éngttate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances wtieeh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cigivs of the Registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15
() for the Registrant and hav

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgiReant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidhig report is being prepare

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitoe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principle

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiaisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regmt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thethaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Registris internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluationernal control over financial reporting, toet
Registrar’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the Regis's Board of Directors (or persons performing thehejant functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weegses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmanhcial information; ani

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that inesvmanagement or other employees who have a si@mifiole in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: June 2, 2006

/s| TERRYL. S TEVENS

Terry L. Steven:
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsgerties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2004 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetdatof (the “Report”), I, Edward J. Fritsch, Presidand Chief Executive Officer of the Companytiber
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&h906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1)  The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
2)  The information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of the Compe

/s/ EbWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl

President and Chief Executive Offic
June 2, 200!




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsgerties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2004 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetdatof (the “Report”), |, Terry L. Stevens, ViceeBident and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2,

1)  The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2)  The information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of the Compe
/s| TERRYL. S TEVENS
Terry L. Steven:

Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
June 2, 200!




